

EFFECT OF DROUGHT STRESS ON PLANT PRODUCTION AND ACCUMULATION OF SECONDARY COMPOUNDS IN SELECTED OCIMUM SPECIES

DOI: 10.54598/005280

Doctoral (Ph.D.) dissertation

SINTAYEHU MUSIE MULUGETA

2024 Budapest, Hungary

DECLARATION

I declare that the thesis titled "Effect of drought stress on herb production and accumulation of secondary compounds in selected *Ocimum* species" is my work and that it has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in any other University.

Doctoral School of Horticultural Sciences

Name: Doctoral School of Horticultural Sciences

Department: Medicinal and Aromatic Plants

Head: Zámboriné dr. Németh Éva Professor, DSc MATE, Institute of Horticultural Sciences

Supervisor: Péter Radácsi

Associate professor, PhD MATE, Institute of Horticultural Sciences, Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants

Approval of the Head of Doctoral School

Approval of the Supervisor(s)

Table	captions	. vi
Figur	e captions	viii
Abbr	eviations	. ix
1. II	NTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	Background and justification	1
1.2.	Statement of the problem	2
1.3.	Research objective	3
2 I	ITERATURE REVIEW	4
<u>-</u> . <u>-</u> 2 1	Taxonomy and distribution	
2.1.	Diversity in <i>Ocimum</i> species	
2.2.	21 Comotio diversity	5
2	2.2. Morphological diversity	5
2	2.3. Chemical diversity	6
2.3.	Biological activity of secondary compounds of Ocimum	12
2	3.1. Antimicrobial activity	12
2	3.2. Insecticidal and nematicidal activities	12
2	3.3. Antioxidant properties	13
2	5.4. Inerapeutic benefits	13
2.4.	Factors influencing drug quality of <i>Ocimum</i> spp	13
2	4.1. Genetic factors	13
2.	4.2. Fruin organ una ontogenic jactors	14
2	4.4. Cultivation practices and harvesting	16
2	4.5. Processing methods	17
2.5.	Drought stress-induced changes in Ocimum	20
2	5.1. Anatomical responses	20
2	5.2. Physiological responses	22
2	5.3. Morphological responses	25
2	5.4. Bio-chemical responses	26
2	5.5. Molecular responses	26
3. N	IATERIALS AND METHODS	29
3.1.	Experimental site description	29
3	1.1. Open field experiment	29
3	1.2. Greenhouse experiment	29
3	1.3. Climatic chamber experiment	30
3.2.	I reatments and plant materials	- 30
3	2.1. Open field variability experiment	30
3. 2	2.2. Open-Jield irrigation experiment	31 22
2 2	2.3. Greennouse experiment	32
5		

Table of Contents

3	.3. Mo	ethods of data measurements	34
	3.3.1.	Physiological parameter determination	34
	3.3.2.	Morphological parameter measurement	36
	3.3.3.	Biochemical parameter measurement	37
3	.4. Sta	atistical analysis	38
4.	RESU	ULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	39
4	.1. Me	orpho-chemical diversity among <i>Ocimum</i> species	39
	4.1.1.	Qualitative morphological traits	39
	4.1.2.	Quantitative morphological traits	41
	4.1.3.	Secondary compound accumulation among Ocimum species	46
4	.2. Dr	ought-induced physiological changes among Ocimum species	52
	4.2.1.	Relative water content	53
	4.2.2.	SPAD value	53
	4.2.3.	Water potential	54
	4.2.4.	Water use efficiency	55
4	.3. Dr	ought-induced morphological changes among <i>Ocimum</i> species	56
	4.3.1.	Plant height and canopy diameter	56
	4.3.2.	Leaf area and stem diameter	58
	4.3.3.	Fresh and dry herb yield	59
	4.3.4.	Glandular hair density	63
4	.4. Bi	ochemical response of <i>Ocimum</i> species under drought	65
	4.4.1.	Essential oil content and essential oil yield	65
	4.4.2.	Essential oil composition	68
	4.4.3.	Total polyphenol and antioxidant capacity	77
4	.5. Dis	scussion	80
	4.5.1.	Diversity in Ocimum	80
	4.5.2.	Drought-induced physiological changes	82
	4.5.3.	Drought-induced morphological changes	83
	4.5.4.	Drought-induced biochemical changes	84
	4.5.5.	Seasonal variation	87
5.	CON	CLUSION	88
6.	NEW	SCIENTIFIC RESULTS	90
SU	MMA	RY	91
RF	FERE	NCES	94
AF	PEND	ICIES	113
Ac	knowle	edgment	115

Table captions

Table 1. Drought stress-related changes on secondary compounds accumulation of Ocimum sp	ecies
Table 2 Metrological data of open field and greenhouse experiments (2020-2022)	27 29
Table 3 Soil media characteristics of each consecutive experiment	2) 30
Table 4. List of species, cultivar name, and origin of hasil accessions	30 31
Table 5 Qualitative trait description of <i>Ocimum</i> species based on LIPOV descriptor	31 30
Table 6. Growth parameters among <i>Ocimum</i> species in two production years	<i>37</i> 41
Table 7 Leaf-related parameters among <i>Ocimum</i> species in 2021 and 2022	 43
Table 8 Variation in reproductive traits among <i>Ocimum</i> species	43 43
Table 9. Riomass production variability within <i>Ocimum</i> species	45 44
Table 10. The essential oil composition of sweet basil cultivars	 49
Table 11 Major essential oil compounds of <i>Ocimum</i> species	رب 50
Table 12 Total poly phenol content and antioxidant canacity of 15 <i>Ocimum</i> genotypes	50 52
Table 13. Effect of water supply on relative water content and chlorophyll content of <i>Ocimum</i>	52
species (greenhouse)	53
Table 14 Effect of water supply on relative water content and chlorophyll content of <i>Ocimum</i>	
species (plant growth chamber)	54
Table 15 Effect of irrigation on plant height and canony diameter of <i>Ocimum</i> species in open	54 field
growing conditions from 2020 to 2022	56
Table 16 Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of <i>Ocimum species</i> unde	20 r
greenhouse	57
Table 17 Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of <i>Ocimum</i> species unde	r
nlant growth chamber conditions	58
Table 18 Effect of water supply on leaf area and stem diameter of <i>Ocimum</i> species under	
greenhouse growing condition in 2020 to 2022	58
Table 19. Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of <i>Ocimum</i> species unde	r
nlant growth chamber conditions	
Table 20. Effect of irrigation on herb production among <i>Ocimum</i> species in 2020 to 2022 (ope	n
field)	60
Table 21. Effect of water supply on herb production of <i>Ocimum</i> species under greenhouse pot	
experiment	61
Table 22. Effect of water supply on biomass production of <i>Ocimum</i> species under plant growth	1
chamber pot experiment	63
Table 23. Effect of irrigation on essential oil production of <i>Ocimum</i> species in open field cond	itions
in 2020 to 2022	66
Table 24. Effect of water supply on essential oil content and essential oil vield of <i>Ocimum</i> spec	cies67
Table 25. Effect of water supply on essential oil-related parameters of <i>Ocimum</i> species under r	olant
growth chamber condition	68
Table 26. Effect of irrigation of essential oil composition of sweet basil cultivars and <i>Ocimum</i>	selloi
under open field experiment.	70
Table 27. Effect of irrigation of essential oil composition of <i>three Ocimum</i> species under open	field
experiment	71
Table 28. Effect of water supply on essential oil composition of O. basilicum 'Genovese' unde	r
greenhouse pot experiment	72

Table 29. The effect of water supply on essential oil composition of $Ocimum \times africanum$ under greenhouse not experiment	r 73
Table 20. Effect of vision symply on essential ail composition of Osimum americanum under	75
greenhouse pot experiment	74
Table 31. Effect of drought stress on essential oil composition of O. basilicum 'Ohře' under pla growth chamber experiment	nt 76
Table 32. Effect of drought stress on essential oil composition of O. americanum under plant growth chamber experiment	77
Table 33. Effect of irrigation on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of <i>Ocimum</i> species over the years under open field experiment	78
Table 34. Effect of water supply on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of <i>Ocimu species</i> under greenhouse pot experiment	m 79
Table 35. Effect of water supply on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of Ocimu species under plant growth chamber experiment	m 79

Figure captions

Figure 1. Worldwide distribution of <i>Ocimum</i>	4
Figure 2. Morphology of Ocimum basilicum	6
Figure 3. SEM micrographs showing the morphology of the types of glandular trichomes on the	
leaves of O. campechianum	7
Figure 4. Major specialized metabolites of monoterpenoid, sesquiterpenoid and phenylpropanoid	
classes reported from the essential oil of various <i>Ocimum</i> species	8
Figure 5. Major phenolic acids in <i>Ocimum</i> species	. 10
Figure 6. Common flavonoids found in Ocimum species.	. 11
Figure 7. Illustrates the response of basil plants under drought stress	.21
Figure 8. Open field experimental set of <i>Ocimum</i> genotypes	31
Figure 9. The five <i>Ocimum</i> genotypes used in the open field experiment	. 32
Figure 10. Overview of the experimental set-up in the greenhouse	33
Figure 11. Experimental set-up under a plant growth chamber	. 33
Figure 12. Soil water content determination by gravimetric method	. 34
Figure 13. Relative water content determination	.35
Figure 14. Spectral absorbance characteristic of chlorophyll (a) and SPAD value reading (b)	.36
Figure 15. Morphology of 15 Ocimum genotypes	.40
Figure 16. Similarity dendrogram showing major clusters among 15 Ocimum genotypes based on	
their morphological characteristics	45
Figure 17. Principal component plot analysis of morphological traits among the 15 Ocimum	
genotypes	.46
Figure 18. Variability in essential oil production of 15 Ocimum genotypes	.47
Figure 19. Similarity dendrogram showing major clusters among 15 Ocimum genotypes based on	
their essential oil composition.	. 51
Figure 20. Principal component plot analysis on the essential oil composition of the 15 basil	
genotypes	51
Figure 21. Effect of water supply on shoot water potential (plant growth chamber)	. 55
Figure 22. Effect of water supply on shoot water use efficiency (plant growth chamber)	. 55
Figure 23. Effect of drought stress on leaf growth of Ocimum species	. 59
Figure 24. Effect of drought stress on the growth of Ocimum species in three consecutive years	
under greenhouse pot experiment	. 62
Figure 25. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of three Ocimum species under	
greenhouse	. 64
Figure 26. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of <i>O. basilicum</i> 'Ohře' and <i>O.</i>	
americanum under plant growth chamber	64
Figure 27. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of Ocimum species under plant growt	th
chamber in 2021	65

Abbreviations

AAE	Ascorbic acid equivalents
AOC	Antioxidant capacity
CD	Canopy diameter
CV	Coefficient of variation
DHW	Dry herb weight
DM	Dry matter
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DW	Dry weight
EOC	Essential oil content
EOY	Essential oil yield
FC	Field capacity
FHW	Fresh herb weight
FRAP	Ferric reducing antioxidant power assay
FW	Fresh weight
GAE	Gallic acid equivalent
GC-MS	Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
GHD	Glandular hair density
HLW	Hundred leaf weight
I	Irrigated
ĪL	Inflorescence length
LA	Leaf area
LAMIOC	Lamiaceae-Ocimum
LL	Leaflength
LRIs	Linear retention indices
LW	Leaf width
MAE	Microwave-assisted extraction
MAP	Medicinal and aromatic plants
MATE	Magyar Agrár- És Élettudományi Egyetem
NI	Non-irrigated
NIF	Number of inflorescences
NPB	Number of primary branches
NPK	Nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium
PH	Plant height
RF	Rainfall
RH	Relative humidity
RT	Retention time
RWC	Relative water content
SPAD	Soil plant analysis development
SPME	Solid phase microextraction
SWC	Soil water capacity
TPC	Total polyphenol content
TPTZ	Tripyridyl-S-Triazine
TSW	Thousand seed weight
TW	Turgid weight
UPOV	Union for the protection of new varieties of plants
UV	Ultra-violet
Wd	Oven dry weight
WP	Water potential
WUEs	Water use efficiency of shoot
Ww	Saturated soil weight
	-

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background and justification

The genus Ocimum L. (basil) belongs to the family Lamiaceae, which are native to the tropical and warm temperate regions of the world, but extensively disseminated worldwide (Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Shasany and Kole, 2018; Maddi et al., 2019). The genus comprises over 60 perennial and annual herbs and shrubs, each with its distinctive traits and features (Paton et al., 1999; Carović-Stanko et al., 2010; Gurav et al., 2022). Along with the above species, there are also many varieties, as well as several related species or hybrids (Shasany and Kole, 2018; Maddi et al., 2019). The most widely grown basil species are O. basilicum L., O. × africanum Lour. (syn. O. × citriodorum Vis), O. americanum L. (syn. O. canum Sims.), O. gratissimum L., O. minimum L., and O. tenuiflorum L. (syn. O. sanctum L.) due to their economical and medicinal importance (Carović-Stanko et al., 2010; Gurav et al., 2022). Basil is known for its considerable genetic diversity, morphological and biochemical variabilities (Nurzynska-Wierdak, 2007; Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Chowdhury et al., 2017; Gurav et al., 2020; Bajomo et al., 2022). Genetic divergence, cytogenetics, and molecular marker studies on Ocimum have provided valuable insights into the diversity and evolution of this genus. These studies have revealed that there is significant genetic variation within and between Ocimum populations and species (Labra et al., 2004; Carović-Stanko et al., 2010; Chowdhury et al., 2017; Singh et al., 2018).

Basils are characterized morphologically by square stems, opposite leaves, brown or black seeds (also known as nutlets), and spikes of flowers. The color, shape, and texture of their flowers and leaves vary by species. The color of flowers can range from white to lavender/purple, and the color of leaves can vary from green to purple. There are also a variety of leaf textures, ranging from smooth and glossy to curled and hairy. In addition, plant height varies by species (Simon *et al.*, 1990; Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Carović-Stanko *et al.*, 2011; Patel *et al.*, 2015a).

The distinctive scents and flavors of the many basil species and cultivars are due to the composition of essential oils. The essential oil is bio-synthesized and stored in a structure called glandular trichomes or essential oil glands found on the leaf, stem, and flower of the *Ocimum* species (Werker *et al.*, 1993; Maurya *et al.*, 2019). Glandular trichomes can be classified into two types, capitate and peltate types, which can be distinguished based on their size and number of secretory cells (Werker *et al.* 1993; Martnez-Natarén *et al.*, 2018). The essential oil yield (EOY) generally ranges from 0.2 to 5.22% depending on the species, source, phenological stage of the plants, and other factors

(Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Simon *et al.*, 1999; Mulugeta and Radácsi, 2022). Many species of the genus contain essential oils based primarily on monoterpene derivatives such as camphor, limonene, thymol, citral, geraniol, and linalool. Other members of the genus, including sweet basil (*O. basilicum*), contain an essential oil based primarily on high proportions of phenolic derivatives, such as eugenol, methyl chavicol (estragole), and methyl cinnamate, often combined with various proportions of linalool (Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Labra *et al.*, 2004). Apart from volatile oil basil herbs are also rich in polyphenols contents ranging from phenolic acids (rosmarinic acid, caffeic acid, caftaric acid, chicoric acid, and others), simple or complex flavonoids to colored anthocyanins (Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Flip, 2017; Bajomo *et al.*, 2022).

The aromatic essential oils and non-volatile compounds of basil species are used in flavor, fragrance, cosmetics, aromatherapy, and pharmaceutical industries and are widely acclaimed for their biological properties that possess antimicrobial activity (Pavithra *et al.*, 2019; Amor *et al.*, 2021), antioxidant properties (Ahmed *et al.*, 2019; Teofilović *et al.*, 2021) and insecticidal effect (Bhavya *et al.*, 2018; Al-Harbi *et al.*, 2021; Naveen *et al.*, 2021). Additionally, *Ocimum* species are known to exhibit multiple therapeutic benefits, including anti-inflammatory properties (Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020; Anusmitha *et al.*, 2022), anticancer activity (Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020; Zhan *et al.*, 2020; Anusmitha *et al.*, 2022), cardiovascular and anti-lipidemic actions (Pandey *et al.*, 2014; Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020), and immunomodulatory and CNS activity (Mediratta *et al.*, 2002; Zhan *et al.*, 2020). Traditionally it is also used as a treatment for cold and cough, mouthwash, diuretic, carminative, appetite stimulant, astringent, and tonic agent (Holm, 1999). Furthermore, it is used in many cultures around the world for its ritual and spiritual properties (Simoons, 1998).

1.2. Statement of the problem

Biomass yield, essential oil production, and essential oil compositions of *Ocimum* species are highly influenced by genetic factors (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2017), ecological conditions (Chang *et al.*, 2005; Figueiredo *et al.*, 2008), agro-techniques (Onofrei *et al.*, 2018; Ciriello *et al.*, 2022) and processing methods (Müller and Heindl, 2006; da Silva *et al.*, 2020). Among the ecological factors, drought stress is often reported to be the most limiting factor (Simon *et al.*, 1992; Bettaieb *et al.*, 2011). Studies conducted in both open field and controlled greenhouse environments have shown that water scarcity leads to reduced plant growth and biomass production in medicinal and aromatic plants (MAP) including basil. However, the impact of drought stress on the accumulation of

secondary compounds in medicinal plants is inconsistent and often contradictory. An intensive review by Selmar and Kleinwächter (2015) revealed that drought stress can lead to an increase in the production of natural products. In contrast, according to Szabó *et al.* (2020) review, the available scientific evidence is not adequate to generalize due to the complex nature of the issue. Thus, the effect of drought stress on the accumulation of secondary compounds in medicinal plants in general and *Ocimum* species, in particular, is complex and can vary depending on the type of compound, different basil species or cultivars, growing conditions (greenhouse or open field), the severity and duration of drought stress. *Ocimum* species are water-intensive plants and little is known about how drought stress affects them. Except for a few sweet basil cultivars, very little is known about how drought stress affects different basil species. In order to understand drought-induced physiological, morphological, and biochemical changes in selected *Ocimum* species, a three-year experiment (2020-22) was conducted in three different growing environments (open fields, greenhouses, and growth chambers).

1.3. Research objective

The main goal of the research was to investigate drought-induced physio-morphological and biochemical changes within *Ocimum* species under different growing conditions.

The specific aims of the studies are:

- i. To detect intra and inter specific morpho-chemical diversity among 15 basil genotypes preserved in the department gene bank under Hungarian (Budapest) growing conditions.
- ii. To investigate how the physiological parameters of specific *Ocimum* species are affected by drought stress in various growing conditions.
- iii. To determine the effect of drought stress on morphological characteristics of selected *Ocimum* species in various growing conditions.
- iv. To examine the effect of drought stress on biochemical characteristics of selected *Ocimum* species.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Taxonomy and distribution

The genus Ocimum L. (tribe Ocimeae, subfamily Nepetoideae, family Lamiaceae) is one of the largest genera in the family and includes several highly valuable medicinal and economically significant herbs and shrubs (Chowdhury et al., 2017). Figure 1 illustrates its global distribution in tropical, subtropical, and warm temperate regions (Kew Royal Botanical Garden, 2022; Paton et al., 1999). There has been taxonomic confusion among basils due to a vague understanding of genetic relationships (Grayer et al., 1996; Paton and Putievsky, 1996; Gupta et al., 2018). It is caused by widespread interspecific hybridization, polyploidy, and aneuploidy, as well as morphologically similar but distinct chemotypes in this genus (Simon et al., 1990). According to World Flora Online (2023), the genus comprises 67 species of perennial and annual herbs and shrubs. Along with the above species, there are also many varieties, as well as several related species or hybrids (Shasany and Kole, 2018; Maddi et al., 2019). The most widely known species with strong aromatic properties are Ocimum basilicum (Sweet basil), Ocimum gratissimum (African basil), Ocimum sanctum (holy basil), and Ocimum americanum (American basil). Scholars suggest that to get better insight into intra- and interspecific taxonomy, a combined analysis of the geographic origin, morphological traits, karyotype, molecular markers, nuclear DNA content, and chemical composition, are paramount (Grayer et al., 1996; Paton and Putievsky, 1996; Putievsky et al., 1999; Libra et al., 2004; Carović-Stanko et al., 2010).



Figure 1. Worldwide distribution of Ocimum (Kew Royal botanical gardens, 2022)

2.2. Diversity in Ocimum species

The genus exists as morphotypes-differing in morphology (Marotti *et al.*, 1996; Verma *et al.*, 2013; Patel *et al.*, 2015a), chemotypes – differing in essential oil composition (Vieira *et al.*, 2006; Verma *et al.*, 2013; Pyne *et al.*, 2018) and genotypes-differing at the DNA level (Labra *et al.*, 2004; Patel *et al.*, 2015b).

2.2.1. Genetic diversity

According to genetic divergence, cytogenetics, and molecular marker studies, Ocimum has a high degree of genetic variability. Singh et al. (2018) observed a wider genetic divergence (D²: 74 -212.97) among 25 Ocimum accessions. There are numerous reports of variations in genome size and chromosome number among Ocimum species, suggesting that chromosomal rearrangements, sequence deletions/amplification, and polyploidization are involved (Carović-Stanko et al., 2010). The base chromosome number for the genus *Ocimum* is x = 8 according to Darlington and Wylie (1955). Whereas Morton (1962) suggested two base numbers $\times = 8$, 12. However, a recent study by Carović-Stanko et al. (2010) suggested $\times = 12$ (O. basilicum clade as tetraploid; O. americanum clade as hexaploids), $\times = 10$ (O. gratissimum), and $\times = 9$ (O. tenuiflorum) as base chromosome numbers. Based on random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis, Chowdhury et al. (2017) evaluated the level of variation in nine genotypes of Ocimum (Purple and green O. tenuiflorum, O. basilicum var. Babu and Marua, O. gratissimum var. Ram and Ajowan, O. × africanum Lour., O. americanum L. and O. kilimandscharicum Guerke). Results indicated the presence of a wide genetic variability among different genotypes. Additionally, amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) analysis also showed genetic variability within nine O. basilicum varieties (Labra et al., 2004).

2.2.2. Morphological diversity

Basil plants exhibit distinctive morphological characteristics that contribute to their identification and classification. This aromatic herb typically possesses square stems, a characteristic feature of plants in the Lamiaceae family to which it belongs. The leaves are opposite, simple, and often have a serrated margin, varying shapes depending on the species or cultivar (Figure 2). *Ocimum* plants are renowned for their aromatic foliage, emitting a pleasant scent when crushed. The flowers of *Ocimum* are arranged in terminal spikes and are bilaterally symmetrical, with vibrant colors ranging from white to shades of pink, purple, or blue. Additionally, the plant often displays glandular trichomes, which contribute to producing essential oils responsible for its distinct fragrance. These morphological traits collectively define the visual identity of *Ocimum* and play a crucial role in its taxonomy and utilization (Simon *et al.*, 1990; Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Carović-Stanko *et al.*, 2011; Patel *et al.*, 2015a).



Figure 2. Morphology of *Ocimum basilicum* -a. Branch with leaves and inflorescences. -b. Flower. - c. Detail of corolla and stamens. -d. Detail of corolla, stamens, and gynoecium. -and. Chalice. -F. Detail of calyx tube and lobes (Source: Martínez-Gordillo *et al.*, 2019)

2.2.3. Chemical diversity

Basil (*Ocimum* species) herbs contain a wide range of secondary compounds, including terpenoids (mono- and sesquiterpenoids), polyphenols (phenolic acids, flavonoids, anthocyanins), tannins, and steroids (Holm, 1999; Dharsono *et al.*, 2022; Romano *et al.*, 2022). In addition, basil seeds contain

planteose, mucilage, polysaccharides, and fixed oil that consists of linoleic acid, linolenic acid, oleic acid as well as unsaturated fatty acids (Holm, 1999).

Essential oil variability

The essential oil of the *Ocimum* species is a complex mixture of odoriferous volatile organic compounds. It is bio-synthesized and stored in a structure called glandular trichomes or essential oil glands found on the leaf, stem, and flower of the *Ocimum* species (Werker *et al.* 1993; Maurya *et al.*, 2019). It comprises secretory cell(s) containing the enzymatic machinery for essential oil biosynthesis and an oil sac for storage. As illustrated in Figure 3, glandular trichomes can be classified into two types, capitate and peltate types, which can be distinguished based on their size and number of secretory cells (Werker *et al.*, 1993; Martnez-Natarén *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 3. SEM micrographs showing the morphology of the types of glandular trichomes on the leaves of *O. campechianum*. A. Peltate and capitate glandular trichomes of *O. campechianum*. B. Fully expanded peltate trichome of *O. campechianum* on the abaxial surface. Scale bars: 10 µm in A - B (Source: Martínez-Natarén *et al.*, 2018)

The essential oil can be obtained from the fresh, semi-dry, or dry aerial plant tissues at the flowering stage by steam distillation or hydro-distillation. The supercritical fluid extraction method is also used to avoid the loss of top notes from the essential oil during the distillation (Occhipinti *et al.*, 2013). The EOY generally ranges from 0.2 to 5.22% depending on the species, source, phenological stage of the plants, and other factors (Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Simon *et al.*, 1999; Mulugeta and Radácsi, 2022). Essential oils are complex natural mixtures containing about 20 - 60 different components in varying concentrations. In contrast to other components present in trace amounts, they are characterized by two or three major components at relatively high concentrations (20% - 70%). Specialized metabolites like monoterpenoids, sesquiterpenoids, and phenylpropanoids majorly constitute essential oil (Pandey *et al.*, 2014). Many species of the genus *Ocimum* contain essential oils based primarily on monoterpene derivatives such as camphor, limonene, thymol,

citral, geraniol, and linalool (Figure 4). Other members of the genus, including sweet basil (*O. basilicum*), contain an essential oil-based primarily on high proportions of phenolic derivatives, such as eugenol, methyl chavicol (estragole), and methyl cinnamate, often combined with various proportions of linalool (Hiltunen and Holm, 1999; Labra *et al.*, 2004). Their analysis and characterization of essential oil are conventionally carried out by gas-chromatography-mass spectrometry and recently with advanced liquid-chromatography-mass spectrometry (Gurav *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 4. Major specialized metabolites of monoterpenoid, sesquiterpenoid and phenylpropanoid classes reported from the essential oil of various *Ocimum* species adopted from Gurav *et al.*, 2022.

The composition of the essential oils in basil has been the subject of many studies since the 1930s (Carovic-Stanko *et al.*, 2010; Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Labra *et al.*, 2004; Gurav *et al.*, 2022).

Ocimum basilicum has been the most widespread and studied species, followed by O. gratissimum, O. tenuiflorum (syn. O. sanctum), O. americanum, and O. kilimandscharicum. According to Lawrence et al. (1988), Ocimum basilicum was classified into four main chemotypes based on their essential oil composition: (1) rich in methyl chavicol (estragole); (2) rich in linalool; (3) rich in methyl eugenol; and (4) rich in methyl cinnamate. However, these days several chemotypes have been identified from O. basilicum, indicating enormous chemodiversity, while others like O. gratissimum and O. tenuiflorum also have different chemotypes (Gurav et al., 2022). The predominately reported chemotypes of O. basilicum are linalool (Telci et al., 2006; Varga et al., 2017; Mulugeta et al., 2024), methyl chavicol (Varga et al., 2017; Bakhtiar et al., 2024; Mulugeta et al., 2024), methyl cinnamate (Telci et al., 2006), citral (Padalia et al., 2017; Yaldiz and Camlica, 2022), methyl eugenol (Telci et al., 2006; Abduche Galvão Pimentel et al., 2023). Additionally, various mixed ratios, such as linalool/methyl chavicol (Rawat et al., 2017; Varga et al., 2017; Raina and Gupta, 2018), linalool/methyl cinnamate (Verma et al., 2013; Varga et al., 2017; Gossa et al., 2023), linalool/trans-α-bergamotene (Varga et al., 2017), linalool/citral (Vieira and Simon, 2006; Araújo Couto et al., 2019), linalool/geraniol (Gossa et al., 2023), linalool/eugenol (Grayer et al., 1996; Carović-Stanko et al., 2011), linalool/1,8-cineole (da Costa et al., 2016), methyl chavicol/methyl eugenol (Grayer et al., 1996) and numerous other mixed ratios, have been documented. Furthermore, uncommon chemotypes like citral/spathulenol (Vieira and Simon 2006), limonene/borneol (Ademiluyi et al., 2016), borneol/bocimene (Farhang et al., 2014), methyl chavicol/citral (Telci et al., 2006), 1,8-cineole /methyl chavicol (Gossa et al., 2023), 1,8-cineole/ßbisabolene (Verma et al., 2013) have also been reported. Further, the existing literature highlighted that the main chemotypes of O. gratissimum include eugenol (Rao et al., 2011; Fuller et al., 2018, Tangpao et al., 2018, Saran et al., 2023), thymol/p-cymene (Carović-Stanko et al., 2011; de Castro et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2019; Mulugeta et al., 2024), eugenol/caryophyllene oxide (Mulugeta et al., 2024), and eugenol/ Z-ocimene (Verma et al., 2013). Whereas the major essential oil chemotypes from O. tenuiflorum are characterized by a large amount of eugenol (Verma et al., 2013; Cedric et al., 2014; Saran et al., 2017; Wongpraneekul et al., 2022), methyl eugenol (Rao et al., 2011; Raina and Misra 2018), ß-bisabolene (Carović-Stanko et al., 2011). Moreover, eugenol/ßcaryophyllene (Mulugeta et al., 2022), eugenol/methyl eugenol (Rana and Blazquez 2015), methyl eugenol/ ß-caryophyllene (Piras et al. 2018), ß-bisabolene/1,8-cineole (Carović-Stanko et al., 2011) and others occur as major chemotypes.

Phenolic profile of Ocimum

Polyphenols are a group of small organic molecules synthesized by plants as secondary metabolites (Quideau *et al.*, 2011). These molecules protect the plants from stresses, such as ultra-violet (UV) radiation, infections, cuts, etc. There are many definitions of polyphenols, but the most widely accepted is that "Compounds exclusively derived from the shikimate/phenylpropanoid and/or the polyketide pathway, featuring more than one phenolic unit and deprived of nitrogen-based functions" (Quideau *et al.*, 2011). Apart from volatile oil basil herbs are also rich in polyphenols contents ranging from phenolic acids (rosmarinic acid, caffeic acid, caftaric acid, chicoric acid, and others), simple or complex flavonoids to colored anthocyanins (Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Bajomo *et al.*, 2022; Dharsono *et al.*, 2022). Although several factors influence it, the total polyphenol content (TPC) of *Ocimum* species ranges between 3.07 to 92.53 mg GAE g⁻¹ DW (Bajomo *et al.*, 2022; Mulugeta and Radácsi, 2022).

Phenolic acids

Phenolic acids are an important group of compounds found in basil that are responsible for their medicinal properties. These compounds have antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, making basil a useful herb. As illustrated in figure 5 below, rosmarinic acid, caffeic acid, caftaric acid, and chicoric acid are widely reported phenolic acids in *Ocimum* (Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Bajomo *et al.*, 2022; Dharsono *et al.*, 2022; Ullah *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 5. Major phenolic acids in Ocimum species

Flavonoids

The *Ocimum* genus contains a wide variety of flavonoids, including luteolin, naringenin, quercetin, rutin, kaempferol, and apigenin as indicated in figure 6. The specific compounds are present, and their concentrations can vary depending on the species and growing conditions. These compounds have been extensively studied for their potential health benefits, including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer properties (Mousavi *et al.*, 2018; Zeljković *et al.*, 2020; Dharsono *et al.*, 2022; Ullah *et al.*, 2022).



Figure 6. Common flavonoids found in Ocimum species.

Anthocyanins

In terms of phytochemicals, anthocyanins have high antioxidant activity and have therapeutic and prophylactic effects on human health (He and Giusti, 2010). These compounds are the sub-class of flavonoids representing the largest group of water-soluble pigments in fruit and vegetables and were correlated with the prevention of diverse human diseases (Miguel, 2011). Compared to other common red fruits and medicinal herbs, basil contains a higher level of anthocyanins (Phippen and Simon, 1998). Purple basil is a very rich natural source of anthocyanins (Phippen and Simon, 1998). Moreover, purple basil contains a peculiar kind of anthocyanins, consisting of cyanidin derivatives characterized by a high degree of acylation with coumaroyl and malonyl acids (Phippen and Simon, 1998; Luna *et al.*, 2015).

2.3. Biological activity of secondary compounds of Ocimum

The aromatic essential oils and non-volatile compounds of basil species are used in flavor, fragrance, cosmetics, aromatherapy, and pharmaceutical industries and are widely acclaimed for their biological properties that possess antimicrobial activity, insecticidal effects, antioxidant properties, and several therapeutic benefits.

2.3.1. Antimicrobial activity

Ocimum species essential oils have been reported to be active against several bacteria (gram - and +), yeasts, and fungi due to their terpenes constituents (Pandey et al., 2014). There is evidence that certain essential oils and plant extracts have antimicrobial properties, some of which are discussed below. The antifungal activity of five Ocimum species *(O.* americanum, O. basilicum var. purpurascens, O. basilicum var. minimum, O. miscanthi, and O. selloi.) essential oils were evaluated against five Candida species by Vieira et al. (2014). Due to the presence of antifungal compounds such as eugenol and anethole, O. micranthum and O. selloi essential oils are active against Candida species. Vidhya et al. (2020) also found that ethyl acetate leaf extract of O. americanum has proved potentially effective in antimicrobial activity against pathogenic organisms. Furthermore, Avetisyan et al. (2017) also reported essential oil of O. × citriodorum, O. basilicum var. purpureum, and O. basilicum var. thyrsiflora had bactericidal properties.

2.3.2. Insecticidal and nematicidal activities

Genus Ocimum is known for its pesticidal properties due to the diverse group of compounds in its essential oil. Basil oil contains bioactive constituents that are insecticidal and repellent (Bhavya et al., 2018; Al-Harbi et al., 2021; Naveen et al., 2021). Manzoor et al. (2011) reported the O. sanctum oil as a toxicant and repellent agent against termite, *Heterotermes indicola*. According to Bhavya et al. (2018), O. tenuiflorum oil had significant fumigant activity against rice weevil (Sitophilus oryzae L.) by inhibiting acetyl cholinesterase activity. Additionally, O. basilicum oil had a repellant effect against Sitophilus oryzae (L.) as stated by Al-Harbi et al. (2021). In addition to insecticidal properties, Ocimum oil had nematicidal activities as indicated below. Basil oil inhibited egg hatching of rice root-knot nematode (Meloidogyne graminicola) with 0% egg hatch at 2000 ppm (Chavan et al., 2019).

2.3.3. Antioxidant properties

Antioxidants are substances that inhibit the oxidation of our cells from toxins such as free radicals. The toxins can be from the natural digestion and metabolism of foods, alcohol, nicotine from cigarette smoke, environmental factors, prescription drugs, preservatives, etc. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) including singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), superoxide ion (O^{2-}), hydroxyl ion (OH⁻), and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) are highly reactive and toxic molecules generated in cells during normal metabolism (Pandey *et al.*, 2014). A study is being conducted in this context to determine whether *Ocimum* species, primarily their essential oils and plant extracts, have antioxidant activity. The aqueous extract of sweet basil exhibited high antioxidant activity as well as hepatoprotective properties (Teofilović *et al.*, 2021). Several authors reported that basil essential oil possesses a strong antioxidant activity (Araújo Couto *et al.*, 2019; Zeljković *et al.*, 2020; Zahran *et al.*, 2020).

2.3.4. Therapeutic benefits

Additionally, *Ocimum* species are known to exhibit multiple therapeutic benefits, including antiinflammatory properties (Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020; Anusmitha *et al.*, 2022), anticancer activity (Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020; Zhan *et al.*, 2020; Anusmitha *et al.*, 2022), cardiovascular and antilipidemic actions (Pandey *et al.*, 2014; Shahrajabian *et al.*, 2020), and immunomodulatory and CNS activity (Mediratta *et al.*, 2002; Zhan *et al.*, 2020). The oil of *O. sanctum* was found to possess significant anti-inflammatory activity against carrageenan and another mediator-induced paw edema in rats (Singh *et al.*, 1996).

2.4. Factors influencing drug quality of *Ocimum* spp.

Biosynthesis, accumulation, and distribution of secondary metabolites are strongly affected by genetic, ontogenic, morphogenetic, and environmental factors and processing methods (Paton and Putievsky, 1996; Bernhardt *et al.*, 2015; Verma and Shukla, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2020).

2.4.1. Genetic factors

As discussed under diversity in *Ocimum* species above (subtopic 2.2), different morphotypes correspond to different morphologies, different chemical compositions (essential oils and polyphenols), and different genotypes corresponding to different DNA sequences and chromosome numbers.

2.4.2. Plant organ and ontogenic factors

The dynamics of the accumulation of essential oil and the changes in its composition during ontogenesis are characteristics of MAP (Németh, 2005). The stage of development of the plant organ (leaf, flower, and fruit ontogeny) can influence the composition of the volatiles (Figueiredo et al., 2008). As stated by Werker et al. (1993) and Maurya et al. (2019), glandular trichomes or essential oil glands are found on the leaf, stem, and flower of the Ocimum species. Chalchat and Özcan (2008) highlighted that EOY and constituents of O. basilicum vary between plant organs (flowers, leaves, and stems). Accordingly, the highest EOY was obtained from the leaves (1% v w-¹) followed by flowers (0.5%), whereas the least was recorded from the stems (0.05%). Similarly, another experiment on O. gratissium by Pino et al. (1996) showed that the leaves (1.6% v w⁻¹) had four times more EOC than the flowers (0.4%). Furthermore, the quantity of individual components differs between the leaf and flower oils. Hence, the amount of thymol (the main constituent of the essential oil) was higher in the flower oil. For Ocimum sanctum, it was shown that the relative amount of eugenol and methyl eugenol decreased with the development of the leaves. The EOC of sweet basil cultivars ('Wala' and 'Kasia') increased with plant development as mentioned by Nurzyńska-Wierdak et al. (2012), and a change was also observed in the essential oil composition of certain compounds. Thounaojam et al. (2020) studied the effect of the growth stage (vegetative, flowering, and seed setting) on the EOC and composition of Ocimum species. They reported that harvesting plants at different growth stages affected the EOC of O. sanctum, O. gratissimum, and O. basilicum and also slightly modified the ratios of eugenol, methyl cinnamate, linalool, and methyl chavicol.

2.4.3. Environmental factors

Essential oil production and that of secondary metabolites in general is extremely dependent on the weather conditions (Chang et al., 2005; Figueiredo et al., 2008). Day length, irradiance, temperature, water supply, and nutrient availability are the major factors (Franz and Novak, 2020). Although basil is cultivated in different climatic and ecological conditions, the most favorable conditions are found in countries with warm climates. Warmth, light and moisture is the basic ecological requirements for basil cultivation. It is commonly known that basil is rather susceptible to frost. There are numerous research results reported

from countries with a temperate climate. To optimize these factors, it is important to carefully monitor and control the growing conditions of basil plants.

Light

Basil is a warm-season herb that thrives best on a long day and sunny conditions. Thus, light intensity, quality, and duration affect basil biomass production and bio-chemical constituents (Sipos *et al.*, 2021). It prefers at least 6 hours of direct sunlight per day, although it can tolerate some partial shade. If grown in a greenhouse or indoor supplemental artificial light is beneficial. Basil can grow under light intensity ranging between 180 and 300 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹, but the optimal radiance is 500 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ (Beaman *et al.*, 2009; Bånkestad and Wik, 2016). Based on the DLI (the amount of photosynthetically active photons received in the photosynthetically active region (PAR) range in a day as a function of light intensity), it has been suggested that the optimal light for basil is 14.4 to 28.8 mol m⁻²d⁻¹ (Beaman *et al.*, 2009; Pennisi *et al.*, 2020). Studies have shown that blue light enhances the EOC, the major oil constituents, total phenol and flavonol content of sweet basil in a controlled growing environment (Amaki *et al.*, 2011; Matysiak and Kowalski, 2019; Sipos *et al.*, 2021). Despite its environmental concern, UV-B is also reported to have a beneficial effect on sweet basil plant growth parameters and biochemical components in greenhouse conditions when applied at optimal doses (Sakalauskaitė *et al.*, 2012).

Temperature

Temperature is one of the important physical factors, which strongly affects the ontology and developmental rate of plants (Mahajan *et al.*, 2020). Basil plants are widely adapted and grow throughout the globe. However, being originated and widely cultivated in the tropics, it is most suitable for warmer temperatures (Holm, 1999; Chang *et al.*, 2005; Tursun and Telci, 2020). The optimum temperature for basil growth is in the range of 25 and 30 °C, while the minimum temperature at which basil can survive is 10.9 °C (Chang *et al.*, 2005; Kumar *et al.*, 2014). Elevated temperature (heat stress) and low temperature (cold stress) cause changes in various physiological, biochemical, and molecular processes (Mahajan *et al.*, 2020). Due to these changes, the production of secondary metabolites is also affected.

Water supply

Basil requires a continuous water supply, and it is intolerant to water stress (both drought and over watering) at all stages of development. In countries with warm climates, irrigation is an absolute precondition of basil cultivation and irrigation systems are an integrated part of the whole

production system (Putievsky and Galambosi, 1999). Extensive trials conducted in both open fields and greenhouses have illustrated the negative impact of drought stress on the production of biomass and the accumulation of secondary compounds, as emphasized in subsection 2.5.

Seasonal variation

The seasonal variation can have a significant effect on the morpho-chemical traits of MAP. Chemical variations due to season are related to a combination of factors such as precipitation, radiation, and temperature (Franz and Novak, 2020). According to a study conducted in western India on five *Ocimum* species (*O. sanctum* 'Purple' and 'Green', *O. basilicum*, *O. gratissimum* L. and Race 1 and 2, *O. viride* and *O. canum*), harvesting season affects morpho-chemical properties. Therefore, the pre-Monson harvest of respective species had higher EOC than post-Monson (Smitha and Tripathy, 2016). Additionally, Rakic and Johnson (2002) found that monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, and phenylpropanoids are affected by the production season of sweet basil cultivars. Growth and EOC variation of *O.* × *africanum* Lour. in summer and winter were evaluated by Jnanesha *et al.* (2018). Furthermore, Jnanesha *et al.* (2018) observed growth and oil content variations in *O.* × *africanum* Lour. during summer and winter. Summer basil plants had maximum growth and EOC.

2.4.4. Cultivation practices and harvesting

Nutrient management

Fertilization, both organic and inorganic, has been identified as an agricultural practice that affects EO biosynthesis, EOC, EOY, and constituents of basil (Burducea *et al.*, 2018; Onofrei *et al.*, 2018; Ciriello *et al.*, 2022). Considering the species requirement, soil characteristics, and growing conditions (open field or container-based cultivation), basil plants benefit from micro- and macronutrient minerals. Shalako *et al.* (2008) evaluated nitrogen (N) and sulfur (S) rates on three sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) varieties in a multi-location trial. According to the results, 50-60 kg ha⁻¹ of N led to the highest biomass, EOY, and essential oil ratios. Although further tuning is necessary, sweet basil varieties had higher EOC and composition with 80 kg ha⁻¹ of sulfur application. Based on Sigaye *et al.* (2021) results, the maximum EOY (202.7 kg ha⁻¹), EOC (0.53%), and herb yield (47.0 tones ha⁻¹) of sweet basil were obtained with 69 kg ha⁻¹ of N and 20 kg ha⁻¹ of P fertilizers applied. Furthermore, 80 kg ha⁻¹ of nitrogen was reported to be optimal for higher biomass and EOY of sweet basil (Alhasan *et al.*, 2020). According to Onofrei *et al.* (2018),

the EOC of sweet basil was significantly enhanced by organic foliar fertilization (Fylo®, Geolino PlantsandFlowers®, Cropmax®, and Fitokondi®) at a rate of 2300 L ha⁻¹ (with three split applications). Basil benefits from supplemental micronutrients in addition to the recommended macronutrient dosage. In line with that, Kanwal *et al.* (2016) demonstrated that the application of 5-6 ppm of copper along with 0.10 ppm of zinc could improve the essential oil and fresh herb yield of *Ocimum sanctum* plants. Furthermore, 95 mg L⁻¹ of zinc increased vegetative growth, linalool concentration, phenolic contents, total flavonol contents, and antioxidant activity of sweet basil (Hanif *et al.*, 2017).

Harvesting

Several factors influence basil harvesting time, including species, ontogenesis (as indicated in section 2.4.2 above), cultivation conditions (open or protected), the intended use (fresh herb or essential oil), geography, multiple harvesting, cultivation practices, and season as stated under 2.4.3 (Gupta, 1996; Rakic and Johnson, 2002; Tsasi *et al.*, 2017). An extensive open-field study by Gupta (1996) examined the effect of harvesting basil genotypes (14 genotypes from 7 species) at various stages of maturity on biomass production, EOY, and composition. The results showed that the maximum biomass yield was obtained during the initiation of seed (180 \pm 2 days) across all genotypes. During the 50% seed set stage (210 \pm 2 days), the oil yield and major constituents of essential oil reach their maximum. According to Nurzyska-Wierdak *et al.* (2012), harvesting *Ocimum basilicum* (cv. 'Kasia' and cv. 'Wala') at fully developed inflorescence is optimal due to higher EOC.

2.4.5. Processing methods

Effect of drying methods

Drying is the most common and fundamental method for post-harvest preservation of MAP and for protecting their biochemical compounds (Müller and Heindl, 2006). In addition to preventing spoilage microorganism growth, drying slows enzyme activity and many moisture-mediated reactions (Garcia-Segovia *et al.*, 2011). In contrast, it can cause some aroma changes, nutrient loss, color changes, and oxidation of products (Hossain *et al.*, 2010; Ozdemir *et al.*, 2017). The drying behavior of medicinal plants is mainly influenced by the conditions of drying air such as temperature, relative humidity, and velocity (Müller and Heindl, 2006). To reach the recommended

moisture level (10-12%), it is essential to dry the material properly. In recent decades, many studies have been conducted on herb-drying, and several new methods have been introduced to the field.

As reported by Hassanpouraghdam *et al.* (2010), different drying methods had significantly different effects on the EOC of *O. basilicum* as follows: shade drying (0.9%) > oven drying at 40°C (0.8%) > sun drying (0.5%) > oven drying at 60°C (0.4%). Essential oil constituents' number and proportional percentage are affected by drying methods as well. On the contrary, Sunita *et al.* (2018) reported that sun drying (26°C \pm 5°C) of *O. americanum* plants had higher EOC than shade (20°C \pm 5°C), and oven (35°C, 45°C, and 55°C) drying methods. Kerekes *et al.* (2019) evaluated vacuum, hot-air, and natural air-drying methods on major volatile oil constituents of sweet basil (*O. basilicum*). They found that the major volatile oils compounds were higher under the vacuum drying method.

Extraction of essential oil

In the literature, several extraction methods have been proposed for basil essential oil, including hydro-distillation, steam distillation, microwave-assisted hydro distillation, solvent-free microwave extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, microwave-generated hydro distillation, and microwave hydro diffusion and gravity (Gurav et al., 2022; da Silva et al., 2020). Due to their economic feasibility and simplicity, steam-distillation and hydro-distillation are the most commonly used methods for extracting essential oil from basil (Shiwakoti et al., 2017). Several studies have shown that EOC and composition can be influenced by extraction methods. In line with that, da Silva et al., (2020) investigated whether extraction methods could be optimized by combining sonication time with ultrasound (0, 8, 19, 31, and 38 min) and hydro distillation (20, 30, 45, 60, and 70 min) along with herb drying temperature (20, 30, 45, 60 and 70°C) of sweet basil. Thus, the longest sonication and hydro distillation times and the lowest herb drying temperature yielded the highest EOY. Additionally, to maximize terpene extraction from Ocimum basilicum, Di Carro et al. (2013) evaluated three extraction methods: steam distillation, ultrasound-assisted extraction, and microwave-assisted extraction (MAE). With MAE, the highest results were obtained in terms of both compound identification and concentration. Furthermore, Charles and Simon (1990) evaluated essential oils extracted by solvent extraction, hydro-distillation, and steam distillation from O. basilicum, O. kilimandscharicum, and O. micranthum. While the yield of essential oil was consistently higher from steam-distillation than hydro-distillation, a similar number of compounds was recovered from both hydro-distillation and steam-distillation. Although the relative

concentrations of the major constituents were similar in both methods, the absolute amounts were higher with steam distillation. Compared to steam extraction, hydro distillation is faster and simpler, and it can be used in places where steam generator is not available.

Storage conditions

The composition of essential oils in basil can be affected by various factors, including storage conditions. Some studies have found that prolonged storage of basil herb or essential oil extracts can lead to changes in the concentrations of certain compounds in the essential oil due to oxidation, polymerization, and rearrangement reactions that are common among terpenoids (Turek and Stintzing, 2012; Rowshan *et al.*, 2013; Turek and Stintzing, 2013). When stored at high temperatures, basil oils can degrade and lose their volatile compounds (Rowshan *et al.*, 2013; Najafian, 2014). This can result in a loss of aroma and biological properties. Similarly, exposure to light can also lead to the breakdown of essential oils (Turek and Stintzing, 2013). Storage duration also affects the composition. Overall, it is important to note that the storage condition can influence the composition of the essential oils in a cool, dark, and dry place, with minimal air flow, to maintain their composition and potency (Turek and Stintzing, 2012; Rowshan *et al.*, 2013; Najafian, 2014).

Extraction of polyphenols

Extraction is the first step in the chemical isolation and utilization process. This step aims to maximize the content of target compounds in the extract for their further utilization (Filip *et al.*, 2017). To obtain phenolic compounds from plant materials, several methods have been developed to promote extraction efficiency (Złotek *et al.*, 2016; Filip *et al.*, 2017). The extraction efficiency of phenol can be influenced by several factors such as solvent type and concentration, solvent-to-plant material ratio, temperature and pH, extraction time, agitation, particle size, and matrix composition (Złotek *et al.*, 2016; Filip *et al.*, 2020; Alara *et al.*, 2021). To extract phenol compounds from *Ocimum* species, hot water extraction is commonly used. The process involves mixing powdered material with hot water overnight. Then the filtered extract is subjected to a chemical reaction before the absorbance is measured with a spectrophotometer (Singleton and Rossi, 1965; Mulugeta and Radácsi, 2022). Additionally, a phenol extraction of sweet basil using 39% methanol concentration, 90.7 °C extraction temperature, and a 3.15-hour extraction time has been recommended by Do *et al.* (2020).

2.5. Drought stress-induced changes in Ocimum

Stress in plant life is defined as any unfavorable condition or substance that adversely affects plant homeostasis (Lichtenthaler, 1996). Drought stress is further defined as the lack of sufficient amount of moisture required for normal growth and development of plants to complete their life cycle (Farooq *et al.*, 2012). In addition to drought stress synonym terms including water deficiency, water stress, and water deficit are widely reported in the literature (Selmar and Kleinwächter, 2013; Szabó *et al.*, 2020; Oguz *et al.*, 2022). Figure 7 illustrates how drought stress induces changes in the morpho-anatomical, physiological, molecular, and biochemical composition of basil plants. Additionally, the subsequent section discusses the specific responses of *Ocimum* species under the influence of drought stress.

2.5.1. Anatomical responses

Drought stress can have a significant effect on plant anatomy, as it triggers a range of physiological and morphological adaptations in plants (Shao *et al.*, 2008). The specific responses can vary among plant species or cultivars, the severity, the duration of drought, and the leaf surface (upper or lower). For instance, a study on sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum) conducted by Taha et al. (2020) demonstrated that deficit irrigation (at 50% of soil water holding capacity (SWHC)) had adverse effects on the anatomical features of stems and leaves compared to well-irrigation (at 70% of SWHC). As a result of deficit irrigation, there was a significant reduction in the thicknesses (μ m) of the cortex, vascular cylinder, xylem vessels, and pith diameter (µm). The study also found that deficit irrigation led to decreased midvein length and width (µm), a lower number of xylem rows per vascular bundle, and reduced thicknesses of palisade, spongy tissue, and thinner palisade. In another study on basil (Ocimum basilicum L. cv. Marian) grown close to the theoretical wilting point (at 20% volumetric water content), there was a higher frequency of xylem vessels and a smaller mean vessel diameter, promoting water transport during drought conditions (Driesen et al., 2021). Additionally, the proportion of collenchyma area was significantly higher at the theoretical wilting point. A recent study by Driesen et al. (2023) revealed that leaves developed under waterdeficit conditions exhibited higher stomatal densities and reduced stomatal length on both the adaxial and abaxial leaf sides of two basil cultivars, namely O. basilicum L. cv. Gustosa and O. basilicum L. cv. Marian. Furthermore, Hazzoumi et al. (2017) documented that O. gratissimum L. cultivated under drought stress (withheld water for two weeks) underwent ultrastructural changes in

glandular hair trichomes. Consequently, drought stress led to a decrease in the extracellular cavity diameter of glandular trichomes and their deflation.



Figure 7. Illustrates the response of basil plants under drought stress. RWC: relative water content; WP: water potential: WUE: water use efficiency; ROS: reactive oxygen species, EOC: essential oil content; EOY: essential oil yield; TPC: total polyphenol content; AOC: antioxidant capacities; TFC: total flavonoid content; ABA: abscisic acid; GABA: LEA: late embryogenesis abundant; AQP: Plant aquaporin (Sources: Shao *et al.*, 2008; Oguz *et al.*, 2022).

2.5.2. Physiological responses

Drought stress significantly influences the physiological attributes of plants, leading to notable changes in key parameters. Under drought stress, plants in general and medicinal and aromatic plants in particular often exhibit an increase in proline accumulation, a common osmolyte associated with stress tolerance (Kordi *et al.*, 2013; Damalas, 2019; Al-Huqail *et al.* 2020). Simultaneously, the elevation of malondialdehyde levels, indicative of lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress, is observed (Inotai *et al.* 2012; Weng *et al.*, 2015; Al-Huqail *et al.*, 2020). The relative water content, a crucial indicator of plant hydration status, tends to decrease, accompanied by reductions in water potential (Mulugeta *et al.*, 2023). Stomatal conductance, responsible for water vapor exchange, generally declines as a water-saving mechanism (Clauw *et al.*, 2015; Nemeskeri *et al.*, 2015; Driesen *et al.*, 2023). Electrolyte leakage, a measure of cell membrane integrity, may increase under drought conditions, reflecting cellular damage (Kordi *et al.*, 2013; Agami *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, photosynthesis, a vital process for plant growth, is adversely affected, with reduced rates observed due to limited water availability. These physiological responses collectively illustrate the adaptive strategies and stress-induced alterations in plants. The specific repnses of *Ocimum* taxa are elaborated below.

Proline accumulation: It serves as the initial response in plants subjected to drought stress, acting as a protective measure against cell damage. Increasing drought stress induces a substantial buildup of proline in water-stressed plants, as demonstrated by Delauney and Verma (1993). Notably, studies have shown that as the available water decreases, the proline content in the leaves of purple basil increased by 66% (Alishah *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, Al-Huqail *et al.* (2020) observed a 20-fold and 36-fold increase in proline accumulation in sweet basil subjected to drought stress for 14 and 21 days, respectively. Various investigations on sweet basil, including those by Baeck and Park (2001), Khalid (2006), Khalil *et al.* (2010), Kordi *et al.* (2013), and Damalas (2019), reported substantial increases ranging from 38% to 288% in proline concentration under drought stress conditions. Beyond sweet basil, *O. americanum* exhibited a 48% higher proline level when treated with 50% field capacity (FC) (Khalid, 2006). Additionally, Rasouli and Fakheri (2016) noted a 50% increase in proline accumulation in *O. basilicum* and *O. americanum* treated with 40% FC of drought stress. Furthermore, Hazzoumi *et al.* (2015) observed heightened proline accumulation in *O. gratissimum* under drought stress. This pattern of increased proline accumulation under drought conditions

2008), *Thymus vulgaris* L. (Babaee *et al.*, 2010), *Mentha piperita* and *Catharanthus roseus* as reported by Alhaithloul *et al.* (2020). Consequently, the rate of proline accumulation tends to rise under drought conditions in medicinal and aromatic plants in general, with specific emphasis on *Ocimum* species.

Malondialdehyde (MDA): which is considered a reliable marker of oxidative stress and is a product of membrane lipid peroxidation by thiobarbituric acid reaction; thus, higher MDA contents should correspond to a higher degree of oxidative stress and reflect the degree of damage at adverse conditions (Weng *et al.*, 2015, Al-Huqail *et al.*, 2020). Sweet basil subjected to more severe drought stress (30% Soil Water Content/SWC/) exhibited elevated concentrations of MDA, measuring 1.52, 1.5, and 1.49 times higher than control plants, as reported by Baeck and Park (2001), Radácsi *et al.* (2010), and Inotai *et al.* (2012), respectively. MDA levels increased across all drought stress treatments in sweet basil plants, according to Al-Huqail *et al.* (2020). Similar studies on other medicinal plants demonstrated notable cell damage in plants exposed to severe stress conditions. For instance, *Thymus daenensis* Čelak plants subjected to drought stress treatments exhibited a 64% increase in MDA content in 2014 and a 58% increase in 2015 (Bistgani *et al.*, 2017).

Electrolyte leakage (EL): EL is an index, which can quantify the damage conceived by plant cell membrane. Its relative conductivity can be used to evaluate the damage on structure and function of cell membranes under stresses (Kordi *et al.*, 2013). An experiment conducted by Kordi *et al.* (2013) in Iran showed that, when sweet basils are grown under 30% Field Capacity (FC), the electrolyte leakage increased by 27% compared to the control. Agami *et al.* (2016) also stated higher percentage of EI when sweet basils are grown under 60% drought stress. On the contrary, Beack and Park (2001) reported 65% lower EI in sweet basils grown under drought treatment.

Chlorophyll content: It is a crucial physiological characteristic closely linked to the photosynthetic efficiency of plants, is subject to regulation by various environmental factors, with drought being one such factor (Li *et al.*, 2018; Morales *et al.*, 2020). Drought exerts an impact on the photosynthetic activity of leaves, altering chlorophyll a fluorescence kinetics (Strasser *et al.*, 1995). As soil moisture decreases, the levels of total chlorophyll (Chl-a+b), chlorophyll a (Chl-a), and chlorophyll b (Chl-b) in leaves decrease, with maximum concentrations observed at 100% field capacity (FC) (Alshah *et al.*, 2006; Kordi *et al.*, 2013). Khalil *et al.* (2010) conducted a study on sweet basil, noting a significant increase in photosynthetic pigments, including Chl-a, Chl-b, and total Chl (a+b), as well as carotenoids, with an increase in soil moisture content. A 40% FC led to a

notable decrease of 23.9% in Chl-a concentration and 15.8% in Chl-b concentration compared to non-stressed plants, as reported by Damalas (2019). Hazzaumi *et al.* (2015) similarly observed a reduction in Chl-a pigments under water stress in *O. gratissimum*. Consequently, the production of chlorophyll a and b decreased, accompanied by changes in their ratios. Earlier reports documented a significant reduction in chlorophyll content in sweet basil (Hasani and Beygi, 2012), *Thymus citriodorus* (Tátrai *et al.*, 2016) and chickpea (Mafakheri *et al.*, 2010). This decline in chlorophyll content may be attributed to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as O_2 - and H_2O_2 , leading to lipid peroxidation, protein complex imbalance, and increased activity of chlorophyll-degrading enzymes and chlorophyllase, contributing to chlorophyll breakdown under stress conditions (Foyer *et al.*, 1994; Blank *et al.*, 2004; Xiao *et al.*, 2008).

Relative Water Content (RWC): Evaluating the water status of plants is a crucial physiological measure in response to drought stress, and one key indicator of this is RWC (Kordi *et al.*, 2013). Previous findings highlighted the significant changes in the RWC of sweet basil in response to varying water availability. For instance, Damalas (2019) documented a notable 29.2% decrease in the RWC of sweet basil subjected to water deficit conditions (40% FC). Radácsi *et al.* (2010) similarly observed that the drier the soil (30% Soil Water Content (SWC)), the lower the RWC (77.4%) of sweet basil leaves, while saturated soil (70% SWC) resulted in higher RWC values (96%). Additionally, studies by Kordi *et al.* (2013) and Agami *et al.* (2016) indicated a reduction in RWC in sweet basil under drought stress compared to non-stress conditions. The decline in leaf RWC due to drought stress is associated with decreased soil humidity, leading to stomatal closure to prevent excessive water loss. Stomatal closure is prompted by the presence of Abscisic acid, produced in the roots under drought stress conditions and accumulated in stomatal cells (Chaves *et al.*, 2002).

Stomatal conductance: Which refers to the measurement of the rate at which carbon dioxide enters or water vapor exits through a leaf's stomata. It plays a crucial role in regulating the water balance of plants by reducing transpiration. Stomatal closure not only reduced transpiration but also hinders cell expansion and growth rates, resulting in a significant reduction in biomass and yield (Nemeskeri *et al.*, 2015; Rauf *et al.*, 2015). Several scholars noted that the initial response of most plants to severe drought is the closure of their stomata, a mechanism employed to prevent water loss through transpiration (Berry *et al.*, 2010; Casson and Hetherington, 2010; Brodribb and McAdam, 2011; Torres-Ruiz *et al.*, 2013; Clauw *et al.*, 2015; Nemeskeri *et al.*, 2015). Studies conducted by

dos Santos *et al.* (2016) on O. × *africanum* Lour. and Driesen *et al.* (2023) O. *basilicum* demonstrated decreased stomatal conductance under water deficit conditions, accompanied by a decline in water potential.

Photosynthesis is notably sensitive to the effect of water deficiency. The plant's response to water scarcity leads to metabolic alterations and structural rearrangements within the photosynthetic apparatus. In higher plants, the photosynthesis rate decreases in correlation with reductions in RWC and leaf water potential. A reduced photosynthesis rate is a common outcome of water stress, primarily attributed to stomatal limitation and, metabolic impairments. *Ocimum* × *africanum* Lour. exhibited a reduction in net photosynthetic rate under water deficit conditions (dos Santos *et al.*, 2016). This response is linked to partial stomatal closure, influencing the photosynthetic process (Akinci and Lösel, 2012; Lisar *et al.*, 2012; dos Santos *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, water-stressed plants experience substantial inhibition of photosynthesis due to stomatal closure, restricting CO_2 diffusion to chloroplasts, lowering internal CO_2 concentration (Cornic, 2000), and diminishing enzyme activity such as RubisCO (Li *et al.*, 2018; Morales *et al.*, 2020).

2.5.3. Morphological responses

Plant growth is adversely affected by water stress, a phenomenon that has been extensively studied and well documented. The growth and development of plants are dependent on the division, elongation, and differentiation of cells. Due to drought conditions, these phases are affected by the loss of turgor, disordered enzyme activities, and a decrease in photosynthesis (Bhargava and Sawant, 2013; Osakabe *et al.*, 2014; dos Santos *et al.*, 2016; Abid *et al.*, 2018). A recent study by Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022) who reported severe drought stress (30% SWC) resulted in over 50% losses in dry and fresh biomass yield of three *Ocimum* species: *O. basilicum* 'Genovese', *O.* × *africanum*, and *O. americanum*. Although the intensities of drought stresses are different, several authors also showed the negative impact of drought stress on biomass production of *O. basilicum* cultivars (Radácsi *et al.*, 2020; Mulugeta *et al.*, 2023), *O.* × *africanum* Lour. (dos Santos *et al.*, 2016) as well as *O. americanum* (Khalid, 2006; Mulugeta *et al.*, 2023). Furthermore, Németh *et al.* (2016) reported that lower soil water content (40% SWC) resulted in significantly lower biomass production in four Lamiaceae species: lemon balm, thyme, peppermint, and marjoram.

2.5.4. Bio-chemical responses

The accumulation of secondary compounds or biochemical attributes during drought stress presents a multifaceted phenomenon marked by conflicting outcomes. On one hand, research has demonstrated that basil plants exposed to drought stress led to an increase in the concentration of essential oil percentage, major essential oil component ratio, flavonoids, and phenolic acids (Simon *et al.*, 1992; Luna *et al.*, 2015; dos Santos *et al.*, 2016; Mandoulakani *et al.*, 2017; Pirbalouti *et al.*, 2017a; Mota *et al.*, 2020; Radácsi *et al.*, 2020). This increase in secondary compounds can vary from a minor percentage (<10%) to a substantial rise (over 2-fold). Conversely, contrasting studies indicate that drought stress might also result in a decrease in the concentration of specific secondary compounds, such as terpenoids and phenylpropanoids (Omidbaigi *et al.*, 2003; Radácsi *et al.*, 2010; Vilanova *et al.*, 2018; Al-Huqail *et al.*, 2020; Mulugeta and Radácsi, 2022). Consequently, the impact of drought stress on secondary compound, basil taxonomy, growth conditions (greenhouse or open field), and the severity and duration of drought stress, as outlined in Table 1.

2.5.5. Molecular responses

Drought stress often leads to changes in the expression of specific genes involved in stress response mechanisms. Plants may upregulate or downregulate the expression of certain genes to cope with stress. These genes play roles in various processes such as water retention, osmotic regulation, antioxidant defense, and the biosynthesis of secondary compounds (Selmar and Kleinwächter, 2015; Yahyazadeh *et al.*, 2018). Mandoulakani *et al.* (2017) found that drought stress increases the content of methyl chavicol and methyl eugenol in sweet basil (*O. basilicum* cv. Keskenylevelű) by enhancing the expression levels of *chavicol O-methyl transferase* and *eugenol O-methyl transferase* genes. Additionally, drought stress induces the upregulation of monoterpene synthase expression in *Salvia officinalis* (Radwan *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, drought stress has been shown to significantly induce the expression of genes related to flavonoid biosynthesis in hybrid poplar plants, leading to an accumulation of phenolic and flavonoid compounds (Ahmed *et al.*, 2021).

Species /Cultivars	Country	Active compound	Effect reported	Drought stress level	References
Ocimum basilicum					
'Genovese'	Hungary	Essential oil	Decreased (39%)	30% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi
		percentage			(2022)
Keskenylevelű'	Iran		Decreased (12%)	55% FC	Omidbaigi et al. (2003)
	USA		Increased (200%)	-1.12 Mpa	Simon <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Purple type	Turkey		Increased (16%)	50% FC	Ekren <i>et al</i> . (2012)
'Genovese'	Hungary	Essential oil yield	Decreased (69%)	30% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi
					(2022)
	Egypt		Increased (83.7%)	50% FC	Khalid (2006)
	USA	Linalool	Decreased (37%)	-1.12 Mpa	Simon <i>et al.</i> (1992)
'Genovese'	Hungary		Decreased (26%)	30% SWC	Radácsi et al. (2010)
'Keskenylevelű'	Iran		Dreased (61%)	55% FC	Omidbaigi et al. (2003)
'Keskenylevelű'	Iran		No change	50% FC	Mandoulakani et al. (2017)
'Genovese Gigante'	Spain		Increased (48%)	60% FC	Mota <i>et al</i> . (2020)
'Kasia'	Hungary		Increased (44%)	Non-irrigated	Radácsi et al. (2020)
Keskenylevelű'	Iran	1,8-cineole	Increased (4.5fold)	55% FC	Omidbaigi et al. (2003)
Keskenylevelű'	Iran	Methyl eugenol	Increased (2.4-fold)	50% FC	Mandoulakani et al. (2017)
Keskenylevelű'	Iran	Methyl chavicol	Increased (8-fold)	50% FC	Mandoulakani et al. (2017)
Purple basil	Iran	Anthocyanin	Increased	50% FC	Alishah <i>et al.</i> (2006)
Purple Iranian basil	Spain		No change	50% FC	Luna <i>et al.</i> (2015)
	Suadi	Flavonoid content	Decreased (41%)	21 days of drought	Al-Huqail <i>et al.</i> (2020)
	Arabia				
Omani basil	Oman		Increased	125 mL day ⁻¹	Khan <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Landrace 1	Iran	Phenolics content	Increased (62%)	30% FC	Pirbalouti et al. (2017a)
Landrace 2	Iran		Increased (42%)	30% FC	Pirbalouti et al. (2017a)
Omani basil	Oman		Increased	125 mL day ⁻¹	Khan <i>et al.</i> (2012)
	Suadi		Increased (56%)	21 days of drought	Al-Huqail et al. (2020)
	Arabia				
Purple Iranian basil	Spain	Phenolic acids	Increased	50% FC	Luna <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Purple Iranian basil	Spain	Chicoric acid	Increased (45%)	50% FC	Luna et al. (2015)
Ocimum	Egypt	Essential oil	Increased	50% SWC	Khalid (2006)
americanum	Iran	percentage	Increased	40% FC	Rasouli and Fakheri (2016)
	Hungary		Decreased	30% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi

Table 1. Drought stress-related changes on secondary compounds accumulation of Ocimum species
					(2022)
	Hungary Egypt	Linalool	No change Increased	Non-irrigated 50% FC	Mulugeta <i>et al</i> . (2022) Khalid (2006)
	Hungary	Phenolic content		Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Ocimum ×	Brazil	Essential oil	Increased (26%)	-1.9 Mpa	dos Santos et al. (2016)
africanum	Hungary	content	Increased (11%)	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
	Hungary		No change	30% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022)
	Hungary	Essential oil yield	Huge loss (47%)	30% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022)
	Brazil		Huge loss (81%)	-1.9 Mpa	dos Santos <i>et al</i> . (2016)
	Hungary	1,8-cineole	Increased (30%)	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
	Hungary		Increased (40%)	50% SWC	Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022)
Ocimum	Brazil	Essential oil	Decreased	60% FC	Vilanova <i>et al.</i> (2018)
gratissimum	Nigeria	percentage		400 mL 5 day ⁻¹	Omobolanle et al. (2013)
	Morocco		No change	Deprived of water for 2 weeks	Hazzoumi et al. (2015)
	Morocco	Phenolic content	Increased (90%)	Deprived of water for 2 weeks	Hazzoumi et al. (2015)
Ocimum selloi	Hungary	Essentail oil content	Increased (42%)	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
	Hungary	Essential oil yield	No change	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta <i>et al</i> . (2022)
	Hungary	Phenolic content	No change	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
	Hungary	Methyl eugenol	Increased (40%)	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Ocimum sanctum				-	
Purple type	Hungary	Essentail oil content	No change	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Purple type	Hungary	Essential oil yield	No change	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Purple type		Eugenol	Increased (17%)	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Purple type	Hungary	Phenolic content	No change	Non-irrigated	Mulugeta et al. (2022)
Ocimum ciliatum	Iranina type	Phenolic content	Increased (60%)	30% FC	Pirbalouti et al. (2017b)

SWC: - soil water content, FC: - Field capacity N.B. The percentage or folds in the bracket are compared against the control treatment of respective studies.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Experimental site description

For three consecutive years, the experiments were conducted under three different growing conditions (open field, greenhouse, and climatic chamber). Below is a detailed description of each experimental site.

3.1.1. Open field experiment

Over the 2020 - 2022 academic years, a drought experiment was carried out for three consecutive years. Another experiment was also conducted to determine the morpho-chemical variability of *Ocimum* species over the course of two years in parallel with the drought experiment. The experiments were conducted at the Soroksár Experimental and Research Farm of the Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences (MATE). Tables 2 and 3 summarize the monthly average of the daily air temperatures (°C), relative humidity (%), rainfall (mm), and soil media characteristics during the experiment.

3.1.2. Greenhouse experiment

The second trial, a pot experiment, was carried out under a semi-controlled greenhouse in the experimental field of MATE, Budapest-Soroksár (Hungary) from 2020 to 2022. The weather conditions and the properties of the growing soil media are summarized in Tables 2 and 3.

Year	Months		Open field		Greenho	ouse
		Temperature	RH (%)	RF (mm)	Temperature	RH (%)
		(°C)			(°C)	
2020	June	20.1	77.4	96.0	-	-
	July	21.0	74.0	67.4	26.5	-
	August	22.3	72.6	60.0	24.6	-
	September	17.0	75.3	27.2	24.6	-
2021	June	24.3	60.0	7.4	25.3	61.0
	July	23.9	66.0	71.0	24.9	65.0
	August	20.0	74.5	68.4	22.0	70.5
	September	16.0	75.3	33.2	-	-
2022	June	20.0	62.7	73.4	28.4	56.0
	July	23.5	51.6	27.0	26.7	40.0
	August	23.6	63.4	38.2	27.6	52.0
	September	15.2	79.7	123.8	-	-

Table 2. Metrological data of open field and greenhouse experiments (2020-2022)

RH: relative humidity, RF: Rainfall

Characteristics		Open fie	ld		Greenhou	se	Growth chamber		
	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022	2021	2022	
pH (H ₂ O)	8.6	8.0	7.6	7.2	6.8	6.6	5.5	6.8	
Humus (%)	2.0	1.7	1.7	2.8	6.9	5.3	8.2	6.2	
K _A	<30.0	26.0	<25.0	-	>60.0	46.0	-	-	
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1.6	11.9	11.4	39.2	137.9	181.8	1401.5	300.4	
(mg/kg)									
P_2O_5 (mg/kg)	95.5	473.9	544.4	154.0	526.6	642.8	875.6	565.5	
K ₂ O (mg/kg)	165.0	377.3	177.4	193.0	492.2	388.5	3357.4	1610.7	
Mg (mg/kg)	52.9	146.9	377.9	67.7	377.0	717.4	829.1	631.6	
Na (mg/kg)	-	45.8	30.1	-	54.3	50.9	253.1	625.1	
Fe (mg/kg)	8.2	-	-	43.1	-	-	-	-	
Mn (mg/kg)	11.9	22.1	58.5	26.8	31.4	48.0	54.7	34.8	
Zn (mg/kg)	19.7	2.1	4.9	40.6	7.8	6.1	12.4	9.3	
Cu (mg/kg)	1.8	1.9	2.5	1.5	2.1	1.8	14.0	2.4	
SO ₄ (mg/kg)	-	24.8	71.6	-	92.5	150.5	3283.9	11179.6	

Table 3. Soil media characteristics of each consecutive experiment

3.1.3. Climatic chamber experiment

The third pot experiment was conducted in two different climatic chambers (Weiss-Gallenkamp Technik, Type: SGC-120 Fitotron) for two consecutive years (2021 and 2022) at the MATE Buda campus. Based on previous experience of the department, the climatic chambers were programed as follows: 14 hours a day/10 h night cycle, (light intensity: 14500 lux; fluorescent lamp (4200K) and incandescent lamp (2700K) temperature program: 25 °C Day/17 °C night and relative humidity 65%.

3.2. Treatments and plant materials

3.2.1. Open field variability experiment

In the experiment, 15 basil genotypes belonging to five *Ocimum* species were tested, of which nine were *O. basilicum* cultivars (Table 4 and Figure 8). Seeds were obtained from the gene bank of the Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants (MATE) and other sources, as shown in Table 4. The seeds were sown in seed trays $(27 \times 57 \times 7 \text{ cm})$ in a greenhouse in the second week of March. Healthy seedlings that had developed two leaves were transplanted in the open field at a spacing of 40×40 cm in 4 rows with 6 plants per row. These plants were replicated twice in a randomized complete block design arrangement. We irrigated the plants three times per week and cultivated them once a week, without using chemical fertilizers or protection chemicals. Harvesting took place 10 days after full bloom, and fresh herb samples were dried for two weeks in a well-ventilated room.

Accession No.	Species	Cultivar /common name	Origin
LAMIOCI20	O. basilicum	Dark opal	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI38	O. basilicum	Thai basil	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI43	O. basilicum	Cinnamon	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI13	O. basilicum	Genovese	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI51	O. basilicum	Turkish basil	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI52	O. basilicum	Adi F1	Jelitto seed cataloge (Germany)
LAMIOCI53	O. basilicum	Sweet Aroma	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI19	O. basilicum	M. Grünes	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI41	O. basilicum	Ohře	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI54	O. sanctum	Green holy basil	Denmark
LAMIOCI56	O. sanctum	Purple holy basil	India
LAMIOCI57	O. americanum	Lime	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI58	O. americanum	Togo basil	Togo
LAMIOCI59	0. × africanum	Hoary basil	Department gene bank
LAMIOCI48	O. minimum	Törpe	Department gene bank

Table 4. List of species, cultivar name, and origin of basil accessions

LAMIOCI: Lamiaceae-Ocimum; M. Grünes :Mittelgroßblättriger Grünes



Figure 8. Open field experimental set of Ocimum genotypes (Photo: Mulugeta, 2022)

3.2.2. Open-field irrigation experiment

In this experiment, we used a two-factor randomized design with two block replications. As five illustrated in Figure 9. basil species namely *O*. basilicum 'Ohře', О. basilicum 'Genovese', O. × africanum, O. americanum, O. sanctum (purple type), and O. selloi (only in 2020) and two levels of water supply (irrigated as control and non-irrigated as a drought stress treatment) were used. All seeds of Ocimum species were obtained from the gene bank of the Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants, except O. sanctum, which was obtained from Assam state in India. Seeds were sown in seed trays ($27 \times 57 \times 7$ cm) in the greenhouse in March. Seedlings that had developed two leaves were transplanted into 0.1 L pots. Then in early June, seedlings were transplanted to an open field at a spacing of 40×40 cm. In each plot, there were 24 plants in four rows and six plants per row. Drought treatment

was initiated two weeks after transplanting and lasted for 30 days on average. Using a spraying hose connected to a water meter device, 20 mm of water was applied two times per week to the irrigated treatments (the quantity of water applied was based on the department's cultivation practices). In contrast, the drought treatment only received natural precipitation, which varies in each production year as shown in Table 2. Plant protection chemicals and fertilizer were not applied except in the first year where each plot received 8 g of complex fertilizer (Hunfert NPK 15-15-15), 10 days after transplanting. Weeding and cultivation were done twice a month. Basil plants were harvested during the full flowering stage.



Figure 9. The five *Ocimum* genotypes used in the open field experiment (a: *O. basilicum* 'Genovese', b: *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', c: *O. × africanum*, d: *O. americanum*, e: *O. sanctum* (purple type) (Photo: Mulugeta, 2020)

3.2.3. Greenhouse experiment

Experimental treatment consisted of three widely cultivated *Ocimum* species namely *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' *O.* × *africanum* and *O. americanum*, evaluated under three soil water capacities i.e., 70% (control), 50% (moderate drought stress), and 30% (severe drought stress). The seeds were selected from the Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants' gene bank of MATE. During the second week of March, seeds were sown in seed trays with dimensions of $27 \times 57 \times 7$ cm. Two weeks after germination, seedlings were transferred to cell trays. After developing three leaves, healthy and strong seedlings were transplanted into 12 L pots (one plant per pot). A 5 kg of sandy loam soil and peat moss mixture with 1:1 v/v was used to fill the 12 L pots. Figure 10 shows a greenhouse pot experiment setup. The drought stress treatment was initiated 10 days after transplanting and lasted for 40 days afterward. Soil water capacity (SWC) was determined using the modified gravimetric method of Reynolds (1970) based on the water-holding capacity of the soil. SWC of respective treatments was maintained three times per week. Pots were kept under the greenhouse to exclude natural precipitation. A two-week cycle of weeding and cultivation was followed. Following the department's cultivation practices, the soil media mixture contains an adequate amount of nutrients. In addition, no diseases or insect

infestations were observed. Harvesting of basil plants took place two weeks after their flowering, at a height of three cm above the soil.



Figure 10. Overview of the experimental set-up in the greenhouse (Photo: Mulugeta, 2021)

3.2.4. Growth chamber experiment

The growth chamber experiment was carried out for two consecutive years using a completely randomized block design in two replicates (Figure 11). Experimental treatment consisted of two *Ocimum* species: *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum*, evaluated under three soil water capacities i.e., 70%, 50%, and 30%. The SWC was determined using the modified gravimetric method as indicated in sub-section 3.2.3. Seeds were obtained from the gene bank of the department. Seeds were sown in the middle of February on a flat seed tray in the climatic chamber. After three weeks seedlings that developed two leaves were transferred to a cell tray (0.1 L). Then 10 days later seedlings were translated into bigger pots (1 L). Each pot was filled with a 500g soil media mixture of compost, peat, and perlite (3:3:1 v/v/v ratio). Drought treatments were imposed on plants after 10 days of transplanting and lasted for 47 days. The soil water capacity of respective treatments was maintained three times per week. Harvesting was done at full bloom. No fertilizer and plant protection chemicals were used.



O. basilicum 'Ohře' *O. americanum* Figure 11. Experimental set-up under a plant growth chamber (Photo: Mulugeta, 2021)

3.3. Methods of data measurements

Soil water capacity determination

Soil water capacity (SWC) was determined using the modified gravimetric method of Reynolds (1970) based on the water-holding capacity of the soil (Figure 12). To perform the procedure, a composite sample weighing 500 g was fully saturated by adding distilled water. The saturated soil samples were then left to drain for 24 hours to remove excess water. Afterward, the saturated soil sample (Ww) was weighed and placed in an oven set at 105 °C for 24 hours, then oven dry weight (Wd) was determined. The SWC (%) was calculated as follows:

$$SWC (\%) = \frac{(Ww - Wd)}{Wd} \times 100$$

SWC of respective treatments was maintained three times per week. Pots were kept under the greenhouse to exclude natural precipitation.



Figure 12. Soil water content determination by gravimetric method: Soil media mixture (a), saturated soil sample in volumetric flask and fennel (b), oven dry soil (c), (Photo: Mulugeta, 2022)

3.3.1. Physiological parameter determination

Relative water content (RWC): Six to twelve fully developed leaves (depending on the species) were randomly sampled from the second and third internode of each plant. As indicated in Figure 13 below, whole leaves were weighed to determine the fresh weight (FW) and then soaked in distilled water for 24 hrs. After that period, excess surface water of leaf parts was removed by paper towels, and turgid weight (TW) was determined. After drying at 105 °C until constant weight, the dry weight (DW) of leaf parts was determined. The RWC was then calculated according to the formula below (Weatherly, 1950, Barrs, 1968):

$$RWC (\%) = \frac{(FW - DW)}{(TW - DW)} \times 100$$



Figure 13. Relative water content determination: Soaked leaves (a), overnight soaked leaf sample (b), oven (c), oven dry leaf sample (d), (Photo: Mulugeta, 2021)

Water potential (WP): The WP of the plants was determined in the leaves of the second and third nodes under the top of the shoots. The measurements were carried out in 3 replications (3 plants) per treatment in the full flowering phase, 2 days after watering, between noon and 2 p.m. in a pressure chamber (SKPM 1405, Skye Instruments Ltd., UK). As a gas N was used (Scholander *et al.*, 1965).

Water use efficiency of the shoot (WUEs): was computed with the equation below as described by Howell (2001), dividing the dry weight of shoots by the total water (irrigation) that each treatment received. The sample pots from which the WUE measurements were recorded were wrapped with a transparent plastic film. Throughout the experiment, the amount of irrigation water applied was consistently monitored. The total irrigation water applied to each treatment was calculated as the cumulative sum of water added during the entire experiment for that specific treatment.

$$WUEs = \frac{Dry \ shoot \ weight \ (g)}{Aplied \ irrigation \ water \ per \ pot \ (L)}$$

Chlorophyll content (SPAD value): chlorophyll content of leaves indicated by the quantification of green color intensity was measured with a handheld SPAD meter (SPAD-502Plus Konica Minolta Inc., Japan). The values are calculated based on the amount of light transmitted by the leaf in two wavelength regions in which the absorbance of chlorophyll is different (Figure 14). The readings were taken at the third internodes from a fully developed leaf before harvesting. To calculate the mean, five plants per treatment (2 leaves per plant and 5 readings per leaf) were taken.



Figure 14. Spectral absorbance characteristic of chlorophyll (a) and SPAD value reading (b), (Photo: Mulugeta, 2021)

3.3.2. Morphological parameter measurement

Qualitative morphological traits: a standard basil descriptor developed by the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV, 2003) was used.

Quantitative morphological traits: Plant height (cm), canopy diameter (cm), root fresh weight (g plant⁻¹), shoot fresh weight (g plant ⁻¹), and shoot dry weights (g plant ⁻¹) (after drying at room temperature in shadow) were measured from five sample plants per treatment at harvesting. Leaf area (cm²) was measured by tracing the leaves over a square paper, and the grids covered by the leaf were counted to give the area. Randomly selected 20 leaves (2 leaves per plant and 10 leaves per treatment) were used to calculate the mean. Furthermore, additional leaf, flower, and seed parameters were taken for the morpho-chemical variability study. For leaf parameters, such as leaf length and leaf width, the mean of 20 leaves per genotype and two leaves per sample plant was calculated. The number of inflorescences was counted from 10 sample plants per genotype. We measured the inflorescence lengths (cm) of 10 plants per genotype and three inflorescences per genotype were weighed.

Glandular hair density: the glandular hair density was measured according to the Radácsi *et al.* (2020) procedure. Samples were taken from the leaf blade at the 3rd internode from the top. Circles of 4.0 mm diameter were cut out from the central part of the leaf blade excluding the main vein. Then the number of glandular peltate hairs on the abaxial surface of these blade samples was counted under a stereomicroscope (type BMS 74959). Twenty replicates per treatment were carried out.

3.3.3. Biochemical parameter measurement

Essential oil content (EOC): Ten sample plants for open field and eight sample plants for greenhouse and climatic chamber experiments were harvested per treatment and dried in well-ventilated rooms in shadow for two weeks. The EOC (mL 100 g⁻¹ of dry mass) was measured in six replications using a bulk sample of dried leaves and inflorescences without the stem. Using a Clevenger-type apparatus, 20 g of dried material from each sample was hydro-distilled in 500 mL of distilled water based on the recommendation of the Hungarian Pharmacopoeia (1986). Following the collection of the oils, traces of water were removed and stored in an airtight vial in the refrigerator for a week at 4 °C before analysis.

Essential oil composition: the essential oil composition was determined by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS). GC analysis was carried out with an Agilent Technologies 6890 N instrument that was equipped with an HP-5MS capillary column (length: 30 m x 0.25 mm, film thickness of 0.25 μ m). The initial temperature during the analysis was 60 °C, then it was raised to 240 °C at a rate of 3 °C min⁻¹ and the final temperature was maintained for 5 minutes. The injector and detector were heated to 250 °C. Helium was used as a carrier gas with a constant flow rate (1 mL min⁻¹), a split ratio of 30:1, and an injection volume of 0.2 μ L (1%, n-hexane). To express the proportions of individual compounds, we used total area percentages. The components were identified using an Agilent Technologies MS 5975 detector (Agilent Technologies, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The energy of ionization was 70 eV. Full scan mass spectra revealed total ion current chromatograms (TIC). The equation of Van Den Dool and Kratz (1963) was used to calculate linear retention indices. Homemade library mass spectra, Adams (2007) and commercial ones (NIST, Wiley) were compared with the linear retention indices (LRIs) and mass spectra. We repeated the SPME and GC samples three times.

Total polyphenol content (TPC): the total amount of phenolic compounds in each extract was determined using the Folin–Ciocalteu method following the procedure of Singleton and Rossi (1965) with slight modifications. Half a gram of dried and powdered plant material was extracted by 50 mL of boiling distilled water and was allowed to stand for 24 hours at room temperature. Then the extracts were filtered and stored in a freezer until the measurements were taken. Forty μ L of the test sample and 460 μ L of distilled water were placed into a test tube and then mixed with 2.5 mL Folin–Ciocalteau's reagent (10 v v⁻¹ %). After 1 min of incubation 2 mL of sodium carbonate (0.7 M) was added. Then the mixture was kept in hot water (50 °C) for

5min, and the absorbance was measured at the wavelength of λ =760 nm with a Thermo Evolution 201 spectrophotometer. Gallic acid (0.3 M) was used as a chemical standard for calibration. The total phenolic content of the samples was expressed in gallic acid equivalent calculated on the dry weight basis of the extract (mg GAE g⁻¹ DW). The measurements were done in 6 replications.

Antioxidant capacity (AOC): the FRAP assay was performed according to the Benzie and Strain (1996) procedure with slight modifications. The same extract mentioned above was used for AOC too. FRAP reagent was prepared that contains sodium acetate buffer (pH 3.6), TPTZ (2, 4, 6-tripiridyl-s-triazine) in HCl and FeCl₃ \cdot 6H₂O solution (20 mmol L⁻¹), in proportion 10:1:1 (v/v/v), respectively. Ten µL of the test sample was added to 1.5 mL of acting FRAP reagent and 40 µL distilled water and absorbance was recorded at 593 nm after 5 minutes using the spectrophotometer above. Blank contained distilled water instead of extract. FRAP values of samples were calculated from the standard curve equation and expressed as mg ascorbic acid equivalent (AAE) g⁻¹ of dry extract.

3.4. Statistical analysis

Data were evaluated using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Shapiro-Wilk's test and Levene's test were used to check the normality of distribution and the homogeneity of variances, respectively. Significant mean differences were examined with t-test and Tukey HSD at P < 5. Hierarchical cluster analysis was performed based on the squared Euclidean distance by the Ward method, and a dendrogram was generated. Principal component analysis was also performed. All statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS 25 except for hierarchical cluster analysis and principal component analysis for which Originpro23b software were employed.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1. Morpho-chemical diversity among Ocimum species

4.1.1. Qualitative morphological traits

Qualitative trait descriptions of the genotypes are shown in Table 5. Considerable variability was observed in growth habit, leaf shape, leaf margin, corolla, and stem color (see Figure 15). All sweet basil cultivars, *O.* × *africanum* (Hoary basil) and *O. americium* (Togo basil) exhibited an upright growth habit, whereas *O. sanctum* (green and purple holy basils), *O. minimum* (Törpe), and *O. americanum* (Lime basil) showed a semi-upright growth habit. The leaf blade shape varies from narrow elliptical to medium ovate, except for 'M. Grünes', which has a broad ovate blade shape. Leaf margin serration ranges from absent ('Turkish', 'Lime', and 'Törpe' basils) to strong in green holy basils and 'Togo basils'. Most genotypes have a white corolla. Holy basil has a violet (light to medium) corolla color. Although the stem color was predominantly green, a few genotypes, including 'Dark opal', 'Thai basil', 'Cinnamon', and 'Purple holy basil', had purple stems.

Tuele et Quantant	e dan desemptio	n er et intant spee	ies subeu si	i ei e i devenipa)I
Genotypes	Growth habit	Leaf-blade	Leaf	Corolla color	Stem color
		shape	margin		
Dark opal	Upright	Medium ovate	Medium	Pink	Purple
Thai basil	Upright	Medium elliptic	Weak	Light pink	Purple
Cinnamon	Upright	Narrow elliptic	Weak	Pink	Light Purple
Genovese	Upright	Medium elliptic	Weak	White	Green
Turkish basil	Upright	Medium elliptic	Absent	White	Green
Adi F1	Upright	Medium ovate	Weak	White	Green
Sweet Aroma	Upright	Narrow elliptic	Weak	White	Green
M. Grünes	Upright	Broad ovate	Weak	White	Green
Ohře	Upright	Medium elliptic	Weak	White	Green
Green holy basil	Semi-upright	Medium ovate	Strong	Light violet	Green
Purple holy basil	Semi-upright	Medium elliptic	Weak	Medium violet	Purple
Lime	Semi-upright	Narrow elliptic	Absent	White	Green
Hoary basil	Upright	Narrow elliptic	Weak	Light Purple	Green
Togo basil	Upright	Narrow elliptic	Strong	White	Green
Törpe	Semi-upright	Narrow elliptic	Absent	White	Green

Table 5. Qualitative trait description of Ocimum species based on UPOV descriptor

M. Grünes: Mittelgroβblättriger Grünes', UPOV: The International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants.



Figure 15. Morphology of 15 Ocimum genotypes (Photo: Mulugeta, 2022)

4.1.2. Quantitative morphological traits

Ocimum species are known to have wide morphological diversities. This study vividly demonstrated the presence of significant (p<0.01) morphological variations within the investigated basil genotypes (Appendix Table 4).

Plant height and canopy diameter

There was a variation in both plant height and canopy diameter among the 15 *Ocimum* genotypes as indicated in Table 6. Based on the pooled mean of the years, 'Sweet Aroma' and 'Genovese' plants had the tallest plants (62.1 cm) and the widest canopy diameters (54.0 cm), respectively, while 'Törpe' plants had short plants (30.4 cm) with a narrow canopy (35.3 cm). Due to differences in weather patterns and soil properties, basil plants showed notable variations in their height and canopy size in different years of cultivation, as depicted in Figure 15 and Table 2. In the first year of growth, most basil varieties exhibited taller plant height and a wider canopy compared to the following year.

	Plant he	ight (cm)	Canopy diameter (cm)				
Genotypes	2021	2022	2021	2022			
Dark opal	47.3 ± 2.7^{fg}	43.5±2.8 ^{de}	44.1±2.5 ^{d-f}	37.3 ± 3.7^{d}			
Thai basil	59.2±4.0°	50.3±4.1 ^{a-c}	55.6±4.8 ^{a-c}	$48.2{\pm}5.7^{ab}$			
Cinnamon	55.9±3.9 ^{c-e}	49.3±1.5 ^{a-c}	$58.3{\pm}5.7^{ab}$	$48.2{\pm}1.7^{ab}$			
Genovese	65.2±3.2 ^b	54.0±4.9 ^a	59.5±4.8ª	48.5 ± 4.6^{ab}			
Turkish basil	45.8 ± 2.0^{g}	42.0 ± 1.4^{ef}	43.2 ± 2.2^{ef}	40.3 ± 2.6^{cd}			
Adi F1	50.6±3.2 ^{e-g}	51.2±2.3 ^{ab}	$42.3{\pm}3.8^{\rm f}$	$49.3{\pm}2.7^{ab}$			
Sweet Aroma	$71.0{\pm}2.7^{a}$	53.2±2.0 ^a	47.6±2.3 ^{c-f}	$45.0 \pm 4.6^{b-d}$			
M. Grünes	57.0±3.9 ^{cd}	50.3±1.6 ^{a-c}	$49.9 \pm 4.8^{b-f}$	$44.5 \pm 3.9^{b-d}$			
Ohře	51.4±3.9 ^{d-g}	45.7±3.3 ^{c-e}	51.8±8.0 ^{a-e}	$42.8 \pm 4.0^{b-d}$			
Green holy basil	37.5 ± 2.9^{h}	37.0 ± 1.1^{fg}	52.9±5.4 ^{a-d}	50.0 ± 5.3^{ab}			
Purple holy basil	$49.3{\pm}2.5^{\rm fg}$	47.8±2.3 ^{b-d}	53.1±6.2 ^{a-c}	47.5±3.4 ^{a-c}			
Lime	$39.5{\pm}2.8^{h}$	35.7 ± 1.6^{g}	53.2±6.2 ^{a-c}	47.0 ± 3.5^{bc}			
Togo basil	$49.5{\pm}8.2^{\rm fg}$	44.0 ± 3.0^{de}	$50.4 \pm 12.6^{b-f}$	55.2 ± 3.6^{a}			
Hoary basil	$52.5 \pm 3.5^{d-f}$	50.2±1.9 ^{a-c}	$48.1 \pm 4.7^{\text{c-f}}$	$43.3 {\pm} 4.0^{b-d}$			
Törpe	25.6 ± 2.7^{i}	35.2±1.16 ^g	32.3±1.7 ^g	$38.3{\pm}1.0^{d}$			

Table 6. Growth parameters among Ocimum species in two production years

Values are presented as Mean ± SD, M. Grünes: Mittelgroßblättriger Grünes'; Different letters are for significantly different means.

Leaf related traits

Leaf growth of *Ocimum* genotypes exhibits a remarkable level of variability. Table 7 indicates a significant variation in leaf area growth among basil genotypes and the year of production. The cultivars 'M. Grünes', 'Genovese' and 'Turkish basil' had robust leaf growth (leaf length, width, area, and hundred leaf weight) in both years, whereas 'Togo basil' and 'Törpe' had the

smallest leaf growth. Based on the two-year average, 'M. Grünes' had the longest leaf (9.1 cm), a wider leaf (5.1 cm), a larger leaf area (29.2 cm² leaf⁻¹), and a heavier leaf weight (103.8 g 100 leaves⁻¹). In contrast, 'Togo basils' had the shortest leaf (2.4 cm), a narrow leaf (1.2 cm), a smaller leaf (2.6 cm² leaf⁻¹), and a lighter leaf weight (7.05 g 100 leaves⁻¹).

Reproductive parameters

The basil genotypes showed a broader and significant (p<0.01) variation in their reproductive traits, including the length and number of inflorescences, as well as the thousand seed weight (Appendix Table 4 and Table 8). According to the yearly average, the basil cultivars 'Dark opal' produced the longest inflorescence, (31.1 cm). While 'Purple holy basil' had the shortest inflorescence, measuring only 13 cm. Interestingly, despite having the shortest inflorescence and smaller seeds (0.2 g per thousand seeds), 'Purple holy basil' produced the highest number of inflorescences per plant, reaching 219.7. Even though 'Turkish basil' and 'M. Grünes' exhibited robust leaf growth, they had the lowest number of inflorescences, falling below 66.0. Additionally, sweet basil cultivars 'Thai basil' and 'M. Grünes' had larger and heavier seeds (\geq 1.8 g per thousand seeds).

	Leaf le	ength (cm)	Leaf width (cm)		Leaf area	$(cm^2 leaf^{-1})$	Hundred leaf weight (g)		
Genotypes	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	
Dark opal	5.7±0.4 ^{cd}	$5.7{\pm}0.5^{d}$	$2.9{\pm}0.3^{de}$	2.9±0.4 ^{e-g}	$9.8{\pm}2.0^{ m d-f}$	$9.9 \pm 2.0^{d-f}$	40.6±1.5 ^{de}	41.0 ± 1.7^{d}	
Thai basil	5.7 ± 0.7^{cd}	$6.7 \pm 0.6^{\circ}$	$2.9{\pm}0.4^{de}$	$3.2{\pm}0.2^{d-f}$	$9.7 \pm 1.9^{d-f}$	11.5±2.7 ^{de}	40.1 ± 1.3^{de}	45.2 ± 3.2^{d}	
Cinnamon	$6.2{\pm}0.8^{\circ}$	5.7 ± 0.4^{d}	3.7 ± 0.5^{bc}	$2.9{\pm}0.3^{d-g}$	12.2±2.8 ^{c-e}	$9.2 \pm 1.8^{d-f}$	55.0±2.1°	31.8±3.3 ^e	
Genovese	$8.7{\pm}0.9^{a}$	$8.7 {\pm} 1.0^{ab}$	3.8 ± 0.4^{b}	$3.9{\pm}0.4^{\rm bc}$	18.4 ± 4.3^{bc}	20.7±4.3 ^b	102.1 ± 4.8^{a}	103.6 ± 7.8^{a}	
Turkish basil	$7.7{\pm}0.8^{b}$	$7.9{\pm}0.5^{b}$	3.6 ± 0.6^{bc}	4.4 ± 0.5^{b}	19.4±4.3 ^b	17.4±3.6 ^{bc}	101.2 ± 3.7^{a}	77.2±4.5 ^b	
Adi F1	5.2 ± 0.2^{de}	$5.9{\pm}0.6^{cd}$	3.1 ± 0.2^{de}	$3.1 {\pm} 0.5^{d-g}$	$10.1 \pm 2.2^{d-f}$	8.2±1.7 ^{ef}	39.3±2.9e	44.9 ± 3.2^{d}	
Sweet Aroma	$7.9{\pm}0.5^{ab}$	$6.8 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$	3.3 ± 0.3^{cd}	$3.3{\pm}0.5^{de}$	16.1±3.3 ^{b-d}	13.2±2.7 ^{cd}	69.4 ± 4.4^{b}	57.3±3.8°	
M. Grünes	$8.7{\pm}0.7^{a}$	9.5±0.9ª	4.9±0.3ª	$5.2{\pm}0.5^{a}$	$30.0{\pm}13.7^{a}$	28.3±8.2ª	104.7±5.1ª	104.4 ± 6.0^{a}	
Ohře	5.8 ± 0.3^{cd}	5.4±0.5 ^{c-e}	$3.4{\pm}0.2^{b-d}$	$3.0{\pm}0.2^{d-g}$	$10.1 \pm 2.9^{d-f}$	7.8±1.8 ^{ef}	44.5±3.0 ^e	45.4 ± 4.3^{d}	
Green holy basil	4.5 ± 0.2^{ef}	$5.4{\pm}0.3^{cd}$	$3.0{\pm}0.2^{de}$	3.5 ± 0.1^{cd}	7.9±1.2 ^{e-g}	11.3 ± 1.7^{de}	25.3 ± 3.6^{g}	33.8 ± 3.8^{e}	
Purple holy basil	4.7 ± 0.5^{ef}	$4.7 \pm 0.4^{d-f}$	2.7±0.3e	$2.7{\pm}0.3^{fg}$	7.9±1.1 ^{e-g}	7.9±1.1 ^{ef}	$23.0{\pm}1.9^{g}$	$20.0{\pm}3.1^{f}$	
Lime	$4.0{\pm}0.3^{f}$	4.1 ± 0.4^{f}	$1.95{\pm}0.3^{\rm f}$	$2.0{\pm}0.2^{h}$	4.5 ± 0.7^{fg}	7.6±2.2 ^{ef}	17.2 ± 2.1^{j}	$18.4{\pm}1.6^{f}$	
Togo basil	$2.8{\pm}0.8^{\mathrm{g}}$	$2.0{\pm}0.4^{g}$	$1.4{\pm}0.5^{i}$	$0.9{\pm}0.3^{i}$	$2.9{\pm}0.9^{g}$	$2.3{\pm}0.7^{g}$	$6.8{\pm}0.7^{i}$	7.4 ± 1.3^{g}	
Hoary basil	$6.0{\pm}0.5^{cd}$	$6.0{\pm}0.5^{cd}$	2.6±0.2 ^e	$2.6{\pm}0.2^{g}$	7.7±1.9 ^{e-g}	7.3±1.8 ^{ef}	32.4 ± 2.3^{f}	32.2±3.8 ^e	
Törpe	$2.7{\pm}0.3^{g}$	4.4 ± 0.4^{ef}	$1.4{\pm}0.3^{hi}$	$2.5{\pm}0.3^{\text{gh}}$	$2.4{\pm}0.4^{g}$	$6.3 \pm 1.5^{\mathrm{fg}}$	$14.0{\pm}0.9^{h}$	$18.4{\pm}1.5^{f}$	

Table 7. Leaf-related parameters among Ocimum species in 2021 and 2022

Table 8. Variation in reproductive traits among Ocimum species

	Inflorescence length (cm)		No. of infloresce	ence	Thousand see	Thousand seed weight (g)		
Genotypes	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022		
Dark opal	36.0±4.1ª	26.2±1.6 ^{ab}	$98.3{\pm}20.3^{\rm fg}$	$70.0 \pm 9.5^{d-g}$	1.6±0.3 ^{de}	$1.5{\pm}0.1^{cd}$		
Thai basil	31.4±2.9 ^{ab}	26.5 ± 3.8^{ab}	107.2 ± 15.0^{f}	76.3±16.7 ^{d-f}	$1.9{\pm}0.0^{a}$	1.9±0.1ª		
Cinnamon	26.8 ± 5.1^{bc}	29.8±2.3ª	160.1±22.9 ^{cd}	84.7±15.9 ^{de}	1.6 ± 0.0^{cd}	$1.7{\pm}0.0^{bc}$		
Genovese	28.7±3.0 ^b	26.5 ± 2.9^{ab}	175.8±27.8°	167.2±31.5 ^b	$1.7{\pm}0.1^{bc}$	$1.7{\pm}0.1^{ab}$		
Turkish basil	18.2 ± 2.4^{ef}	23.5±1.4 ^{bc}	72.6 ± 6.9^{g}	53.8±11.5 ^{e-g}	$1.6 \pm 0.0^{d-f}$	$1.5{\pm}0.1^{cd}$		
Adi F1	23.6±3.3 ^{cd}	20.5±1.6 ^{cd}	114.4±26.7 ^{ef}	97.7±15.4 ^{cd}	$1.4{\pm}0.1^{g}$	$1.4{\pm}0.0^{d}$		
Sweet Aroma	23.0±2.3 ^{cd}	21.5±2.1 ^{cd}	139.6±16.5 ^{de}	51.0±22.3 ^{e-g}	$1.5 \pm 0.0^{\text{f-h}}$	$1.5{\pm}0.0^{d}$		
M. Grünes	30.6±3.9 ^b	$17.5 \pm 1.0^{d-f}$	97.0±10.1fg	34.7 ± 4.4^{g}	$1.8{\pm}0.1^{b}$	$1.7{\pm}0.1^{ab}$		
Ohře	17.5±2.8 ^{e-g}	19.5±2.2 ^{cd}	257.8±39.8ª	53.7±8.0 ^{e-g}	$1.4{\pm}0.0^{gh}$	$1.5{\pm}0.1^{d}$		
Green holy basil	20.3±3.3 ^{de}	17.8±1.5 ^{de}	159.9±37.6 ^{cd}	125.2±34.6°	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{h}$	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{e}$		
Purple holy basil	12.8 ± 1.7^{g}	13.2 ± 1.2^{f}	226.5±35.9 ^b	212.8±21.9ª	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{j}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{ m f}$		
Lime	27.5±1.4 ^{bc}	22.8 ± 2.6^{bc}	142.2±13.1 ^{de}	97.2±10.5 ^{cd}	1.5±0.0 ^{e-g}	1.5 ± 0.1^{cd}		
Togo basil	$15.0{\pm}1.8^{g}$	23.0 ± 1.5^{bc}	29.9 ± 7.8^{h}	191.7±27.6 ^{ab}	$0.5{\pm}0.0^{i}$	$0.4{\pm}0.0^{e}$		
Hoary basil	$19.0 \pm 2.7^{d-f}$	$17.3 \pm 2.7^{d-f}$	207.3 ± 13.8^{b}	$183.7{\pm}14.8^{ab}$	$0.5{\pm}0.0^{hi}$	$0.5{\pm}0.0^{e}$		
Törpe	17.3±3.3 ^{e-g}	14.2 ± 1.7^{ef}	140.8±25.8 ^{de}	$44.3{\pm}5.8^{\rm fg}$	$1.4{\pm}0.0^{gh}$	$1.4{\pm}0.1^{d}$		

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, M. Grünes: Mittelgroßblättriger Grünes'; Different letters are for significantly different means.

Fresh and dry herb yield

Ocimum species are renowned for their exceptional ability to produce a wide range of biomass. The results of the field experiments indicate that there was significant variability in both fresh and dry biomass production among the 15 basil genotypes tested, as illustrated in Appendix Table 4 and Table 9. The sweet basil cultivars were predominantly robust and vigorous in growth, with the 'Genovese' cultivar producing the maximum fresh and dry herb yields of 489.9 g plant⁻¹ and 98.6 g plant⁻¹, respectively, on a yearly average basis. Additionally, 'M. Grünes', 'Cinnamon', and 'Sweet aroma' yielded over 425.0 g of fresh biomass and more than 85 g of dry mass yield per plant. In contrast, 'Purple holy basil' exhibited the lowest fresh biomass yield of 212.6 g plant⁻¹ and the lowest dry biomass yield of 56.5 g plant⁻¹. Similarly, the cultivar 'Törpe' exhibited the lowest biomass yield. Furthermore, biomass production varied significantly between the years of production due to variations in soil conditions and microclimate. Hence, all genotypes produced higher fresh and dry biomass yields during the first growing year (2021) than in the second growing year (2022).

	Fresh herb y	rield (g plant ⁻¹)	Dry herb yie	eld (g plant ⁻¹)
Genotypes	2021	2022	2021	2022
Dark opal	329.8±53.4 ^{c-e}	151.7±43.3 ^d	47.3±6.7°	$32.0{\pm}4.5^{d}$
Thai basil	461.0±140.7 ^{a-d}	328.3±153.4 ^{a-c}	96.9±30.1 ^{a-d}	$55.8 \pm 22.4^{b-d}$
Cinnamon	$588.4{\pm}199.6^{ab}$	293.7±82.2 ^{a-d}	110.8 ± 34.5^{ab}	68.8±15.7 ^{a-c}
Genovese	635.6±81.15 ^a	344.0±33.1 ^{ab}	129.4±21.3ª	$67.8 \pm 7.6^{\text{a-c}}$
Turkish basil	415.1±90.1 ^{b-e}	371.7±43.7 ^a	74.9±17.7 ^{b-e}	73.7±9.8 ^{a-c}
Adi F1	416.3±70.3 ^{b-e}	356.3±80.4ª	74.3±12.9 ^{b-e}	73.3±20.6 ^{a-c}
Sweet Aroma	602.7±119.6 ^{ab}	249.7±50.6 ^{a-d}	112.7±27.6 ^{ab}	61.7±12.9 ^{a-d}
M. Grünes	527.3±112.9 ^{a-c}	381.0±52.2ª	97.7±21.6 ^{a-c}	87.2 ± 13.2^{a}
Ohře	524.3±132.3 ^{a-c}	248.0±55.6 ^{a-d}	98.6±24.9 ^{a-c}	51.8±12.6 ^{b-d}
Green holy basil	431.0±80.8 ^{a-e}	330.0±81.5 ^{a-c}	87.0±19.7 ^{b-d}	86.5 ± 13.8^{a}
Purple holy basil	234.3±47.9e	190.8±23.2 ^{cd}	62.4±12.2 ^{c-e}	50.7±4.1 ^{cd}
Lime	446.2±155.6 ^{a-d}	255.3±78.8 ^{a-d}	101.2±35.5 ^{a-c}	66.7±22.8 ^{a-c}
Togo basil	467.8±322.1 ^{a-d}	326.7±130.8 ^{a-d}	$87.9 \pm 50.3^{b-d}$	82.3 ± 25.4^{ab}
Hoary basil	513.7±68.6 ^{a-d}	269.0±37.4 ^{a-d}	94.8±17.0 ^{a-d}	67.7±7.5 ^{a-c}
Törpe	313.6±66.9 ^{de}	195.3±43.5 ^{b-d}	57.6±13.9 ^{de}	52.0±11.7 ^{b-d}

Table 9. Biomass production variability within Ocimum species

Values are presented as Mean ± SD, M. Grünes: Mittelgroβblättriger Grünes; Different letters are for significantly different means.

In addition, a morphological cluster analysis utilizing Ward's method revealed the existence of three distinct groups (as illustrated in Figure 16). The first group consisted of 'Dark opal, Tope', and 'Purple holy basil'. The second group was composed of 'Thai basil', 'Adi F1', 'Lime', 'Togo basil', 'Ohře', 'Green holy basil', and 'Hoary basil'.

On the other hand, the third group had 'Cinnamon', 'Sweet aroma', 'Turkish basil', 'M. Grünes', and 'Genovese'. Moreover, the biplot-principal component analysis (PCA) provided insights into the relationship between the genotypes and the diverse quantitative morphological traits under investigation (as depicted in Figure 17). These two principal components collectively explained 72.0% of the variance, with PC1 accounting for 50.9% and PC2 for 21.11%.



Figure 16. Similarity dendrogram showing major clusters among 15 *Ocimum* genotypes based on their morphological characteristics



Figure 17. Principal component plot analysis of morphological traits among the 15 *Ocimum* genotypes

4.1.3. Secondary compound accumulation among Ocimum species

The presence of a wider chemical diversity was observed among the basil genotypes studied, as indicated in Figure 18 and Tables 10-12.

Essential oil content and essential oil yield

Thus, the basil genotypes and year of production had a significant (P<0.01) impact on both EOC and EOY (see Appendix Table 4 and Figure 18). The EOC ranged from 0.3% to 3.4% across different species, with the highest values observed in 'Hoary basil' and the lowest in 'Green holy basil'. Similarly, the EOY ranged from 0.3 to 2.6 mL plant⁻¹, with the highest yields obtained from 'Hoary basil' and the lowest from 'green holy basil'. The second highest EOC (1.3%) and EOY (1.0 mL plant⁻¹) were obtained from 'Ohře' plants.



Figure 18. Variability in essential oil production of 15 *Ocimum* genotypes Values are presented as Mean ± SD, M. Grünes: Mittelgroβblättriger Grünes; Different letters are for significantly different means.

Essential oil composition

The composition can vary significantly based on factors such as geographical location, environmental conditions, cultivation techniques, plant material (fresh or dry), and genetic variations. In addition, chemical diversification in different Ocimum species has been notably influenced by hybridization within and between the species through cross-pollination, as well as natural evolutionary events, polyploidy, and selective breeding, as observed in various studies. Our two-year studies also showed a wider diversity in the essential oil composition of Ocimum species (Tables 10 and 11). The essential oil composition was subjected to similarity cluster analysis, identifying seven distinct chemo diversity (Figure 19). The first cluster consisted of sweet basil genotypes, namely 'Dark opal', 'Sweet Aroma', 'Turkish basil', 'Genovese', and 'Ohře', which were rich in linalool ratios exceeding 54.0%. The second group comprised 'Cinnamon', 'Törpe', 'M. Grünes', and 'Lime', characterized by linalool (>32%) as a major component alongside other constituents. Specifically, 'Cinnamon' basil contained linalool/estragole/methyl eugenol mixtures. The 'Törpe' genotype displayed higher ratios of linalool (40.0%). The main compounds of 'M. Grünes' were linalool (44.0%) and estragole (19.0%). The 'Lime' basil predominantly contained oxygenated monoterpenes such as linalool (40.0%), and citral (30.0%). The third chemical group was represented by 'Thai basil', characterized by phenylpropanoid compounds, predominantly estragole (53.3%) and methyl eugenol (8.7%). Similarly, the fourth cluster also exhibited phenylpropanoids, with *trans*-B-caryophyllene (36.2%) and eugenol (32.2%) as the primary constituents in 'purple holy basil'. The 'Green holy basil' formed the fifth cluster. It was composed of 1,8-cineole (22.0%), estragole (24.0%), and bisabolene (31.0%). Whereas hoary basil contained 1,8-cineole (36.0%), camphor (18.0%), and limonene (14.0%) as cluster six. Finally, 'Togo basil' belonged to the last chemical cluster, characterized by 61.0% methyl cinnamate. As shown in Figure 20, the biplot-PCA provided insight into the relationship between genotypes and essential oil components. The two principal components explained 56.7% of the variance, PC1 explaining 28.1% and PC2 explaining 18.6%. Thus, in our study, we observed three chemotypes of sweet basils: linalool rich, estragole rich, and mixed (linalool/estragole, linalool/citral, linalool/methyl eugenol/estragole).

			Darl	c opal	Thai	basil	Cinn	amon	Turki	sh basil	Geno	ovese	Ad	F1	Sweet	aroma	M. G	rünes	0	hře
Component	RT	LRI	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022	2021	2022
1,8-cineole	8.40	1034	6.6	6.0	2.0	3.4	1.8	4.9	3.4	4.9	3.7	8.0	4.3	5.7	5.4	6.5	3.5	6.3	2.5	5.2
linalool	10.90	1097	68.4	48.5	3.5	25.4	29.5	34.8	74.2	37.0	63.8	44.5	58.3	34.4	66.9	43.5	45.7	42.6	60.8	57.5
α-terpineol	14.60	1189	0.5	0.9	0.3		0.3	0.8	0.5	0.9	0.5		0.7	1.3	0.5	1.1	0.5	1.1	0.2	0.6
estragole	14.80	1196	0.2	10.1	65.1	41.5	12.8	7.5		2.7			0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	30.5	8.2		
geraniol	17.30	1252	0.5	1.1				0.7		0.1			1.8	0.4					12.4	1
eugenol	21.50	1361	0.9	4.4		0.2	0.1	3.5	1.4	4.1	2.1	3.5	1.8	5.5	2.7	5.0	0.2	1.7	0.6	0.8
ß-elemene	22.90	1391	2.6	3.0	0.6	0.7	1.8	0.6	1.2		1.7	0.5	2.8	4.1	2.0	2.6	1.0	1.9	1.8	2.9
methyl																				
eugenol	23.50	1411	0.1	0.1	15.8	1.6	13.7	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.1		0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1	
trans-a-																				
bergamotene	24.70	1437	0.4	1.2	2.3	2.7	0.7	1.7	1.0	1.7	3.9	4.8	0.1			0.7	1.4	1.4	0.4	2.0
germacrene D	26.50	1482	4.2	3.9	0.7	2.1	2.8	3.1	2.0	4.3	3.6	2.9	4.9	5.9	3.2	4.4	2.7	3.8	2.3	2.0
α-bulnesene	27.50	1506	3.1	2.8	0.7	0.6	2.0		1.5	3.7	2.2	2.4	3.7	4.2	2.3	2.4	1.2	1.9	2.0	1.4
<i>cis-</i> γ-cadinene	27.80	1515	1.1	1.2	0.8	1.6	1.2	1.9	1.8	3.0	2.3	2.6	2.6	3.3	2.0	2.7	1.4	2.4	1.6	2.1
tau-cadinol	32.60	1644	3.4	4.6	2.7	5.6	5.6	7.2	7.3	9.7	8.0	9.5	9.9	1	6.9	9.1	5.1	9.3	7.9	7.5
others $(<2\%)$			7.4	10.8	4.7	12.3	27.2	30.9	5.2	23.9	7.4	19.6	8.0	20.3	7.5	18.9	6.2	16.8	7.0	6.8
Total			99.4	98.6	99.2	97.7	99.5	97.7	99.6	96.3	99.3	98.3	99.1	95.5	99.6	97.5	99.5	97.7	99.6	98.8
Monoterpenes			1.2	1.2	0.9	2.6	0.5	2.3	0.4	1.4	0.7	2.4	0.3	1.6	1.0	2.7	0.8	2.0	0.8	1.1
Oxygenated mo	noterpen	es	76.9	58.1	7.7	7.8	54.7	46.4	79.5	47.5	70.1	59.2	68.7	47.8	75.1	57.1	51.5	54.5	78.1	75.0
Sesquiterpenes	-		15.9	17.1	6.3	8.3	10.9	13.0	1.0	23.5	16.9	18.5	17.3	24.8	12.5	18.4	1	16.1	10.8	12.9
Oxygenated ses	quiterper	nes	4.4	7.1	3.4	7.4	7.5	11.4	8.7	16.0	9.8	14.5	12.0	15.2	8.3	13.5	6.4	14.4	9.3	9.0
Phenylpropanes	-		1.1	15.0	80.9	70.4	26.6	24.1	1.5	7.6	2.2	3.9	1.9	5.8	2.9	6.0	30.8	10.3	0.7	0.8

Table 10. The essential oil composition of sweet basil cultivars

M. Grünes: Mittelgroßblättriger Grünes, RT – retention time. LRI – linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

2			Purp	le holy	Green holy	Usam	hadil	T:		Τu	*** 0	T.	
Component	рт	τρι	2021	2022	2021	Hoary	2022	2021	2022	2021	rpe	2021	2022
Component 6 pinono	KI 6 70	0.001	2021	2022	2021	2021	2022	2021	0.1	2021	2022	2021	2022
b-pinene	0.70 8.20	1020			0.0	5.9 14.6	133	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.2	28
	8.30 8.40	1029	0.2	0.3	0.2	14.0	27.9	0.1	17	0.5	0.5 4 3	0.5	2.0 4.6
	8.40 10.00	1034	0.2	0.5	22.5	45.8	0.3	0.5	13.0	9.1	35 /	0.1	3.4
	10.90	1097	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.5	187	35.5	43.9	44.9	2.1	3.0 0.2	5. 4 6.4
campnor	12.70	1144			24.1	10.5	10.7			1.8	2.1	0.2	2.0
estragole	14.80	1196			24.1			7.0	27		0.1	0.1	3.9
nerol	16.10	1227						/.8	5.7 10.4				
neral (citral-b)	16.70	1238						14.8	10.4				
geraniol	17.30	1252						2.9	4./				
geranial (citral a)	18.00	1268						20.3	14.4				5.0
(Z)-methyl cinnamate	19.30	1299		20.1							4.0	8.4	5.0
eugenol	21.50	1361	36.4	28.1	3.5					9.2	4.9		4.2
(<i>E</i>)-methyl cinnamate	22.60	1394										81.7	39.5
ß-elemene	22.90	1391	5.7	5.6				0.6		3.1	4.6		
methyl eugenol	23.50	1411	5.6	7.6							0.3	0.0	
trans-β-caryophyllene	24.00	1420	38.5	34.0	0.8	0.8	2.38	2.8	2.0	0.3	1.4	1.3	2.6
trans-α-bergamotene	24.70	1437		0.1	2.2			0.7	0.5	2.3		1.5	2.4
α-humulene	25.40	1454	2.3	2.7	1.7	4.0	8.7	0.6	0.6	0.8	1.5	0.1	4.9
germacrene d	26.50	1482	0.1	0.1		0.7	2.3	1.3	1.7	3.1	4.5	0.2	0.6
α-bulnesene	27.50	1506	2.3	1.1			0.2	0.6		4.1	3.7		
β-bisabolene	27.60	1508			31.4			0.1					1.3
cis-α-Bisabolene	29.00	1544			6.4	0.1		2.3	1.5				
caryophyllene oxide	30.50	1590	4.7	9.4	1.5			1.2	0.5		0.2	0.2	1.4
tau-cadinol	32.60	1644		0.1				2.8	4.0	7.6	11.6	0.2	
others (<2%)			2.8	7.7	4.5	15	25.1	4.2	7.51	11.9	20.3	1.9	13.9
Total			99.0	97.2	99.8	99.7	98.9	98.7	97.9	98.9	95.2	99.2	96.9
Monoterpenes			0.1	0.1	1.3	23.9	19.1	0.2	1.2	1.4	1.6	0.5	6.4
Oxygenated monoterpenes			0.8	0.9	24.2	67.4	67.6	83.6	79.9	59.6	48.2	4.1	18.7
Sesquiterpenes			49.9	46.8	36.7	8.2	11.7	7.9	10.3	18.9	23.3	3.6	14.4
Oxygenated sesquiterpenes			6.2	13.7	10.0	0.2	0.6	7.0	5.3	9.5	16.1	0.8	3.6
Phenylpropanes			42.0	36.0	27.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	9.5	5.8	90.2	53.8

Table 11. Major essential oil compounds of Ocimum species

RT – retention time. LRI – linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.



Figure 19. Similarity dendrogram showing major clusters among 15 *Ocimum* genotypes based on their essential oil composition.



Figure 20. Principal component plot analysis on the essential oil composition of the 15 basil genotypes.

Total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity

The TPC and its AOC were found significantly different between the genotypes as shown in Table 12. The TPC of the genotypes ranges between 127.4 and 218.8 mg GAE g⁻¹ DM, in 'Adi F1' and 'Turkish basil', respectively. While 'Törpe' ranked second with 213.7 GAE g⁻¹ of DM. The AOC of the genotypes varies between 67.3 and 290.4 mg AAE g⁻¹ DM. Additionally, Turkish basil had the highest AOC (290.4 mg AAE g⁻¹ DM) of all genotypes. The second highest AOC was obtained from 'M. Grünes' and 'Cinnamon' cultivars of sweet basils. Whereas 'Togo basil produced the lowest AOC (70.2 AAE g⁻¹ DM). In general, sweet basil cultivars typically have greater AOCs than the species they were compared to except for 'Genovese' and 'Adi F1'.

	Total polypheno	l content (mg GAE	Antioxidant capacity (mg AAE g ⁻¹			
Genotypes	g ⁻¹	DM)	DM)			
	2021	2022	2021	2022		
Dark opal	$146.4 \pm 5.8^{a-d}$	170.1±13.9 ^{d-f}	225.8±6.2 ^b	172.2±61.7°		
Thai basil	$176.8 \pm 4.5^{a-d}$	177.0±10.2 ^{c-e}	242.6±10.2 ^b	129.4±9.2 ^{c-g}		
Cinnamon	$186.9 {\pm} 8.0^{a-d}$	155.8±10.3 ^{e-g}	246.8±11.9 ^b	232.8±7.0 ^b		
Genovese	118.5 ± 80.6^{d}	173.6±13.2 ^{d-f}	112.4±32.6 ^{cd}	154.2 ± 8.8^{cd}		
Turkish basil	224.5±9.7 ^a	234.2±15.3ª	410.2 ± 38.7^{a}	170.5±18.0°		
Adi F1	130.7 ± 58.8^{cd}	124.1 ± 7.5^{h}	123.4±32.9 ^{cd}	129.1±12.7 ^{c-g}		
Sweet Aroma	204.0±7.6 abc	213.0±6.1 ^{ab}	248.8 ± 6.7^{b}	149.1±10.1 ^{c-e}		
M. Grünes	190.5±8.0 ^{abc}	204.7±21.4 ^{bc}	224.8 ± 7.5^{b}	296.0±31.1ª		
Ohře	169.2±8.2 ^{a-d}	185.2±24.3 ^{b-d}	217.6±32.1 ^b	119.6±16.7 ^{d-g}		
Green holy basil	154.7±66.3 ^{a-d}	138.3±16.7 ^{gh}	145.8±69.6°	115.8±12.6 ^{d-g}		
Purple holy basil	125.3±46.6 ^d	173.5±29.6 ^{d-f}	143.2±54.1°	98.8 ± 18.1^{fg}		
Lime	201.1±2.3 abc	172.2±5.5 ^{d-f}	113.3±4.4 ^{cd}	106.2±6.0 ^{e-g}		
Togo basil	148.5±47.3 ^{b-d}	$145.7 \pm 8.0^{\text{f-h}}$	70.2 ± 20.8^{d}	$64.4{\pm}4.7^{h}$		
Hoary basil	151.7±5.9 ^{a-d}	179.2±14.5 ^{c-e}	115.1±39.3 ^{cd}	93.7±5.1 ^g		
Törpe	$223.4{\pm}28.7^{ab}$	204.1 ± 7.3^{bc}	108.7±4.2 ^{cd}	141.1±11.7 ^{c-f}		

Table 12. Total poly phenol content and antioxidant capacity of 15 Ocimum genotypes

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, M. Grünes: Mittelgroßblättriger Grünes' TPC: Total polyphenol content, AOC: Antioxidant capacity. GAE: Gallic acid equivalent; AAE: Ascorbic acid equivalent; Different letters are for significantly different means.

4.2. Drought-induced physiological changes among Ocimum species

Plants experience several physiological alterations when exposed to drought stress. To assess these changes, measurements were taken of the RWC and SPAD values (chlorophyll content expressed in green color intensity) in both greenhouse and plant growth chamber experiments. Additionally, the shoot WP and WUE were measured specifically in the plant growth chamber experiments. The findings regarding the responses of these physiological characteristics in the *Ocimum* species being studied are presented below.

4.2.1. Relative water content

As shown in the Appendix Tables 2 and 3, both greenhouse and plant growth chamber experiments show that the soil water content and the production year significantly affected the leaf RWC of various *Ocimum* species. Accordingly, to a three-year greenhouse experiment, as the drought intensity increased, the RWC of leaves decreased. Table 13 reveals that under moderate drought stress, *O. basilicum* 'Genovese', $O. \times africanum$, and *O. americanum* showed a reduction of 7.5%, 13.14%, and 15.11%, respectively, based on the pooled mean of the year. Additionally, under severe drought stress, the leaf RWC reduction ranged from 18% for *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' to 26.8% for *O. americanum*. Furthermore, the plant growth chamber experiment also yielded similar results, based on the mean of the years the leaf RWC of both *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum* showed a reduction of over 5% and 14% under moderate and severe drought stresses, respectively, as illustrated in table 6.

Table 13. Effect of water supply on relative water content and chlorophyll content of *Ocimum* species (greenhouse)

Species	SWC	Relati	ve water conte	ent (%)	Chlorophyll content (SPAD value)			
	(%)	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022	
O. basilicum	70	$85.4{\pm}0.8^{\rm Aa}$	94.9 ± 1.8^{Aa}	85.9 ± 2.7^{Ba}	40.2 ± 3.9^{Ab}	$33.0{\pm}2.0^{\text{Bb}}$	40.3 ± 3.0^{Ab}	
'Genovese'	50	$79.9{\pm}5.5^{\rm Aa}$	89.8 ± 1.5^{Ab}	$73.8 {\pm} 3.5^{\rm Ab}$	42.6 ± 4.4^{Bb}	$40.7{\pm}1.7^{\text{Ba}}$	$42.9{\pm}1.6^{\text{Bab}}$	
	30	71.6±7.6 ^{Ab}	79.0 ± 2.8^{Ac}	62.5 ± 6.4^{Ac}	$54.0{\pm}2.8^{\rm Aa}$	$42.7{\pm}2.1^{Ba}$	45.9 ± 3.2^{Bb}	
<i>O</i> . ×	70	82.8±2.7 ^{Aa}	92.2±1.3 ^{Ba}	91.6±4.5 ^{Aa}	43.3±5.4 ^{Ab}	47.0±4.9 ^{Ab}	42.4±3.1 ^{Ab}	
africanum	50	$75.3 {\pm} 4.9^{Ab}$	80.4 ± 4.4^{Cb}	71.5 ± 7.6^{Ab}	51.7 ± 2.5^{Aa}	47.8 ± 2.7^{Ab}	$50.6{\pm}1.4^{\rm Aa}$	
	30	66.5 ± 5.4^{Abc}	73.6 ± 3.0^{Bc}	66.9±3.9 ^{Ac}	$53.1{\pm}3.8^{\rm Aa}$	$52.5{\pm}1.8^{\rm Aa}$	$51.6{\pm}0.8^{\rm Aa}$	
О.	70	85.8±3.5 ^{Aa}	95.8±2.0 ^{Aa}	$83.0{\pm}2.4^{\text{Ba}}$	40.5±6.1 ^{Ab}	44.8±2.0 ^{Ab}	42.0±2.1 ^{Ab}	
americanum	50	73.6 ± 2.9^{Ab}	85.4 ± 1.9^{Bb}	60.3 ± 4.4^{Bb}	45.8 ± 6.0^{Ab}	51.2 ± 4.4^{Aa}	$44.4{\pm}2.2^{\text{Bab}}$	
	30	56.7 ± 6.7^{Bc}	76.0 ± 1.9^{Bc}	51.3 ± 3.4^{Bc}	51.7 ± 5.1^{Aa}	$51.0{\pm}2.5^{Aa}$	46.7 ± 1.9^{Ba}	

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.2.2. SPAD value

The soil water capacities had a significant impact (p<0.01) on chlorophyll content, represented by the green color intensity measured as SPAD values, in both the greenhouse and plant growth chamber experiments (See Appendix Tables 2 and 3). Across both studies, it was observed that the SPAD value increased as the intensity of drought stress increased for all tested basil species. In the greenhouse experiment, *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' and *O.* × *africanum* basil plants subjected to severe drought stress exhibited average SPAD values ranging from 47.5 to 52.4, whereas the control plants had SPAD values ranging from 37.8 to 44.3 (refer to Table 13 above). Similarly, the plant growth chamber experiment yielded a comparable pattern. For *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', the average SPAD values under control and severe drought stress treatments ranged from 29.0 to 40.3. In the case of *O. americanum* plants, the range was between 40.6 and 50.6 (see Table 14). Moreover, the SPAD values varied depending on the year of production, basil species, and the growing conditions, whether it was conducted in the greenhouse or the plant growth chamber.

species (plant growth chamber)									
	SWC	Relative w	Relative water content (%)		ontent (SPAD value)				
Species	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022				
O. basilicum	70	94.6 ± 2.0^{Aa}	$87.6{\pm}0.8^{Ba}$	24.6 ± 2.7^{Bc}	33.4 ± 2.3^{Bc}				
'Ohře'	50	93.1±1.3 ^{Aa}	$78.8 {\pm} 5.0^{ m Ab}$	30.2 ± 2.8^{Bb}	37.2 ± 1.8^{Bb}				
	30	78.6 ± 6.9^{Ab}	74.6 ± 2.9^{Ab}	$38.0{\pm}4.8^{\rm Ba}$	42.5 ± 2.4^{Ba}				
O. americanum	70	94.6±3.7 ^{Aa}	92.5±3.7 ^{Aa}	39.1 ± 2.4^{Ac}	42.2±4.1 ^{Ab}				
	50	$93.3 {\pm} 3.8^{Aa}$	83.2 ± 1.3^{Ab}	43.8 ± 2.1^{Ab}	47.9 ± 3.8^{Aa}				
	30	82.6 ± 3.7^{Ab}	75.8 ± 0.8^{Ac}	50.1 ± 2.5^{Aa}	51.1 ± 3.4^{Aa}				

Table 14. Effect of water supply on relative water content and chlorophyll content of *Ocimum* species (plant growth chamber)

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.2.3. Water potential

The variation in soil water capacities significantly (p<0.01) affected the WP of basil species over consecutive years (as shown in Appendix Table 3). Figure 21 below presents the average values from a multi-year experiment in plant growth chamber, revealing that the WP of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' decreased from -0.6 MPa under the control treatment to -0.8 MPa under moderate drought stress. Furthermore, under severe drought stress, the WP further declined to -1.4 MPa. Similar trends were observed in *O. americanum* plants, with their WP ranging from -0.8 to -0.5 MPa under control and drought stress conditions, respectively.



Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.2.4. Water use efficiency

The soil water capacities significantly affected the WUE of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum* during both production years as indicated in Figure 22. Hence, as the soil moisture gets drier the WUE gets higher under both species. The WUE of severe drought stress plants improved by 1.8-fold and 3.4-fold in *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum*, respectively.



Figure 22. Effect of water supply on shoot water use efficiency (plant growth chamber) Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.3. Drought-induced morphological changes among Ocimum species

Plant growth is adversely affected by water stress, a phenomenon that has been extensively studied and well documented. In these experiments, it was demonstrated that basil species suffered a significant reduction in growth and productivity because of drought. This subsection provides a detailed account of drought-induced morphological changes in various *Ocimum* species grown under diverse microclimates (open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chamber).

4.3.1. Plant height and canopy diameter

The quantity of water present in the soil is a critical factor that influences basil growth, and even slight changes in the soil's moisture content had an impact on the plant's height and spread as demonstrated by open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chamber experiments. Besides soil water capacity, year of production and basil species investigated also had a significant (p<0.01) effect (Appendix Tables 1, 2 and 3). Hence, based on the pooled mean of the years, basil plants grown in open fields without irrigation (i.e., under drought conditions) experienced a reduction in plant height ranging from 3.4 cm (8.9%) to 7.8 cm (16.0%) in *O. americanum* and *O.* × *africanum*, respectively (Table 15). Additionally, the reduction in canopy diameter ranged from 5.6 cm (11.4% in *O. basilicum* 'Genovese') to 9.5 cm (20.7% in *O.* × *africanum*).

Species	TRT		Plant height (cm)			Canopy diameter (cm)			
		2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022		
O. basilicum	Ι	46.9 ± 6.3^{Acd}	43.8 ± 2.5^{Aab}	$50.3{\pm}3.8^{Aa}$	51.8±7.2 ^{Ab}	39.3±2.5Ab	50.2 ± 4.4^{a}		
'Ohře'	NI	43.4±6.7 ^{Ac}	$40.3{\pm}4.2^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	41.7 ± 4.0^{Ba}	47.6±10.6 ^{Aab}	$34.4{\pm}4.4^{\text{Ba}}$	42.0±3.8 ^a		
O. basilicum	Ι	77.3 ± 5.5^{Aa}	$47.3{\pm}4.9^{Aa}$	53.3±4.0ª	62.3 ± 6.6^{Aa}	38.7 ± 4.7^{Ab}	47.7±3.7 ^{ab}		
'Genovese'	NI	68.5 ± 8.5^{Aa}	$40.8{\pm}3.6^{\text{Ba}}$	43.7 ± 2.5^{a}	57.8±6.0 ^{Aa}	$34.6{\pm}4.5^{\text{Ba}}$	39.3±5.4ª		
<i>O</i> . ×	Ι	50.9 ± 4.2^{Ac}	44.5 ± 2.2^{Aab}	50.2±1.9ª	49.1±6.1 ^{Abc}	45.7±4.2 ^{Aa}	43.3±4.0 ^b		
africanum	NI	41.3±4.9 ^{Bc}	$39.7{\pm}5.6^{\text{Ba}}$	41.2 ± 1.8^{a}	35.3±9.7 ^{Bc}	$39.9{\pm}5.6^{\text{Ba}}$	34.2 ± 3.7^{b}		
О.	Ι	41.8±3.6 ^{Ade}	35.7±1.4 ^{Ac}	38.8±2.1°	42.9±2.6 ^{Ac}	47.1 ± 4.2^{Aa}	50.1±2.7ª		
americanum	NI	40.4±4.6 ^{Ac}	$30.2{\pm}4.2^{Bb}$	35.4±2.9 ^b	41.4±9.1 ^{Abc}	$36.7{\pm}7.2^{\text{Ba}}$	41.4±5.1ª		
O. sanctum	Ι	64.3 ± 5.6^{Ab}	$42.0{\pm}1.9^{Ab}$	44.5±2.6 ^b	61.7±6.2 ^{Aa}	30.9 ± 4.8^{Ac}	33.3±2.6°		
	NI	60.2 ± 8.5^{Ab}	$39.3{\pm}4.9^{Aa}$	35.8 ± 2.9^{b}	$53.5{\pm}4.6^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	25.7±5.1 ^A	24.2±3.2°		
O. selloi	Ι	36.7±5.3 ^{Ae}	-	-	41.5±7.7 ^{Ac}	-	-		
	NI	38.2 ± 3.1^{Ac}	-	-	$40.3{\pm}8.0^{\mathrm{Abc}}$	-	-		

Table 15. Effect of irrigation on plant height and canopy diameter of *Ocimum* species in open field growing conditions from 2020 to 2022

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, TRT: Treatment; I-Irrigated; NI: non-irrigated; Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between drought stress under fixed species and small letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress.

These studies also revealed that *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' plants under irrigation can grow up to 59.0 cm with a canopy diameter of 50.0 cm, whereas the *O. americanum* plant had a semi-upright growth habit with short height (39.0 cm) but a wider spread growth (47.0 cm). Furthermore, the year of production can also influence plant growth, with varying weather conditions and seasonal changes. Thus, the production year of 2020 had a more robust growth than the other successive years. The significant effect of drought stress on three basil species was further demonstrated under a greenhouse experiment conducted over three consecutive years as indicated in table 16. Across all basil species and years, well-watered control plants grew taller and wider. Thus, compared with the control, plant height reduction in severely stressed basil plants ranges between 24.0% (*O. basilicum* 'Genovese') to 29.0% (*O. × africanum*). In moderately stress treatments, plants tend to be shorter between 12.1% in *O. americanum* to 20.8% in *O. × africanum*. Similarly, the average of the species over the years indicated that under moderate and severe drought stress conditions, basil plants lose more than 20.0% and 45.0% of their canopy, respectively. It is also important to note that plant height and canopy diameter is influenced by the years of production in addition to drought treatment and varietal differences.

	SWC	P	Plant height (c	em)	Canopy diameter (cm)			
Species	(%)	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022	
O. basilicum	70	60.3 ± 6.3^{Aa}	$55.4{\pm}6.6^{Aa}$	$49.4{\pm}6.7^{\text{Ba}}$	45.9 ± 4.1^{Ba}	$40.5{\pm}3.2^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$35.6\pm6.3^{\text{Ba}}$	
'Genovese'	50	$60.0{\pm}7.5^{Aa}$	47.7 ± 6.2^{Ab}	37.6 ± 5.2^{Bb}	42.5 ± 4.9^{Aba}	34.4 ± 2.2^{Ab}	26.0 ± 5.8^{Bb}	
	30	55.5±4.4 ^{Ab}	42.4 ± 5.9^{Ab}	29.4 ± 3.5^{Bc}	35.9 ± 2.6^{Ab}	26.3±3.1 ^{Ac}	15.5 ± 3.5^{Bc}	
<i>O</i> . ×	70	$52.5{\pm}4.7^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$45.5{\pm}4.1^{\text{Ba}}$	63.2±5.5 ^{Aa}	45.5±3.1 ^{Ba}	$40.1{\pm}1.8^{\text{Ba}}$	53.1±3.7 ^{Aa}	
africanum	50	$47.8{\pm}2.9^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$37.2{\pm}2.4^{\text{Bb}}$	41.0 ± 5.7^{Ab}	40.3 ± 4.0^{Bb}	28.9 ± 3.3^{Bb}	23.6 ± 3.2^{Bb}	
-	30	45.4 ± 2.7^{Bb}	32.6 ± 4.6^{Bc}	35.3 ± 2.5^{Ac}	34.4 ± 2.3^{Ac}	18.6 ± 1.4^{Bc}	16.6 ± 2.5^{Bc}	
О.	70	51.1±2.3 ^{Ba}	39.6±1.6 ^{Ca}	39.4±5.9 ^{Ca}	49.7±2.8 ^{Aa}	48.6±2.1 ^{Aa}	47.7 ± 7.5^{Aa}	
americanum	50	$47.5{\pm}3.7^{\rm Bb}$	$33.2{\pm}1.3^{\text{Bb}}$	$34.6{\pm}3.5^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	46.8 ± 4.3^{Aa}	35.5 ± 3.4^{Ab}	38.5 ± 5.3^{Ab}	
	30	41.0 ± 2.1^{Cc}	25.5 ± 2.4^{Cc}	$28.7{\pm}3.4^{\rm Bb}$	$36.0{\pm}3.5^{\text{Ab}}$	23.7 ± 3.5^{Ac}	25.5 ± 4.0^{Ac}	

Table 16. Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of *Ocimum* species under greenhouse

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

Table 17 shows that a controlled trial under a plant growth chamber also demonstrated the negative effect of drought on the plant height and canopy diameter of two basil species. The pooled mean of the years revealed that both species exhibited a 20% reduction in plant height and canopy diameter

when the soil water capacity was low (30% SWC). Additionally, moderate drought stress resulted in a narrow canopy of 4.0% and 8.0% in *O. americanum* and *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', respectively. Table 17. Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of *Ocimum* species under

plant growth chamber conditionsSWCPlant height (cm)Canopy diameter (cm)Species(%)2021202220212022

	SWC	F lant ne	igitt (cill)	Callopy ula	
Species	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022
O. basilicum 'Ohře'	70	54.1±6.3 ^{Aa}	58.4 ± 3.9^{Aa}	27.2 ± 3.4^{Ba}	22.4 ± 3.6^{Aa}
	50	50.5 ± 3.4^{Aa}	$51.0{\pm}4.0^{Ab}$	24.9 ± 6.8^{Ba}	$20.6 \pm 1.4^{\text{Bab}}$
	30	41.5±3.2 ^{Ab}	42.9±2.3 ^{Ac}	23.2 ± 3.3^{Ba}	17.7±1.8 ^{Ac}
O. americanum	70	$35.5{\pm}4.4^{Ba}$	34.7 ± 5.2^{Ba}	41.6±4.2 ^{Aa}	$23.4{\pm}3.7^{Aa}$
	50	$31.1 \pm 5.3^{\text{Bab}}$	$32.5 \pm 2.8^{\text{Bab}}$	35.9 ± 3.3^{Aab}	24.9 ± 2.2^{Aa}
	30	27.7 ± 3.8^{Bb}	29.2 ± 1.7^{Bb}	30.1 ± 5.8^{Ab}	16.2±3.1 ^{Ab}

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.3.2. Leaf area and stem diameter

Changes in the soil water regime significantly influenced the leaf area and stem diameter of basil species in both greenhouse and plant growth chamber experiments (Appendix Tables 2 and 3). Accordingly, Table 18 and Figure 23 indicate that high soil water capacity had a positive effect on leaf area and stem diameter under the greenhouse. These experiments demonstrated that basil species experienced a significant decrease in leaf area and stem diameter due to drought stress. Over three years of production, the reduction in leaf area was more than 50.0%, and stem diameter decreased by 40.0% in severe drought conditions. Moderate drought stress also caused a reduction of over 20.0% in both leaf area and stem diameter, compared to well-watered plants.

	SWC	Le	eaf area (cm ² le	eaf ⁻¹)	Stem diameter (cm)		
Species	(%)	2020	2021	2022	2021	2022	
O. basilicum	70	45.1 ± 12.6^{Aa}	25.4 ± 5.5^{Aa}	$22.0{\pm}4.5^{Aa}$	$8.6{\pm}0.7^{Aa}$	7.9 ± 1.6^{Aa}	
'Genovese'	50	38.3 ± 11.4^{Aa}	23.1 ± 5.4^{Aa}	14.1 ± 3.1^{Ab}	$6.4{\pm}0.5^{\rm Ab}$	$5.4{\pm}0.5^{Ab}$	
	30	22.3 ± 5.8^{Ab}	13.6 ± 7.8^{Ab}	8.6 ± 2.4^{Ac}	$5.0{\pm}0.5^{Ac}$	4.6 ± 0.5^{Ab}	
O. × africanum	70	10.6±2.0 ^{Ba}	$8.6{\pm}0.9^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$15.0{\pm}7.2^{Ba}$	8.6±1.1 ^{Aa}	7.8±1.1 ^{Aa}	
	50	8.2 ± 2.3^{Bb}	5.7 ± 0.8^{Bb}	12.9 ± 2.9^{Aa}	$6.8 {\pm} 0.7^{\rm Ab}$	$5.9{\pm}0.5^{\rm Ab}$	
	30	5.5 ± 1.5^{Bc}	$3.3\pm0.8^{\mathrm{Bc}}$	6.1 ± 2.0^{Bb}	5.2 ± 0.5^{Ac}	4.4 ± 0.9^{Ac}	
O. americanum	70	11.8±3.5 ^{Ba}	$8.1{\pm}1.3^{\text{Ba}}$	7.3±2.1 ^{Ca}	9.2±1.0 ^{Aa}	$5.2{\pm}0.9^{\text{Ba}}$	
	50	$8.8{\pm}2.4^{\text{Bb}}$	5.6 ± 1.2^{Bb}	$4.4{\pm}1.0^{Bb}$	$5.5\pm0.7^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$4.3{\pm}0.9^{\text{Ba}}$	
	30	5.5 ± 1.3^{Bc}	$3.4{\pm}1.0^{Bc}$	2.6 ± 1.0^{Cb}	$4.4{\pm}0.4^{\mathrm{Bc}}$	2.6 ± 1.0^{Bb}	

Table 18. Effect of water supply on leaf area and stem diameter of *Ocimum* species under greenhouse growing condition in 2020 to 2022

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.



O. basilicum 'Genovese'O. africanumFigure 23. Effect of drought stress on leaf growth of Ocimum species. a: 70%; b:50%; c:30% SWC
(Photo: Mulugeta, 2020)

Similar to the greenhouse experiment, the growth chamber experiment with basil plants also revealed that as the soil water content declined (as indicated in Table 19), the leaves of the plants became smaller, and the stems became thinner. In particular, *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' plants cultivated with lower moisture levels (30% SWC) experienced a significant loss of more than 40.0% of their leaf area. The reduction was even more pronounced in *O. americanum* plants, exceeding 50.0%. Additionally, both species of *Ocimum* exhibited a reduction of 36.0% in leaf area under moderate stress conditions. During severe drought conditions, both species showed a 20.0% reduction in stem diameter, according to the aggregate mean. In contrast, under moderate stress, both basil species showed a reduction of over 12.0% in stem diameter.

	SWC	Leaf area ($cm^2 leaf^1$)		Stem diameter (cm)	
Species	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022
O. basilicum 'Ohře'	70	$9.6{\pm}2.8^{Aa}$	16.4±2.7 ^{Aa}	5.1±0.1 ^{Aa}	4.5 ± 0.2^{Aa}
	50	7.2 ± 1.5^{Ab}	7.8 ± 1.1^{Ab}	4.4 ± 0.3^{Ab}	4.0 ± 0.2^{Ab}
	30	5.2±1.3 ^{Ac}	7.3 ± 1.3^{Ab}	3.7 ± 0.3^{Ac}	3.1 ± 0.2^{Ac}
O. americanum	70	$8.6{\pm}2.3^{\text{Ba}}$	$11.2{\pm}1.5^{Ba}$	4.1 ± 0.5^{Ba}	$2.9{\pm}0.5^{\text{Ba}}$
	50	4.9 ± 1.8^{Bb}	7.9 ± 1.1^{Ab}	$3.3 \pm 0.3^{\text{Bab}}$	$2.7 \pm 0.3^{\text{Bab}}$
	30	$3.6{\pm}1.2^{\text{Bb}}$	4.3 ± 1.3^{Bc}	$2.9\pm0.2^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$2.3{\pm}0.1^{Bb}$

Table 19. Effect of water supply on plant height and canopy diameter of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber conditions

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups in columns. Capital letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.3.3. Fresh and dry herb yield

Multiple experiments in open fields, greenhouse, and plant growth chambers showed that basil herb production (fresh and dry) was significantly influenced by soil moisture level as shown in Appendix Tables 1, 2, and 3. In addition to soil moisture levels, the type of basil species being grown and the

year of production both greatly influence herb production. Regardless of the basil species or the production year, it has been observed that lower soil water capacity leads to herb production reduction. The specific responses of each basil species to drought conditions, depending on the respective growing conditions, are thoroughly discussed below. In the open-field experiment, a notable reduction in herb yield was observed due to the absence of irrigation (Table 20).

Table 20. Effect of irrigation on herb production among *Ocimum* species in 2020 to 2022 (open field)

	TR	Fresh h	nerb yield (g pl	ant ⁻¹)	Dry herb yield (g plant ⁻¹)		
Species	Т	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022
O. basilicum	Ι	389.6±155.7 ^{Ab}	180.1 ± 28.4^{A}	379.7 ± 97.7^{Aa}	63.7±24.2 ^{Ab}	38.4 ± 6.5^{A}	74.4 ± 16.7^{Aa}
'Ohře'	NI	284.7±133.6 ^{Bb}	142.4±43.9 ^B	221.22±6 ^{Ba}	54.2±24.3 ^{Ab}	32.1 ± 7.2^{B}	39.1 ± 10.5^{Ba}
O. basilicum	Ι	616.3 ± 52.0^{Aa}	157.8±31.9 ^{Aa}	273.8±53.0 ^{Aab}	115.8 ± 12.0^{Aa}	$34.7 \pm 6.4^{\text{A}}$	51.0 ± 10.2^{Ab}
'Genovese'	NI	474.3 ± 77.9^{Ba}	118.0 ± 26.1^{B}	192.2±64.5 ^{вь}	92.8 ± 15.4^{Ba}	26.9 ± 5.2^{B}	$32.9\pm9.8^{\text{Bab}}$
<i>O</i> . ×	Ι	268.3 ± 118.9^{Abc}	142.7 ± 57.5^{Aa}	269.0±37.4 ^{Ab}	50.6 ± 19.0^{Abc}	$42.2 \pm 19.0^{\text{A}}$	67.7 ± 7.5^{Aa}
africanum	NI	126.1±83.4 ^{ва}	108.1 ± 79.2^{B}	$164.0 \pm 47.8^{\text{Babc}}$	26.6 ± 15.4^{Bc}	32.2 ± 17.4^{B}	38.0 ± 10.8^{Ba}
0	T	230 2+56 8Acd	146 0+30 1 ^{Aa}	214 8+51 7Ab	38 7+13 7Ac	15 0 ⊥8 5A	13 3+0 0Abc
O.	I NI	250.2 ± 50.8 165 7 ± 40.5 Bcd	140.9 ± 30.1 07 7±65 8 ^B	214.0 ± 31.7 152 7 \pm 22 0 ^{Bbc}	33.7 ± 13.2 $27.7\pm0.2Bc$	43.9 ± 0.3 20.7 $\pm16.5^{B}$	$+5.5 \pm 9.9$ 25 1 ± 5 QBab
americanum	111	103.7±49.5	97.7±03.8	132.7=33.9	21.1±9.5	30.7±10.3	55.4±5.8
O. sanctum	Ι	281.0±71.7 ^{Abc}	85.0±30.3 ^{Ab}	134.8±11.6 ^{Ac}	50.0±10.5 ^{Abc}	32.4±11.3 ^A	32.0±2.9 ^{Ac}
	NI	250.3±99.8 ^{Abc}	82.9 ± 28.8^{A}	111.2±14.7 ^{Bc}	45.5±15.1 ^{Abc}	30.6±9.9 ^A	24.3±5.7 ^{Bb}
O. selloi	Ι	$114.7 \pm 44.5^{\text{Ad}}$	-	-	29.2 ± 6.4^{Ac}	-	-
	NI	$112.0 \pm 38.8^{\text{Ad}}$	-	-	25.3 ± 6.3^{Bc}	-	-

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, TRT: Treatment; I-Irrigated; NI: non-irrigated (control); Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between drought stress under fixed species and small letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress.

The reduction in fresh herb yield ranges between 2.7 g plant⁻¹ (2.3%) for *O. selloi* to 100.0 g plant⁻¹ (39.0%) for *O.* × *africanum*. Even though the impact of drought is dependent upon several factors, such as its intensity, duration, soil conditions, species, and others, the drier the soil is, the lower the biomass yield. The basil species showed considerable diversity in biomass, alongside the influence of drought. Irrespective of the soil moisture level, the sweet basil cultivars, specifically 'Genovese' and 'Ohře', produced the highest fresh and dried herb yield. The pooled mean of the years showed that 'Genovese' plants cultivated with irrigation produced an average fresh herb yield of 349.3 g plant⁻¹. This was followed by the cultivar 'Ohře', which yielded 316.0 g of fresh herb per plant. However, *Ocimum selloi* plants had a slow growth and their productivity was relatively low compared to the other species. These plants generated less than 115 g of fresh herb yield per plant. Furthermore, the year 2020 showed a higher biomass yield, presumably resulting from weather

fluctuations and variability in soil properties as indicated in Tables 2 and 3 under the material and method section.

Basil's sensitivity to moisture stress was also evident in the greenhouse trial, in which both moderate and severe drought stresses resulted in significant biomass losses as illustrated in Table 21 and Figure 24. When the soil moisture content was much lower (30% SWC), the fresh herb yield loss ranged from 65.0% for *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' to 73.0% for *O.* × *africanum* plants, as indicated by the pooled mean of the years. Under moderate drought stress, the fresh herb yield loss varied between 38.7% to 52.2% for *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' and *O.* × *africanum* plants, respectively. Similarly, each basil species experienced a 45.0% to 70.0% reduction in dry herb yield when exposed to moderate and severe drought stresses, respectively. Furthermore, each basil species responded differently to fluctuations in soil moisture, with *O.* × *africanum* plants being highly influenced by the year of production due to weather fluctuations, as observed in Tables 2 and 3. The maximum biomass was obtained in the first year (2020), while the third year resulted in the lowest biomass production across all species.

Species	SW	Fresh	herb weight (g p	lant ⁻¹)	Dry herb weight (g plant ⁻¹)			
	С	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022	
	(%)							
О.	70	344.7±44.3 ^{Aa}	211.9±24.3 ^{ABa}	161.0 ± 37.4^{Ba}	75.3 ± 4.5^{Aa}	63.5 ± 6.4^{Aa}	74.1 ± 8.2^{Aa}	
basilicum	50	279.0 ± 9.9^{Ab}	144.2±17.0 ^{Ab}	55.7±10.9 ^{Ab}	58.0 ± 3.8^{Ab}	30.4 ± 3.1^{Ab}	16.5 ± 5.8^{Ab}	
'Genovese'	30	169.9±19.5 ^{Ac}	78.1±9.5 ^{Ac}	29.5±2.3 ^{Ab}	34.9±1.7 ^{Ac}	13.9±1.5 ^{Ac}	7.5 ± 0.8^{Ac}	
<i>O</i> . ×	70	212.3±41.0 ^{Ca}	$193.0{\pm}16.8^{Ba}$	220.7 ± 31.5^{Aa}	49.7 ± 3.3^{Ca}	$35.9{\pm}4.0^{Ca}$	$69.0{\pm}5.8^{\text{Aa}}$	
africanum	50	134.8 ± 30.8^{Cb}	101.6 ± 8.4^{Bb}	60.2 ± 8.5^{Ab}	38.1 ± 2.5^{Bb}	21.1 ± 1.7^{Bb}	20.7 ± 4.4^{Ab}	
U	30	93.7±14.5 ^{Bc}	47.5 ± 7.5^{Bc}	29.5±3.3 ^{Ac}	26.3 ± 1.3^{Bc}	9.9 ± 1.6^{Bc}	7.6 ± 7.6^{Ac}	
О.	70	217.4 ± 25.2^{Ba}	228.0±18.7 ^{Aa}	113.2±13.7 ^{Ca}	65.2 ± 3.7^{Ba}	46.7 ± 1.5^{Ba}	77.5 ± 6.7^{Aa}	
americanu	50	191.2±24.5 ^{Bb}	11.0 ± 14.7^{Bb}	53.7 ± 5.7^{Ab}	56.7 ± 2.0^{Ab}	29.2 ± 4.1^{Ab}	17.5 ± 2.1^{Ab}	
т	30	97.5±11.0 ^{Bc}	42.6±15.7 ^{Bc}	29.2 ± 3.0^{Ac}	31.1 ± 2.3^{ABc}	10.1 ± 3.6^{Bc}	6.9±1.2 ^{Ac}	

Table 21. Effect of water supply on herb production of *Ocimum* species under greenhouse pot experiment

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.



Figure 24. Effect of drought stress on the growth of *Ocimum* species in three consecutive years under greenhouse pot experiment (Photo: Mulugeta, 2020-2022)

Further investigation conducted in the plant growth chamber also revealed a significant (p<0.01) variation in biomass production among the different soil moisture levels and the tested basil species (see Appendix Table 3 and Table 22). Among them, *Ocimum basilicum* 'Ohře' plants displayed robust growth and higher biomass production, irrespective of soil water levels. However, when exposed to severe drought stress, *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' plants lost more than 40.0% of their fresh and dry herb weight, while *O. americanum* plants experienced a more substantial reduction of over 50.0%. Despite *O. americanum* plants having a broader canopy, their growth was less sturdy than that of other species. Additionally, biomass production differed between different years, with higher production observed in the first year. This variation in growth among species can be attributed to genetics. In contrast, differences between production years could partly be linked to fluctuations in soil chemical properties, as indicated in Table 3. The soil media mixture in the first year had a higher concentration of macro- and micronutrients.

	SWC	Fresh herb v	Fresh herb weight (g plant ⁻¹)		eight (g plant ⁻¹)
Species	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022
O. basilicum 'Ohře'	70	$34.5{\pm}3.2^{Aa}$	$39.5{\pm}2.8^{Aa}$	$6.2{\pm}0.7^{Aa}$	6.5 ± 0.9^{Aa}
	50	26.3 ± 2.7^{Ab}	34.0 ± 1.6^{Ab}	4.6 ± 0.5^{Ab}	$5.4{\pm}0.3^{Ab}$
	30	18.5±1.9 ^{Ac}	24.5 ± 1.7^{Ac}	3.1 ± 0.6^{Ac}	$3.0{\pm}0.4^{Ac}$
O. americanum	70	$29.8{\pm}4.4^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$20.8{\pm}3.4^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$5.3{\pm}1.7^{\text{Ba}}$	$2.7{\pm}0.5^{\mathrm{Ba}}$
	50	23.3 ± 3.6^{Bb}	11.8 ± 1.4^{Bb}	3.7 ± 0.9^{Bb}	2.1 ± 0.2^{Bb}
	30	15.2 ± 3.4^{Bc}	5.7 ± 1.3^{Bc}	$1.7{\pm}0.4^{\rm Bc}$	1.1 ± 0.2^{Bc}

Table 22. Effect of water supply on biomass production of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber pot experiment

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.3.4. Glandular hair density

The essential oil of the *Ocimum* species is bio-synthesized and stored in a structure called glandular trichomes or essential oil glands found on the leaf, stem, and flower of the *Ocimum* species (Werker *et al.*, 1993, Maurya *et al.*, 2019). Through experiments conducted in a greenhouse and plant growth chamber, it was found that the density of glandular hairs was significantly influenced by factors such as the amount of water supplied, the species of *Ocimum*, and the year in which the plants were produced as indicated on Appendix Tables 2 and 3. The greenhouse experiment revealed that *Ocimum* plants experienced an increase in glandular hair density (GHD) when subjected to moderate and severe drought treatments (as shown in Figure 25). For *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' and *O. americanum*, the increase in GHD due to severe drought ranged from 32.8% to 107.6%, respectively. In moderate drought, the increase ranged from 23.5% (*O. basilicum* 'Genovese') to 32.0% (*O. americanum*). In each consecutive years, *O. × africanum* had the greatest densities of glandular hairs, ranging from 869.4 to 2292.5 units per 100 mm², which varied depending on the soil water capacity and year of production. There were substantial variations between the years. Specifically, in the third year under severe drought stress treatment, each plant had the highest GHD.


Figure 25. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of three Ocimum species under greenhouse

Similarly, the same trend was observed in the plant growth chamber experiment as well (Figures 26 and 27). The results showed that water supply significantly affected the glandular hair densities of both *Ocimum* species. It was vividly noted that the intensity of drought enhanced the density of glandular trichomes of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum* (second year). In addition to water supply, variations in glandular trichomes were observed between species and the production years. Compared to the control, severe drought stress enhanced glandular hair density in a range of 17.0 to 74.0%. Between the species, *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' had relatively higher glandular hair densities in both years.



Figure 26. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum* under plant growth chamber



O. americanum

Figure 27. Effect of drought stress on glandular hair density of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber in 2021

4.4. Biochemical response of *Ocimum* species under drought

Secondary compounds accumulation in *Ocimum* species are influenced by an intricate interplay of several factors, including genetics, environmental conditions, and processing methods. Among these factors, drought stress has a considerable impact on the physiological and biochemical responses of medicinal plants, leading to changes in their secondary metabolism and hindering overall plant growth. To gain a deeper understanding of drought-induced biochemical changes among selected *Ocimum* species, a series of multi-year experiments were conducted across different microclimates. The following sub-section discusses the outcomes and findings of these extensive experiments.

4.4.1. Essential oil content and essential oil yield

Studies across different microclimates (open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chamber) demonstrated water supply, the type of basil species and production year significantly affect the essential oil content (EOC) and yield (EOY) as presented in Appendix Table 1 to 3.

Hence, a three-year open field experiment showed drought stress-induced changes on EOC are species-dependent (Table 23). Consequently, drought stress led to a notable increase in the EOC of O. basilicum 'Genovese' by 13.0%, O. × africanum plants by 22.6%, and a substantial 27% elevation in the EOC of O. selloi. However, no significant differences were observed in the other species across each growing year. Whereas EOY declined under drought treatment depending on the years of production and the basil species. In 2021, the drought stress adversely impacted essential oil production in O. sanctum, while in 2022, O. basilicum 'Ohře' and O. × africanum were negatively affected by the dry soil, leading to reduced yields. Besides drought, the Ocimum genus is well-known for its extensive chemical diversity, including essential oil. A comprehensive analysis of basil species revealed a significant variation in essential oil production. Based on the average of a three-year study, $O_{\cdot} \times a fricanum$ grown under irrigation conditions demonstrated exceptional EOC (3.2%) and yield (1.8 mL plant⁻¹) compared to the other studied species. The sweet basil cultivar 'Ohře' also showed high EOC and EOY, while the remaining species produced less than 1.0% of EOC and 1.0 mL of EOY per plant. The result also showed that in the year 2020, there was a noticeable increase in EOC and EOY than the other years due to the fluctuation in weather conditions and soil properties (Tables 2 and 3).

Species	TRT	Ess	ential oil cont	tent (%)	Essentia	l oil yield (mI	_ plant ⁻¹)
		2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022
O. basilicum	Ι	2.1 ± 0.4^{Ab}	1.3 ± 0.2^{Ab}	$1.2{\pm}0.1^{Ab}$	$1.3{\pm}0.5^{Aa}$	0.5 ± 0.1^{Ab}	$0.9{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ab}$
'Ohře'	NI	2.0 ± 0.2^{Ac}	1.3 ± 0.3^{Ab}	1.2 ± 0.3^{Ab}	$0.8{\pm}0.3^{\text{Aab}}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ab}$	$0.5{\pm}0.1^{\text{Bb}}$
O. basilicum	Ι	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{\rm Bd}$	$0.8{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ac}$	0.5 ± 0.2^{Bc}	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{Ab}$	$0.3{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ab}$	0.3±0.1 ^{Ac}
'Genovese'	NI	$0.8{\pm}0.1^{Ae}$	0.9 ± 0.2^{Ab}	$0.7{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Abc}}$	$0.7{\pm}0.2^{Ab}$	0.3 ± 0.1^{Ab}	0.2 ± 0.1^{Abc}
<i>O</i> . ×	Ι	$3.7{\pm}0.2^{Ba}$	$3.2{\pm}0.5^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	2.8±0.0 ^{Ba}	1.3±0.4 ^{Aa}	1.9±0.8 ^{Aa}	2.0±0.11 ^{Aa}
africanum	NI	4.1 ± 0.3^{Aa}	$3.9{\pm}0.1^{Aa}$	$2.9{\pm}0.3^{Aa}$	$1.5{\pm}0.9^{Aa}$	1.6±0.3 ^{Aa}	$1.1{\pm}0.2^{\text{Ba}}$
О.	Ι	1.1±0.1 ^{Ac}	0.7±0.1 ^{Ac}	$0.7{\pm}0.2^{\rm Ac}$	$0.4{\pm}0.2^{Ab}$	0.3±0.0 ^{Ab}	$0.3{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ac}$
americanum	NI	$1.1{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ad}$	$0.9{\pm}0.3^{\mathrm{Ab}}$	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ac}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ab}}$	$0.3{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ab}}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Abc}}$
O. sanctum	Ι	$0.8{\pm}0.0^{ m Acd}$	$1.0\pm0.1^{ m Abc}$	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ac}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{Ab}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ab}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ac}$
	NI	$0.9{\pm}0.0^{Ae}$	$1.0\pm0.0^{\mathrm{Ab}}$	$0.7{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Abc}}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{Ab}$	$0.3{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ac}$
0 selloi	T	1 9+0 3 ^{Bb}	_	_	0 5+0 1 ^{Ab}	_	_
0. 501101	NI	2.6 ± 0.1^{Ab}	-	-	0.6 ± 0.2^{Ab}	-	-

Table 23. Effect of irrigation on essential oil production of *Ocimum* species in open field conditions in 2020 to 2022

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, TRT: Treatment; I-Irrigated; NI: non-irrigated (Control); Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between drought stress under fixed species and small letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress.

In the greenhouse experiments, the effect of drought stress on the EOC was observed to be dependent on the intensity of the drought, the tested basil species, and the year in which they were cultivated (Table 24). Consequently, compared to the control severe drought stress increased (>25.0%) the EOC of O. × *africanum* in 2021 and 2022. However, it reduced O. *americanum*'s EOC by more than 15.0% in both 2020 and 2021. In addition, moderate drought stress negatively affected EOC for 'Genovese' in 2020 and O. *americanum* in 2022. No significant changes were observed in the remaining treatments. However, both moderate and severe drought stresses had a negative effect on the EOY of all basil species in each consecutive year. The yield reduction of essential oils under severe drought stress conditions ranges from 74.0% (O. × *africanum*) to 84.0% (O. *americanum*). Whereas a moderate drought resulted in a 50.0% decline in O. × *africanum* and 62% in O. *basilicum* 'Genovese'. When the rate of decrease in biomass versus the rate of increase in EOC is compared, drought stress-connected genuine increase of EO production is detected contrary to the unsatisfactory result for the practical aspects of cultivation (e.g., lower drug and EO yields). Table 24. Effect of water supply on essential oil content and essential oil yield of *Ocimum* species under greenhouse pot experiment

Species	SWC	Ess	ential oil cont	ent (%)	Essential oil yield (mL plant ⁻¹)					
	(%)	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022			
O. basilicum	70	$1.2{\pm}0.5^{Ba}$	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{Ca}$	$0.5{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$0.8{\pm}0.3^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$0.3{\pm}0.0^{Ca}$	$0.4{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Ba}}$			
'Genovese'	50	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{Bb}$	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{Ca}$	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ba}}$	$0.3{\pm}0.1^{Bb}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{Cb}$	$0.1{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Bb}}$			
	30	$0.7{\pm}0.3^{\text{Bab}}$	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ba}}$	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ba}}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{\text{Bb}}$	$0.1{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Bc}}$	$0.1{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Bb}}$			
<i>O</i> . ×	70	2.8±0.6 ^{Aa}	2.8±0.3 ^{Aa}	3.0±0.1 ^{Ab}	1.3±0.3 ^{Aa}	0.9±0.2 ^{Aa}	2.0±0.1 ^{Aa}			
africanum	50	$2.7{\pm}0.2^{Aa}$	$3.3{\pm}0.3^{Aa}$	3.1 ± 0.1^{Ab}	$1.0{\pm}0.2^{Ab}$	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ab}$	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{\rm Ab}$			
	30	$2.7{\pm}0.1^{Aa}$	$3.7{\pm}0.8^{\text{Aa}}$	$3.8{\pm}0.3^{Aa}$	0.7 ± 0.1^{Ac}	$0.4{\pm}0.0^{\text{Ab}}$	$0.3{\pm}0.0^{\rm Ac}$			
О.	70	$0.7{\pm}0.1^{\text{Ba}}$	1.5±0.1 ^{Ba}	$0.6{\pm}0.1^{Ba}$	0.4±0.1 ^{Ca}	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$0.4{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Ba}}$			
americanum	50	$0.8{\pm}0.1^{Ba}$	1.6 ± 0.3^{Ba}	$0.5{\pm}0.0^{\mathrm{Bb}}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{Ba}$	$0.4{\pm}0.1^{Bb}$	$0.1{\pm}0.0^{\text{Bb}}$			
	30	0.5 ± 0.1^{Cb}	$1.3{\pm}0.2^{\text{Bb}}$	$0.6{\pm}0.0^{Ba}$	$0.2{\pm}0.0^{Cb}$	0.1 ± 0.0^{Bc}	$0.1{\pm}0.0^{Bb}$			

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

Furthermore, the water supply also significantly affected the EOC and EOY of basil species tested under the plant growth chamber (Table 25). Both species had a slight rise in EOC under drought stress. However, the loss of EOY was much greater than the minor increase in EOC under moderate and severe drought stresses. Accordingly, the EOC rise ranges from 6.0% (moderate drought stress) to over 10.0% (severe drought stress). When drought conditions were severe, basil plants suffered a

45.0% EOY loss. Under moderate drought stress, EOY loss ranged from 10.0% for *O. americanum* to 22.5% for *O. basilicum* 'Ohře'.

Table 25. Effect of water supply on essential oil-related parameters of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber condition

	SWC	Essential oil	content (%)	Essential oil yie	eld (mL plant ⁻¹)
Species	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022
O. basilicum 'Ohře'	70	$1.92{\pm}0.00^{Ab}$	$1.37{\pm}0.12^{Aa}$	$0.12{\pm}0.01^{Aa}$	$0.10{\pm}0.01^{Aa}$
	50	2.03 ± 0.10^{Aab}	$1.45{\pm}0.06^{Aa}$	0.09 ± 0.01^{Ab}	$0.08 {\pm} 0.01^{\rm Ab}$
	30	2.10±0.10 ^{Aa}	1.51 ± 0.16^{Aa}	$0.07{\pm}0.01^{\rm Ab}$	0.05 ± 0.01^{Ac}
O. americanum	70	$0.89{\pm}0.11^{Ba}$	$0.70{\pm}0.03^{\rm Bb}$	$0.05{\pm}0.00^{\mathrm{Ba}}$	$0.02{\pm}0.01^{Ba}$
	50	$0.89{\pm}0.16^{Ba}$	$0.80{\pm}0.06^{\text{Bb}}$	$0.04{\pm}0.01^{Bb}$	$0.02{\pm}0.00^{\mathrm{Bab}}$
	30	$1.02{\pm}0.06^{Ba}$	$0.93{\pm}0.04^{\text{Ba}}$	$0.03{\pm}0.01^{\text{Bb}}$	$0.01{\pm}0.01^{\text{Bb}}$

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil Water Capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups in columns. Capital letters to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species.

4.4.2. Essential oil composition

An extensive investigation spanning multiple years was undertaken to explore the impact of drought stress on the essential oil compounds of different *Ocimum* species. This comprehensive investigation was conducted under a range of environmental conditions, including open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chambers. Despite variations in the proportions of the main compounds observed among *Ocimum* species, the production year, the cultivation environment, and the severity of drought, the findings of this in-depth study highlighted a significant diversity in the essential oil compositions of the examined basil species. Detailed results and analyses are provided in Tables 26 to 32.

Tables 27 and 28 specifically illustrate the influence of drought stress on essential oil composition for five *Ocimum* species cultivated in an open field setting. Notably, the investigated *Ocimum* species generally had more than 40 compounds, with the exception of *O. selloi* and *O. sanctum*, which had fewer than 25 identified compounds in total. For the better transparency the components under 1 area percentage were merged under the "others <1%" category. Among *O. basilicum* cultivars, namely 'Ohře' and 'Genovese', linalool emerged as the major compound, constituting over 40.0% of the essential oil composition. Additionally, *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' plants exhibited higher ratios of geraniol (>10.0%) alongside linalool. In contrast, *O. × africanum* displayed limonene (13.3 – 16.2%), camphor (8.0 – 25.1%) and 1,8-cineole (27.5 – 38.0%) as its main compounds, while *O. americanum* essential oil had higher concentrations of nerol (10.0%), linalool (8.8 - 22.6%), and citral (29.6 – 42.5%). Elemicin (28.0 – 39.4%) and methyl eugenol (32.2 – 37.0%) ratios were the major compounds in *O. selloi*. Meanwhile, *O. sanctum* had eugenol (30.7 – 50.3%) and *trans*- β -caryophyllene (26.4 – 38.5%) as its main compounds. Although the composition ratio varies depending on the species, water supply and production year, the essential oil of *O. basilicum* cultivars (Ohře and Genovese), *O. × africanum* and *O. americanum* were mainly composed oxygenated monoterpenes (>50%). However, the essential oils of *O. selloi* were primarily based on phenylpropanoid derivatives (over 65%). Meanwhile, *O. sanctum* had sesquiterpene (>40%) and phenylpropanoid (>40%).

This detailed analysis provides valuable insights into the responses of different *Ocimum* species to drought stress, shedding light on the intricate interplay of environmental and genetic factors in shaping their essential oil compositions. Despite the annual fluctuations and diversity observed, the average data for each year indicated that drought stress did not exert a substantial impact on the essential oil composition of the respective *Ocimum* species. Nonetheless, a minor increase in the ratios of linalool and eugenol was observed under conditions of irrigation treatment. Furthermore, non-irrigated plants *O. selloi* had higher methyl eugenol ratios (41% more). While drought stress had an adverse impact on the oxygenated monoterpene ratios of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', *O. americanum*, and *O. × africanum*, it had a positive effect on phenylpropanes in *O. selloi* and *O. sanctum*. Notably, Phenylpropanes exhibited the highest ratios of essential oil content under drought conditions for these particular species.

				<i>O</i> . <i>I</i>	basilicı	ım 'Ohi	ře'			O. ba	silicum	i 'Geno	vese'		<i>O</i> . <i>s</i>	selloi
Components	RT	LRI	20	20	20	21	20	22	20	20	20	21	20	22	20	020
			Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI
1,8-cineole	8.38	1034	1.5	1.2	2.8	3.5	5.2	4.7	6.7	8.5	6.4	8.9	8.9	10.9	8.0	6.9
<i>trans</i> -β-ocimene	8.85														5.6	6.1
linalool	10.76	1097	50.1	52.0	43.2	40.7	57.5	40.9	53.3	48.6	40.8	41.0	47.2	50.2		
camphor	12.68	1144	0.1	0.1			0.3	0.3	0.9	0.7			0.8	0.6	2.8	0.2
α-terpineol	14.55	1189	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.6	1.0	1.2	0.2	0.3	1.1	1.3		
estragole	14.83	1196											11.5	0.1		
geraniol	17.30	1252	15.1	18.8	16.6	10.7	1	12.2			0.4	0.2	0.1			
eugenol	21.44	1361	1.0	0.8	0.7	1.4	0.8	0.5	3.1	4.6	2.3	2.5	1.4	1.8		
β-elemene	22.55	1391	1.4	1.2	4.8	5.4	2.9	3.2	0.7	0.5	3.3	2.0	1.6	1.4		
methyl eugenol	23.31	1411													28.0	39.4
trans-ß-caryophyllene	23.68	1419	1.0	1.2			0.6	0.7	0.3	0.2			0.3	0.2	5.3	4.0
trans-a-bergamotene	24.36	1437	2.7	0.2	0.1	0.2	2.0	4.3	3.7	6.9	4.8	6.4	5.4	6.8		
germacrene D	26.18	1482	3.2	2.8	2.7	3.1	2.0	1.9	2.8	2.0	4.2	2.7	2.7	2.1	2.1	1.6
δ-guaiene,	27.18	1506	3.5	3.1					2.1	1.6						
α-bulnesene	27.48	1506					1.3	1.7					1.5	1.4		
cis-y-cadinene	27.80	1515	2.8	2.4	2.4	2.9	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.0	3.4	2.5	2.4	2.6		
elemicin	29.30	1555													37.0	32.2
1,10-di-epi-cubenole	31.36	1621	1.0	1.1					1.2	1.1						
tau-cadinol	32.26	1644	8.1	8.8	9.7	11.2	7.5	7.0	9.2	7.8	10.0	8.8	7.9	7.9		
others (< 1%)			6.6	5.6	13.7	17.9	6.0	17.5	9.7	11.4	18.9	20.5	4.8	11.2	7.2	4.2
Total			98.3	99.5	96.8	97.1	98.8	97.6	96.8	97.1	95.7	95.8	97.6	98.5	99.3	99.5
Monoterpenes			0.7	0.7	0.9	1.3	1.1	1.1	1.9	2.6	1.4	2.4	1.9	2.1	8.1	7.9
Oxygenated monoterpen	es		70.6	75.3	65.3	59.6	75.0	60.4	66.1	65.9	53.2	58.2	61.3	66.4	11.2	7.5
Sesquiterpenes			18.4	13.8	17.5	20.5	12.9	16.6	16.5	17.2	25.5	20.8	18.0	18.1	15.6	12.2
Oxygenated sesquiterper	nes		9.74	10.8	12.3	13.9	1.0	8.9	11.4	9.7	13.3	11.9	1	10.4	0.9	0.6
Phenylpropanes			0.1	0.1	1.0	1.9	0.8	14.3	0.3	0.2	2.5	2.9	13.2	2.4	64.6	71.6

Table 26. Effect of irrigation of essential oil composition of sweet basil cultivars and Ocimum selloi under open field experiment

RT – retention time. LRI – linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column. I- irrigated and NI- non-irrigated (control).

			0	0	. americ	canum	±				0. × af	ricanum			1		O. sai	nctum		
Components	RT	LRI	20	020	20	21	20	22	2	020	20	021	2022		2020		2021		2022	
			Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI	Ι	NI
α-pinene	5.56	938	0.1	0.1					2.3	2.7										
ß-pinene	6.64	980		0.1	0.1		0.1		3.0	4.0	5.4	5.4	5.7	4.0			0.1			
limonene	8.19	1028	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.1	13.3	15.5	16.2	16.1	16.1	14.1	0.2		0.2			
1,8-cineole	8.38	1034	0.2	0.2	1.9	0.7	2.0	0.1	27.5	35.7	35.4	32.1	38.0	36.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2
linalool	10.76	1097	9.7	8.8	12.6	22.6	22.1	9.4	0.9	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.3
camphor	12.68	1144			1.2	0.2		0.8	25.1	15.3	14.3	9.9	8.0	24.5	0.2	0.3	0.1		0.1	
α-terpineol	14.55	1189	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.6	1.0	0.9	2.8	3.6	4.0	4.8	4.0	2.8						
nerol	16.15	1227	11.2	9.9	11.6	9.3	10.1	10.6												
neral (citral-b)	16.58	1238	17.4	17.7	15.2	10.9	12.8	16.4		0.1										
geraniol	17.20	1252	1.8	1.7	2.2	2.5	2.1	1.3	0.4											
geranial (citral a)	17.86	1268	24.3	24.8	20.3	15.3	16.8	21.7		0.1										
eugenol	21.50	1361			0.1	0.1									30.7	36.0	49.3	50.3	36.4	43.1
ß-elemene	22.90	1391			1.3	2.1	1.1	1.1			0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	2.8	2.7	5.7	6.0	5.7	4.4
methyl eugenol	23.50	1411													9.2	7.8	7.2	3.8	5.6	6.0
<i>trans</i> -β- carvophyllene	23.68	1419	4.1	4.5	4.5	4.2	2.9	4.0	1.1	1.1	1.6	2.1	1.8	1.4	33.6	30.9	26.4	30.6	38.5	31.0
<i>trans</i> -α-	24.36	1437	1.8	2.1	1.7	1.8	1.7	2.5	0.2	0.1		0.1						0.1		
α-humulene	25.07	1454	0.7	0.8	1.6	1.4	0.6	0.9	4.5	4.2	6.4	7.6	6.9	5.7	2.4	2.2	2.0	1.8	2.3	2.1
germacrene D	26.18	1482	1.7	1.8	1.6	2.3	0.7	1.0	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.7	1.6	1.2			0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2
(Z) - α -bisabolene	28.54	1544	4.6	5.1	4.1	4.0	3.3	4.6	1.8	1.30										
caryophyllene	30.20	1590	4.2	4.5	3.0	2.1	5.0	7.0							9.1	11.1	3.2	2.7	4.7	7.0
Others (< 1%)			15.5	16.3	9.7	15.4	11.5	10.8	12.0	10.8	14.4	17.9	15.6	14.7	7.8	6.7	3.5	2.9	5.0	4.3
Total			98.5	99.3	94.3	95.6	93.9	93.2	96.2	96.1	99.1	98.1	98.5	98.9	96.8	98.2	98.8	99.0	99.0	98.6
Monoterpenes Oxygenated monote	rpenes		0.6 70.6	0.7 68.5	1.8 69.9	1.5 65.9	1.0 70.0	0.9 65.7	22.7 61.6	25.9 60.6	26.0 59.9	25.7 54.4	24.5 63.8	27.1 67.2	1.3	0.8	0.4 1.3	0.2 0.8	0.1 0.9	0.1 0.7
Sesquiterpenes	-		15.0	16.6	16.9	20.2	12.5	16.3	13.9	12.4	13.1	18.0	14.3	11.6	43.4	40.2	36.9	41.8	49.9	41.3
Oxygenated sesquite	erpenes		6.4	6.5	5.7	7.7	9.2	9.4	0.2			0.1	0.3	0.1	9.6	11.1	3.7	3.2	6.2	9.0
Phenylpropanes					0.1	0.5	1.5	0.8	0.8	0.7					39.8	45.6	56.6	54.2	42.0	44

Table 27. Effect of irrigation of essential oil composition of three Ocimum species under open field experiment

RT – retention time. LRI – linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column. I- irrigated and NI- non-irrigated (control).

In the greenhouse experiments, over 50 compounds were identified within three distinct *Ocimum* species. Similar major compounds were identified in each species as observed in the open field experiments. However, the ratios of these compounds were significantly influenced by the specific basil species, the severity of drought stress, and the production year of the plants, as detailed in Tables 28, 29, and 30. For instance, table 28 illustrates that the main compounds identified for 'Genovese' included linalool (ranging from 30.7 to 61.2%), 1,8-cineole (in a range of 8.0 to 23.1%), *trans-* α -bergamotene (3.8 to 7.6%), and tau-cadinol (5.0 to 10.5%). In the initial two years, drought stress did not exert a significant impact on the linalool and 1,8-cineole ratios of 'Genovese'. However, in the third year, under severe drought conditions, there was a slight enhancement in the ratios of linalool and 1,8-cineole.

Table 28. Effect of water supply on essential oil composition of *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' under greenhouse pot experiment

				2020			2021		2022		
Component	RT	LRI	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%
limonene	8.31	1029	2.3	0.4	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.5
1,8-cineole	8.44	1034	9.5	8.5	9.4	9.3	8.2	10.1	8.0	9.0	23.1
linalool	10.88	1097	35.0	38.5	35.2	61.2	58.0	55.0	44.5	30.7	51.9
camphor	12.69	1144	9.5	1.2	1.1	0.8	0.5	0.5	1.0	2.4	0.5
α-terpineol	14.55	1189	1.4	1.6	1.5	0.9	1.0	1.0		1.8	1.2
isobornyl acetate	18.52	1284	1.8	2.9	3.8	1.3	2.2	1.5	3.3	4.0	5.3
eugenol	21.49	1361	3.5	2.6	2.4	2.1	1.1	0.8	3.5	3.8	0.6
ß-elemene	22.92	1391	0.8	1.2	1.0	1.0	1.2	1.5	0.5	1.3	0.1
trans-a-											
bergamotene	24.69	1437	3.8	5.0	6.8	5.5	7.6	5.5	4.8	7.5	4.0
α-guaiene	24.81	1439	0.7	1.1	0.9	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	
α-humulene	25.38	1454	1.3	1.1	1.0	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.9	1.4	0.1
germacrene D	26.49	1482	2.6	3.9	3.6	2.0	2.6	2.5	2.9	3.4	0.9
δ-guaiene	27.18	1507	2.3	3.6	3.1						
α-bulnesene	27.48	1506				1.2	1.4	1.8	2.4	2.5	0.3
<i>cis-</i> γ-cadinene	27.80	1515	2.4	3.7	3.3	2.1	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.8	0.9
(Z) - α -bisabolene	28.54	1544	1.7	0.1	0.1						
palustrol	29.77	1562							1.5	1.7	
tau-cadinol	32.62	1644	6.5	10.5	9.5	6.8	7.5	8.6	9.5	10.0	5.0
others (<1%)			11.5	11.0	13.2	3.4	3.9	6.2	12.0	12.6	3.0
Total			96.6	96.9	96.5	98.5	98.8	98.9	98.3	97.0	97.4
Monoterpenes			5.7	1.8	3.0	1.1	1.3	2.1	2.4	2.6	
Oxygenated mono	oterpenes		62.3	54.1	51.9	73.1	68.4	67.4	59.2	49.5	82.6
Sesquiterpenes			20.0	25.9	25.7	14.5	17.9	16.9	18.5	25.8	6.3
Oxygenated sesqu	uiterpenes		8.4	13.1	11.8	8.6	9.0	9.9	14.5	14.9	5.1
Phenylpropanes			0.3	0.4	0.5	2.3	1.2	1.0	3.9	4.7	0.6

RT - retention time. LRI - linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

The essential oil composition of O. × *africanum* was highly heterogenous and influenced by drought intensity and the year of production (Table 29). On average the EOC is mainly composed of monoterpenes (20%) and oxygenated monoterpenes (65%).

Table 29. The effect of water supply on essential oil composition of *Ocimum* \times *africanum* under greenhouse pot experiment

				2020			2021			2022	
Component	RT	LRI	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%
α-pinene	5.58	938	1.7	2.5	2.6	2.3	2.1	2.6			
camphene	5.96	952	2.4	1.7	2.4	0.4	2.9	1.0		2.1	0.6
sabinene	6.62	976	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.4	0.9	0.5	1.2	1.7
ß-pinene	6.73	981	2.1	3.3	2.7	3.9	1.8	3.9	1.3	4.5	5.9
ß-myrcene	7.09	995	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.8	1.2	1.7
limonene	8.31	1029	10.8	12.1	11.5	11.4	11.0	11.3	4.2	13.3	14.4
1,8-cineole	8.44	1034	21.6	30.4	23.5	40.2	21.4	37.0	24.1	27.9	34.6
cis-sabinene											
hydrate	9.68	1068	1.7	2.1	1.9	1.6	1.0	1.6	0.5	2.0	3.0
linalool	10.88	1097	1.0	1.2	0.5	11.3	0.5	7.1	29.4	0.3	0.2
camphor	12.69	1144	35.0	21.2	27.8	7.6	41.1	15.5	0.2	18.7	7.4
δ-terpineol	13.57	1162	0.8	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.6	0.9
α-terpineol	14.55	1189	2.5	3.1	2.4	3.0	1.3	2.4	1.8	2.9	4.3
geraniol	17.29	1252							11.9		
α-cubebene	22.25	1375				1.3	1.6	1.5	0.5	2.6	2.4
α-copaene	22.03	1377	1.7	1.9	2.4						
geranyl-acetate	22.64	1381							2.7		
trans-ß-											
caryophyllene	24.00	1420	1.2	1.4	1.8	0.9	1.15	1.2	1.0	2.4	2.5
(Z)-methyl	24.50	1440	0.0	1.0	1.0					0.0	1.4
isoeugenol	24.50	1448	0.8	1.2	1.2	4.0	~ ~	5.2	1.0	0.9	1.4
α-humulene	25.38	1454	4.9	5.4	6.7	4.0	5.5	5.3	1.6	8.7	8.5
germacrene D	26.49	1482	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.1	1.1	1.3	1.3	2.3	2.2
α-bulnesene	27.48	1506	0.4			0.1		0.2	1.8	0.2	0.2
cis-y-cadinene	27.80	1515	0.1	0.1	0.2			0.2	1.1	3.0	2.7
δ-cadinene	27.80	1524	2.1	2.3	2.7						
ß-	29.10	1527				1 4	10	1.6			
sesquiphellandrene	28.19	1527	1.0	2.2	1 1	1.4	1.8	1.0			0.2
$c_{1S} - \alpha$ -disabolene	28.95	1544	1.0	2.3	1.1	0.2		0.4	17		0.3
	32.02	1044	0.2	0.2	27	0.5	2.5	0.4	4./	4.2	4 1
otners (<1%)			4.0	2.9	3./	4.3	3.5	2.5	9.8	4.2	4.1
Total			98.7	99.0	98.8	97.3	98.9	98.8	99.5	99.0	99.0
Monoterpenes	ma an ag		19.0	22.1	21.6	20.2	19.1	20.9	20.2	19.1	20.9
Saguitarranas	penes		65.4	60.9	59.0	65.6	6/.6	65. <i>3</i>	65.6	6/.6	65.3
Ovuganated association	rnonaa		13.6	15.6	17.2	8.3	10.1	10.5	9.6 2.0	11.6	12.0
Discussion of the second second	erpenes		0.2	0.2	1.0	0.7	0.6	0.5	3.8	0.6	0.5
Phenylpropanes			0.8	1.2	1.2	1.5		0.3	1.5		0.3

RT – retention time. LRI – linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

The heterogeneity could be attributed due to the variation in the microclimate of the greenhouse each year and the properties of the soil media mixture as indicated in Tables 2 and 3. The main compounds were 1,8-cineole (ranged between 21.4 and 40.2%), camphor (0.2 to 41.1%), linalool (0.2 to 29.4%), limonene (4.2 to 14.4%) and α -humulene (1.6 to 8.7%) as indicated on Table 29. The impact of drought stress differs across the years. In the first and third years, both moderate and severe drought stresses led to an increase in 1,8-cineole. However, in the second year, higher ratios of 1,8-cineole were obtained from the control treatment. Additionally, in the second and third years, in the first year, the ratios were relatively low. Linalool ratios were higher in a higher soil water capacity in the second and third years.

Over forty compounds were detected in the essential oil extracted from *Ocimum americanum*. Linalool, neral, geranial, and nerol were found to be the main compounds, constituting more than 55.0% of the oil's composition each year. The ratios of the essential oil compounds were influenced by both drought stress and the year of production as indicated in Table 30. When the plants were grown in soil with a higher water capacity, their linalool ratios were enhanced. On the other hand, moderate to severe drought stress treatments resulted in relatively higher proportions of citral (neral and geranial). The ratios of nerol, neral, and geranial were higher in the first production year. Whereas the ratios of linalool were much higher in the second year. In addition, the yearly average data showed, severe drought stress had a negative effect on oxygenated monoterpenes ratios of *O. americanum*.

				2020			2021			2022	
Component	RT	LRI	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%
1,8-cineole	8.44	1034	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.8	1.7	0.3	1.5	0.4	1.8
linalool	10.88	1097	5.7	5.2	4.8	42.4	43.9	22.8	20.9	11.9	17.9
estragole	14.83	1196	0.2	0.2	0.2	4.3	4.0	0.2	19.5	9.0	7.3
nerol	16.14	1227	9.9	9.3	8.5	3.9	3.7	4.4	3.5	5.8	5.5
neral (citral-b)	16.72	1238	21.6	21.7	24.9	8.9	10.4	19.4	9.2	14.4	12.1
geraniol	17.29	1252	0.9	1.2	1.2	5.8	4.7	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.7
geranial (citral a)	18.00	1268	30.0	30.3	32.8	12.2	14.4	26.4	12.2	19.4	15.7
neryl acetate	21.84	1366	1.6	1.1	1.0	0.2	0.5	1.0	1.0	3.2	3.9
geranyl-acetate	22.64	1381	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.8	1.7	1.8

Table 30. Effect of water supply on essential oil composition of *Ocimum americanum* under greenhouse pot experiment

trans-ß-											
caryophyllene	24.00	1420	5.7	4.5	3.6	1.5	2.0	3.0	2.7	2.5	3.2
trans-a-											
bergamotene	24.69	1437	2.1	1.8	1.5	0.5	0.5	1.1	1.5	1.3	2.1
α-humulene	25.38	1454	1.1	1.0	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.8	1.0	1.3	1.1
germacrene D	26.49	1482	1.7	1.9	1.5	1.5	1.7	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.3
α-bulnesene	27.48	1506	0.1	8.0	7.0	1.1	1.0	0.6	1.3	0.9	0.9
cis-γ-cadinene	27.80	1515				1.3	1.1	0.9	1.0	0.8	0.8
<i>cis</i> -α-bisabolene	28.95	1544	5.6	5.1	4.0	0.9	1.5	2.9	2.9	2.1	2.8
caryophyllene											
oxide	30.46	1590	2.5	2.8	2.8	0.4	0.5	2.1	2.7	6.2	4.4
humulene epoxide											
II	31.44	1615	0.5	0.4	0.4				0.3	1.1	0.6
tau-cadinol	32.62	1644	0.2	0.1	0.1	5.3	4.0	3.1	3.9	3.2	3.3
others (<1%)			7.3	2.0	2.0	5.2	1.1	4.5	8.8	8.0	8.9
Total			97.3	97.0	97.8	97.6	97.9	95.6	97.4	94.8	96.1
Monoterpenes			1.0	0.4	0.5	1.0	1.2	0.6	0.7	0.6	1.1
Oxygenated monote	erpenes		72.0	71.7	76.4	79.5	79.9	76.0	71.4	64.9	64.7
Sesquiterpenes			18.6	16.1	13.0	9.3	10.3	11.9	14.9	14.1	14.1
Oxygenated sesquit	erpenes		5.9	6.3	5.7	6.7	5.3	5.9	8.5	12.9	14.0
Phenylpropanes			0.1	9.0	9.0				0.2	0.2	0.2

IRT - retention time. LRI - linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

Furthermore, the outcome of a two-year plant growth chamber study revealed that both species of *Ocimum* had 44 essential oil compounds, each with distinct main compounds and ratios. As demonstrated in Table 31, the major components of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' essential oil, accounting for more than 5.0%, were linalool (ranged from 44.7% to 57.9%), geraniol (7.9% to 17.2%), 1,8-cineole (3.0 to 8.2%), eugenol (1.0 to 6.1%), and tau-cadinol (5.7 to 8.8%). On the other hand, Table 24 shows that the major components of *O. americanum* essential oil were linalool (14.4 to 31.8%), geranial (13.2 to 36.1%), estragole (1.3 to 33.8%), and neral (between 17.0% and 24.7%). It is important to note that the ratio of these major essential oil components is not constant and can vary depending on irrigation intensity and the year in which the oil was produced. Thus, the major components showed a slight rise or fall in their ratios, but not a significant one. Despite the proportion of tau-cadinol being less than 10%, as the severity of drought stress increased, both species showed a slight increase in the proportion of tau-cadinol during each year of production. Furthermore, there was a noteworthy increase in the proportion of estragole in the second year, which may be attributed to the fact that *Ocimum* is an outcrossing species and the seed used in the experiment was from the previous year. Additionally, SWC influenced oxygenated monoterpenes

ratios of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře'. Consequently, moderate drought stress enhanced the oxygenated monoterpene ratios.

Comment	рт	TDI		2021			2022	
Component	KI	LKI	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%
1,8-cineole	8.44	1034	8.2	3.0	4.3	4.8	7.3	4.6
linalool	10.88	1097	55.5	57.9	52.3	45.8	55.1	44.7
camphor	12.69	1144	0.1	0.3	0.6	0.1		
geraniol	17.29	1252	7.9	16.0	14.0	17.2	15.6	11.4
eugenol	21.49	1361	6.1	1.0	0.9	1.8	1.5	1.2
geranyl acetate	22.64	1381	0.7	2.5	3.7	2.8	2.5	4.3
β-elemene	22.92	1391	1.3	1.4	1.4			
<i>trans</i> -α- bergamotene	24.69	1437	0.7	0.1		1.6	0.6	1.7
α-humulene	25.38	1454	0.3	0.3	0.3	1.2	0.2	0.5
germacrene D	26.49	1482	1.6	2.4	2.6	2.1	1.1	2.8
α-bulnesene	27.48	1506	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.9	1.1	2.8
cis-y-cadinene	27.80	1515	1.6	1.8	2.1	1.9	1.0	2.7
1,10-di-epi- cubenole	31.67	1621	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.9	0.7	1.3
tau-cadinol	32.62	1644	5.8	5.7	6.5	7.0	5.9	8.8
others (<1%)			6.1	4.6	7.2	9.6	6.7	10.8
Total			98.1	99.1	98.2	98.7	99.3	97.6
Monoterpenes			1.4	1.0	1.7	1.9	2.0	2.2
Oxygenated mone	oterpenes		73.5	78.3	72.9	70.9	80.7	64.3
Sesquiterpenes			9.1	9.3	10.3	11.5	5.1	13.3
Oxygenated sesqu	uiterpenes		7.0	6.5	7.5	8.7	7.1	11.2
Phenylpropanes			6.5	1.4	1.7	2.1	1.8	1.9

Table 31. Effect of drought stress on essential oil composition of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' under plant growth chamber experiment

RT - retention time. LRI - linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

The ratios of essential oils compounds were found to be significantly affected by the year of production. The analysis of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' revealed that the ratio of linalool was relatively higher during the first year, whereas geraniol and tau-cadinol demonstrated a slightly elevated proportion in the second year. In addition, a higher proportion of linalool, neral, and geranial was observed in *O. americanum* during the first year. Conversely, a significant increase in the ratio of estragole was noted in the second year. Additionally, severe drought stress had a negative influence on the ratios of oxygenated monoterpenes, which constitute the primary class of compounds in the essential oil of *O. americanum* (Table 32).

				2021			2022	
Component	RT	LRI	70%	50%	30%	70%	50%	30%
1,8-cineole	8.44	1034	0.9	0.3	0.6	3.9	4.0	2.6
linalool	10.88	1097	28.0	20.7	31.8	2	21.8	14.4
estragole	14.83	1196	5.7	1.3	1.1	30.9	29.3	33.8
nerol	16.14	1227	2.4	2.6	1.8	0.9	1.3	0.5
nerál (citrál-b)	16.72	1238	19.6	24.7	18.3	12.5	10.2	10.1
geraniol	17.29	1252	2.1	0.9	0.8	0.2	0.5	0.3
geranial (citral a)	18.00	1268	26.7	36.1	25.6	16.8	13.2	13.5
methyl eugenol	23.48	1411					0.1	1.4
cis-y-cadinene	27.80	1515	0.6	0.3	1.2	0.2	0.7	0.9
caryophyllene oxide	30.46	1590	2.6	5.0	4.2	2.1	2.2	2.4
tau-cadinol	32.62	1644	2.6	1.5	4.5	2.3	3.9	4.6
others (<1%)			6.2	5.0	7.6	8.2	11.5	13.7
Total			97.4	98.5	97.5	98.2	98.7	98.1
Monoterpenes			0.5		0.2	1.5	1.3	1.8
Oxygenated monoterper	nes		87.0	88.5	82.5	88.1	83.5	78.2
Sesquiterpenes			3.3	2.1	3.7	1.6	4.0	4.9
Oxygenated sesquiterpe	nes		5.8	6.9	9.6	5.4	7.6	9.1
Phenylpropanes							0.1	2.1

Table 32. Effect of drought stress on essential oil composition of *O. americanum* under plant growth chamber experiment

RT - retention time. LRI - linear retention index relative to C9-C23 n-alkanes on an HP-5MS capillary column.

4.4.3. Total polyphenol and antioxidant capacity

Drought stress is known to modify the secondary compound accumulation of plants including polyphenol content and its antioxidant activities. The effects of these drought-induced changes on *Ocimum* species were demonstrated through a multiyear experiment conducted in open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chamber settings. In line with that, a three-year open field study showed significant drought-induced changes in TPC and its AOC (Table 33). Depending on the species, soil moisture level, and the year of production, the effect could be negative, positive, or no change at all. Therefore, the sweet basil cultivars 'Ohře' and 'Genovese' demonstrated a positive response to irrigation in terms of TPC in each consecutive year, except for 'Genovese' during the first year. Irrigation resulted in a yearly average TPC increase of 10.0% to 24.0% for the 'Genovese' and 'Ohře' cultivars, respectively. Conversely, drought conditions led to a 40.0% increase in TPC for *O.* × *africanum* in the first year and a 15% increase in the third year. Similarly, purple holy basil (*O. sanctum*) exhibited a 19.0% rise in TPC under drought stress. However, no significant changes were observed in TPC for *O. americanum* across all years. A similar pattern was

noted for AOC. Consequently, in the initial year of cultivation, drought stress increased the AOC of 'Genovese' and *O.* × *africanum*. However, in the third year, drought stress had a negative effect on the AOC of 'Genovese', *O.* × *africanum*, and *O. americanum* plants. Nonetheless, no significant changes in AOC were detected for all species in the second year, as well as for the remaining species in the first and third years. Among the *Ocimum* species, *O. selloi* had higher AOC (250 mg AAE g⁻¹ DM).

speeres ere	i une j	ears ander op	en nera enpen				
		Total polyp	henol content ((mg GAE g ⁻¹	Antioxidant	capacity (mg A	AE g ⁻¹ DM)
Species	TRT		DM)				
		2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022
O. basilicum	Ι	84.9±16.2 ^{Aa}	217.8±21.8 ^{Abc}	$299.5{\pm}80.6^{Aa}$	129.3±36.9Ab	73.3±10.7 ^{Ab}	79.9 ± 6.3^{Aa}
'Ohře'	NI	60.0 ± 11.5^{Bbc}	200.5 ± 43.4^{Bb}	247.8 ± 21.3^{Aa}	131.5±32.4 ^{Ab}	70.1 ± 13.2^{Ab}	76.7 ± 5.0^{Aa}
O. basilicum	Ι	76.4 ± 10.7^{Bab}	252.6 ± 24.7^{Ab}	241.8±54.1 ^{Aab}	109.9±33.5 ^{Bb}	83.9 ± 9.7^{Aab}	$80.2{\pm}12.6^{Aa}$
'Genovese'	NI	92.5±17.1 ^{Aa}	232.4 ± 21.8^{Bb}	$200.0{\pm}20.7^{\text{Bbc}}$	149.9±35.3 ^{Ab}	110.9±66.1 ^{Aab}	72.1 ± 6.9^{Ba}
<i>O</i> . ×	Ι	28.5 ± 3.5^{Bd}	208.0±30.9 ^{Ac}	189.1±39.9 ^{Bbc}	62.9±28.1 ^{Bc}	66.2±16.7 ^{Ab}	83.3 ± 7.2^{Aa}
africanum	NI	39.9 ± 8.1^{Ad}	187.9 ± 20.7^{Ab}	217.6±36.5 ^{Aab}	134.7±27.8 ^{Ab}	79.1±12.9 ^{Aab}	$62.6{\pm}8.6^{\text{Bb}}$
О.	Ι	62.8±17.3 ^{Abc}	211.5±35.8 ^{Abc}	166.0±5.0 ^{Ac}	150.2±44.3 ^{Ab}	70.8 ± 7.9^{Ab}	53.2 ± 6.3^{Ab}
americanum	NI	67.3±13.2 ^{Ab}	189.6 ± 40.5^{Ab}	157.3 ± 8.7^{Ad}	137.6±48.9 ^{Ab}	72.4±23.7 ^{Aab}	48.4 ± 2.2^{Bc}
O. sanctum	Ι	41.7±17.0 ^{Acd}	$295.8{\pm}45.4^{Aa}$	143.3±28.6 ^{Bc}	128.9±45.4 ^{Ab}	100.7 ± 27.7^{Aa}	45.0 ± 9.1^{Ab}
	NI	48.9 ± 2.0^{Acd}	341.4 ± 84.1^{Aa}	170.4±18.8 ^{Acd}	157.6 ± 4.4^{Ab}	122.9±12.6 ^{Aa}	49.6 ± 8.3^{Ac}
O. selloi	Ι	62.3 ± 5.7^{Abc}	-	-	$250.8{\pm}17.3^{Aa}$	-	-
	NI	73.9 ± 9.9^{Ab}	-	-	249.2±63.7 ^{Aa}	-	-

Table 33. Effect of irrigation on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of *Ocimum* species over the years under open field experiment

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, TRT: Treatment; I-Irrigated; NI: non-irrigated (control); Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between drought stress under fixed species and small letters are used to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress. GAE: Gallic Acid Equivalent; AAC: Ascorbic Acid Equivalent; DW: Dry matter

The influence of drought on TPC and its AOC were also demonstrated under a greenhouse experiment as illustrated in Table 34. The effect of drought stress is heterogenous on both TPC and AOC depending on the species, the drought intensity, and the production. It had no significant effect on 'Genovese' cultivated in 2022, O. × *africanum* in all the years and O. *americanum* in 2020. A positive effect was also noticed in 'Genovese' in 2020 and O. *americanum* in 2021 and 2022. Furthermore, a negative effect of drought on TPC was also observed among 'Genovese' plants cultivated in 2021. The same heterogenous trends were observed in AOC as well. Hence, a negative impact of drought stress was observed among all basil species in 2020 and 'Genovese' as well as O. × *africanum* in 2022. On the other hand, drought stress had a positive impact on all basil in 2021.

and *O. americanum* in 2022. The heterogenous results could be due to the fact that beside drought stress, the variation in microclimate (see Table 2) and soil media mixture (see Table 3) between the years had influenced TPC and its AOC.

species under greenhouse pot experiment							
Species	SWC	Total polyphenol content (mg GAE g ⁻¹ DM)		Antioxidant capacity (mg AAE g ⁻¹ DM)			
	(%)	2020	2021	2022	2020	2021	2022
О.	70	72.7 ± 9.3^{Bb}	161.9 ± 10.7^{Aa}	111.9 ± 19.7^{Ba}	124.4±12.5 ^{Aa}	137.2±16.4 ^{Bb}	110.9±21.8 ^{Aa}
basilicum	50	73.2 ± 5.2^{Ab}	128.3 ± 16.2^{Bb}	111.5 ± 7.8^{Ba}	113.9 ± 5.6^{Ab}	127.3 ± 49.0^{Bb}	126.1 ± 16.3^{Aa}
'Genovese'	30	81.6 ± 7.3^{Aa}	124.5 ± 15.8^{Bb}	107.8 ± 6.5^{Ba}	108.7 ± 13.8^{Ab}	$180.0{\pm}12.5^{Ba}$	70.0 ± 11.2^{Bb}
<i>O</i> . ×	70	82.7 ± 6.2^{Aa}	115.3 ± 19.8^{Ba}	110.0 ± 10.3^{Ba}	126.8 ± 10.7^{Aa}	144.9 ± 22.0^{Ba}	114.3 ± 14.3^{Aa}
africanum	50	$78.0{\pm}18.4^{Aa}$	115.2 ± 12.8^{Ba}	114.4 ± 14.2^{Ba}	120.0 ± 27.2^{Aab}	132.4 ± 19.8^{Ba}	89.7±21.5 ^{Bb}
	30	74.6 ± 13.1^{Aa}	$114.8 {\pm} 10.5^{\text{Ba}}$	$98.8{\pm}19.9^{\rm Ba}$	$110.0{\pm}20.7^{\rm Ab}$	152.4 ± 26.5^{Ca}	106.4 ± 24.2^{Aab}
О.	70	73.2 ± 8.3^{Ba}	126.5±11.5 ^{Bb}	132.7±17.3 ^{Ac}	96.4 ± 9.6^{Ba}	200.0 ± 15.8^{Ab}	52.8±17.9 ^{Bb}
americanum	50	66.7 ± 8.3^{Aa}	142.1 ± 8.8^{Ab}	207.4 ± 14.6^{Aa}	78.5 ± 14.8^{Bb}	224.6±33.1 ^{Aa}	69.8 ± 29.2^{Bab}
	30	75.5 ± 17.5^{Aa}	167.9 ± 24.2^{Aa}	182.0 ± 21.4^{Ab}	60.7 ± 17.4^{Bc}	210.5 ± 17.9^{Ab}	$85.3{\pm}13.9^{\text{Ba}}$

Table 34. Effect of water supply on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of *Ocimum species* under greenhouse pot experiment

Values are presented as Mean \pm SD, SWC: Soil water capacity. Different letters are for significantly different groups. Capital letters to differentiate between species under fixed drought stress treatment and small letters are used to differentiate drought stress under fixed species. GAE: Gallic acid equivalent; AAC: Ascorbic acid equivalent; DM: Dry matter

In the growth chamber experiment, the TPC and AOC of basil were found to be influenced by several factors, including the severity of drought stress, the specific cultivar of basil, and the year of production (as indicated in Table 35). For instance, in the first year, the TPC and AOC of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' were unaffected by variations in soil water capacity. However, in the second year, the TPC increased under severe drought stress, while the AOC rose under moderate drought stress. In contrast, moderate and severe drought stress boosted the TPC of *O. americanum* in the first year, but no significant change was observed in the second year. The effect of drought stress on AOC was negative in the first year but positive in the second year. Hence, the impact of drought stress on TPC and AOC is complex and depends on multiple factors, making it difficult to draw definitive conclusions.

Table 35. Effect of water supply on total polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber experiment

Species	SWC	Total polyphenol content (mg GAE g ⁻¹ DM)		Antioxidant capacity (mg AAE g ⁻¹ DM)		
	(%)	2021	2022	2021	2022	
O. basilicum	70	235.9±10.6ª	205.8±9.4 ^b	234.4±30.4ª	162.3±14.3 ^{ab}	
'Ohře'	50	$231.2{\pm}14.0^{a}$	197.3±16.0 ^b	215.1±27.1ª	178.0±35.1ª	

	30	254.4±47.4ª	284.5 ± 32.8^{a}	202.8±40.6ª	133.8±20.5 ^b
O. americanum	70 50 30	$168.7{\pm}17.0^{ m b}$ $170.2{\pm}35.5^{ m ab}$ $199.5{\pm}20.9^{ m a}$	154.5±11.4ª 173.3±9.2ª 174.0±26.8ª	200.1±48.4 ^a 155.1±24.3 ^b 132.6±30.7 ^b	$83.2{\pm}10.5^{b}$ 118.0 ${\pm}28.7^{a}$ 120.0 ${\pm}12.9^{a}$

Values are presented as Mean ± SD, SWC: Soil water capacity; Different letters are for significantly different groups in columns. GAE: Gallic acid equivalent; AAC: Ascorbic acid equivalent; DM: Dry matter

4.5. Discussion

Drought stress, a common environmental factor, can affect the physiological, morphological, and biochemical responses of medicinal plants and their secondary metabolism (Osakabe *et al.*, 2014; Selmar and Kleinwächter; 2015; Wu *et al.*, 2022). Additionally, it was also observed a presence of wider morphological and biochemical diversities among *Ocimum* species. Therefore, this subsection discussed the specific changes induced by drought and the morpho-chemical diversity observed among *Ocimum* species.

4.5.1. Diversity in Ocimum

Morpho-chemical diversity in *Ocimum* species is quite remarkable and highlights the adaptability of these plants to different environmental conditions. Our study demonstrated the presence of intra and inter-specific variability among the 15 basil genotypes preserved in the department. Hence, variation was noted in qualitative phenotypic traits including the growth pattern, leaf appearance, corolla, and stem color. Consistent with our results, Chowdhury et al. (2017) similarly noted significant variation in various qualitative traits among nine Ocimum genotypes, including O. basilicum, O. tenuiflorum (both green and purple), O. americanum, and O. × africanum. These traits included stem pubescence, stem color, leaf surface, leaf margin, leaf tip, leaf shape, inflorescence type, and flower color. However, it was reported that the plant growth habit (erect) remained monomorphic across the genotypes. In addition, differences in pigmentation, leaf shape, size, and pubescence have been previously reported among basil species and cultivars (Bernhardt et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2015a; Gurav et al., 2020). Furthermore, quantitative morphological and chemical hierarchical cluster analysis utilizing Ward's method revealed the existence of three distinct morphological groups and six chemo-diversity. Among the genotypes, sweet basil cultivar such as 'Genovese', 'Sweet Aroma' and 'Cinnamon' had taller plants (varies between 52.6 to 62.1 cm), wider canopy (varies between 46.3 to 54.0 cm) and leaf area. As a result, the basil cultivars had maximum fresh (>425.0 g plant⁻¹) and dry (>87 g plant⁻¹) herb yield. Previous studies have also

demonstrated that the height of *O. basilicum* cultivars can vary from 29.2 to 100 cm, depending on the growing conditions, cultivation seasons, and the specific cultivars used. Similarly, canopy diameter can vary between 24.9 cm and 97.7 cm (Nurzyńska-Wierdak, 2013; Patel *et al.*, 2015; Chowdhury *et al.*, 2017; Saran *et al.*, 2017). In addition, Patel *et al.* (2015a) also reported the fresh biomass production of 5 sweet basil cultivars varied between 140 and 295 g per plant.

Basil species are renowned for their complex essential oil compositions containing a wide range of aromatic compounds. This complexity extends across various cultivars and chemotypes, each exhibiting a unique profile of volatile compounds. Moreover, the chemical diversity observed in different Ocimum species has been significantly shaped by factors such as hybridization within and between species through cross-pollination, natural evolutionary events, polyploidy, and selective breeding, as evidenced in multiple studies (Carović-Stanko et al., 2010; Varga et al., 2017; Gurav et al., 2022). Our investigations, conducted across different cultivation practices and production years, have revealed a broadened diversity in the essential oil composition. The respective genotypes exhibited the presence of 20 to 65 compounds in their essential oils (depending on the genotypes), featuring either a predominant compound or a combination of mixed compounds. This diversity underscores the dynamic nature of essential oil composition in basil species, influenced by both genetic factors and external cultivation conditions. In line with our findings, several authors have also noted the predominant presence of the same major compound in various genotypes. Nevertheless, the proportions of these major compounds differ based on factors such as geographical location, cultivation methods, and processing techniques. Carović-Stanko et al. (2011) observed that linalool constituted the major compound in sweet basil genotypes like 'Genovese' and 'Dark opal'. Similarly, Murarikova et al. (2017) and Zeljković et al. (2020) identified linalool, 1,8cineole, and geraniol as the primary essential oil compounds in Ohře. Bernhardt et al. (2014) found estragole and linalool to be the main constituents in 'M. Grünes'. Another study on thirty Indian accessions of O. basilicum revealed the presence of linalool, methyl chavicol, and various chemotypes, including methyl chavicol/linalool and (E)-methyl cinnamate (Raina and Kumar, 2017). In addition to linalool and estragole, Cinnamon basil was reported to have (E)-methyl cinnamate as its main compound (Koroch et al., 2017). Ocimum minimum essential oil was found to be rich in geranyl acetate and linalool. Ocimum americanum of the citral chemotype (geranial and neral) and linalool was also documented (Carović-Stanko et al., 2011; Bernhardt et al., 2015). Thai

basil predominantly contained estragole, methyl eugenol, and (E)- α -bergamotene (1.01%) (Łyczko *et al.*, 2020). Additionally, Vieira *et al.* (2014) identified linalool and 1,8-cineole as the primary compounds in Törpe basil. In a previous study on thirty-two accessions of Indian holy basil (*Ocimum tenuiflorum*), two chemotypes abundant in eugenol and methyl eugenol were identified, along with notable quantities of β -caryophyllene and β -elemene (Raina *et al.*, 2013). The *Ocimum* species, including genotypes such as 'Sweet aroma', 'Cinnamon' and 'Turkish basil' are well-suited for cultivation in Hungary. This suitability arises from their higher biomass, EOC, higher linalool ratio, and TPC. Additionally, the citral chemotype of *O. americanum* holds potential for inclusion in herbal tea blends. Moreover, *O. americanum* originating from Togo exhibits a higher EOC, featuring an increased ratio of methyl cinnamate, making it a valuable candidate for natural flavoring purposes.

4.5.2. Drought-induced physiological changes

Physiological parameters such as leaf RWC, WP, shoot WUE, and SPAD values were affected by drought stress. As the drought intensity increased, there was a consistent decline in the RWC and WP of basil leaves, observed across multiple production years. This suggests that drought stress has a negative impact on the RWC and WP of basil leaves. This is further supported by Damalas (2019) who noted a 29.2% decline in RWC of sweet basil leaves under water deficits (40% field capacity). Additionally, several other studies had also demonstrated that drought stress reduces the RWC and WP of sweet basil (Radácsi et al., 2010; Kalamartzis et al., 2020), summer savory (Radácsi et al., 2016) and lemon balm (Zámboriné et al., 2017). In drought conditions, leaf RWC and WP decreases, resulting in reduced turgor, stomatal conductance, and photosynthesis, thus reducing yield (Osakabe et al., 2014; dos Santos et al., 2016). However, drought stress had a positive effect on the WUE and SPAD values of these plants. The higher WUE observed in basil plants under drought stress could be a result of their ability to optimize water conservation, reduce transpiration, and adapt their physiological and biochemical processes to cope with limited water resources (Kalamartzis et al., 2020; Seleiman et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021; Mahajan, and Pal, 2023). One mechanism is the closure of the stomata. When plants are under drought stress, stomatal closure reduces water loss through transpiration, conserving water within the plant. Even though it helps to conserve water but also limits carbon dioxide uptake for photosynthesis (Kalamartzis et al., 2020). Furthermore, under drought conditions, plants may undergo physiological and biochemical

adjustments to enhance their ability to capture and use water effectively. These adaptations can include changes in leaf anatomy, such as increased leaf thickness or the presence of specialized tissues that store water (Yang et al., 2021; Mahajan, and Pal, 2023). Additionally, basil plants may modify their metabolic pathways to prioritize the production of compounds that facilitate drought tolerance, such as osmolytes and antioxidant enzymes that help maintain cellular hydration (Seleiman et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021; Mahajan, and Pal, 2023). On the other hand, the rise in SPAD value during moderate and severe drought stress doesn't necessarily imply a rise in chlorophyll content. The cause for this rise may be the contraction and wilting of leaves, which may result in a higher green color intensity (SPAD value) per unit area when compared to hydrated and expanded leaves of the control treatment. A previous study by Radácsi et al. (2016) showed higher chlorophyll levels (expressed in SPAD unit) in summer savory (Satureja hortensis L.) under severe drought (30% SWC). Puangbut et al. (2017) also found that drought treatments led to higher SPAD chlorophyll meter readings in Jerusalem artichokes than in irrigated treatments. Furthermore, Pirzad et al. (2011) also reported a slight enhancement of total chlorophyll content in chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.) in drought stress. Whereas no change was observed in five sweet basil cultivars by Kalamartzis et al. (2020). These physiological changes influence the growth, development, and drought stress tolerance of basil as detailed below.

4.5.3. Drought-induced morphological changes

Basil plants require a continuous and optimum supply of water for their normal growth. Multiple studies under open field, greenhouse, and plant growth chambers consistently over the years demonstrated that drought stress caused an enormous reduction in the growth of all *Ocimum* species investigated. These reductions are characterized by shorter heights and a narrower canopy. Additionally, their stems become slenderer, and the leaves exhibit reduced dimensions. Consequently, lower soil moisture level results in a marked decrease in both fresh and dry biomass production. Taxa-specific responses were also observed under drought stress conditions. As a result, $O. \times africanum$ suffered significant losses in both non-irrigated open field plots and under greenhouse conditions when exposed to lower soil's water capacity. On the other hand, *O. sanctum*, grown in open fields without irrigation, suffered less. The negative effects of drought stress on the growth and herb production of medicinal and aromatic plants are widely recognized and extensively studied phenomena that have been consistently documented by numerous scientific investigations.

Although the intensities of drought stresses are different, several authors also showed the negative impact of drought stress on biomass production of *O. basilicum* cultivars (Radácsi *et al.*, 2020), *O.* × *africanum* (dos Santos *et al.*, 2016) as well as *O. americanum* (Khalid, 2006). Additionally, Damalas (2019) demonstrated that drought stress (40% FC) reduced the shoot fresh weight, dry weight, and height of sweet basil plants by more than 40%. Furthermore, Németh *et al.* (2016) reported that lower soil water content (40% SWC) resulted in significantly lower biomass production in four Lamiaceae species: lemon balm, thyme, peppermint and marjoram. To cope with the shortage of water, basil plants undergo physiological and biochemical changes (as discussed on under section 4.5.2), which can ultimately affect their growth and biomass production.

4.5.4. Drought-induced biochemical changes

The synthesis and accumulation of secondary compounds is an intricate and dynamic process governed by various biotic and abiotic factors (Li et al., 2020). Our multiple experiments have demonstrated significant heterogeneity and inconsistency in this process. Consequently, factors such as drought intensity, specific taxa, the growth environment, and the year of production play a crucial role in influencing secondary compound production (EOC, EOY, essential oil composition, TPC, and AOC). As a result of drought stress, the EOC of $O_{\cdot} \times a fricanum$ increased, an effect that was additionally supported by higher densities of glandular hairs. The justification is strengthened by a strong Pearson correlation (r= 0.87, P< 0.01) observed between the GHD of O. \times africanum and its EOC. Therefore, a higher density of glandular hairs can indicate a potentially higher concentration of essential oils, but it's important to note that other factors, such as basil species, the size and volume of trichomes (peltate and capitate), ages of trichomes and several others, can also influence essential oil content (Werker et al., 1993; Maurya et al., 2019; Wongpraneekul et al., 2022). Conversely, no significant noticeable changes were observed in O. basilicum 'Ohře' and O. sanctum. However, the impact on O. basilicum 'Genovese' and O. americanum exhibited both positive and negative outcomes, depending on the production year and the growing environment. Consistent with our findings, various authors have also noted taxa and drought intensity-specific responses in the EOC of medicinal plants. Consequently, positive impacts of drought stress on EOC were observed in Ocimum basilicum cultivars (Simon et al., 1992; Khalid et al., 2006; Radácsi et al., 2010), Ocimum × africanum (dos Santos et al., 2016), Thymus citriodorus (Tátrai et al., 2016), Thymus daenensis (Pirbalouti et al., 2014; Bistgani et al., 2017), and Salvia officinalis (Govahi et

al., 2015). Conversely, negative effects were also documented for Salvia officinalis (Corell et al., 2012; Aslani et al., 2023), Matricaria chamomile (Razmjoo et al., 2008), Melissa officinalis (Farahani et al., 2009), and Mentha piperita (Khorasaninejad et al., 2011). Furthermore, no discernible changes were reported in Ocimum gratissimum (Hazzoumi et al., 2015), Hyssopus officinalis (Khazaie et al., 2008), Thymus vulgaris (Khazaie et al., 2008), and Salvia officinalis (Corell et al., 2009). Our comprehensive set of experiments additionally demonstrated the negative effect of drought stress on the EOY of the species. This adverse effect can be attributed to the significant constraint imposed by drought stress on biomass production, a factor directly associated with EOY. The extent of EOY reduction varies based on the specific Ocimum species and the growth environment. Consequently, drought stress had a more pronounced effect in O. × africanum plants cultivated in a greenhouse, whereas there is a comparatively lower reduction in EOY for O. sanctum grown in an open field setting. Similar observations have been reported previously by Kleinwachter and Selmar (2013), Paulsen and Selmar (2016), and Yahyazadeh et al. (2021). Moreover, the impact of drought stress on the essential oil composition of the various Ocimum species was heterogeneous as well. On one hand, drought stress increased the ratios of neral and geranial in O. americanum across all experiments. In addition, moderate drought stress slightly enhanced the camphor ratio of $O_{\cdot} \times a fricanum$. However, it reduced the ratio of linalool, a major constituent in O. basilicum cultivars 'Ohře' and 'Genovese', as well as in O. americanum plants. On the other hand, its effect on the remaining essential oil compounds varied, displaying inconsistency with both negative and positive changes or, in some cases, no detectable alteration.

A similar trend was also observed on TPC and AOC. Drought stress adversely affected the TPC of *O. basilicum* 'Ohře' plants when cultivated in an open field. Conversely, severe drought stress (30% SWC) in a plant growth chamber had a positive influence on TPC. Additionally, drought stress did not have a significant impact on the TPC of both *O. basilicum* 'Genovese' and *O.* × *africanum* plants when cultivated in open fields and greenhouse settings. However, under severe drought stress conditions, TPC increased in *O. americanum* plants in both greenhouse and plant growth chamber experiments, with no noticeable change observed in the open field experiment. Moreover, drought stress did not result in a noteworthy alteration or only marginally reduced AOC in all basil species across the different growing environments, with the exception of *O. basilicum*, *O.* × *africanum*, and *O. sanctum* cultivated in an open field, where a positive impact was observed. Previous studies also

indicated that the polyphenol content and antioxidant capacities within basil genotypes differ depending on cultivars (Kwee and Niemeyer, 2011; Bajomo *et al.*, 2022) and other factors such as plant part or organ (Prinsi *et al.*, 2020) and growing conditions (Chutimanukul *et al.*, 2022; Brahmi *et al.*, 2022). This finding aligns with the study by Pirbalouti *et al.* (2017), which found higher phenolic content in shoots of two basil varieties (*O. basilicum*) subjected to drought stress (30% FC) compared to regularly irrigated plants. Conversely, Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022) observed species-specific responses to drought, with the 'Genovese' sweet basil cultivar exhibiting higher TPC under severe drought stress, while soil water capacity had no significant effect on *O.* × *africanum* and *O. americanum*. Additionally, Mulugeta and Radácsi (2022) noted that both moderate (50% SWC) and severe drought stress (30% SWC) had a detrimental impact on the AOC of the three *Ocimum* species. Gharibi *et al.* (2016) also found that moderate drought stress treatment (50% FC) and severe drought stress (25% FC) increased TPC and AOC in three *Achillea* species.

As per Yahyazadeh et al. (2021), the rise in the concentration of natural products, such as isoprenoids or phenols, in response to drought stress can be ascribed to either a passive shift resulting from stomatal closure or an active increase through the up-regulation of enzymatic activity. This phenomenon, characterized by an increase in natural product biosynthesis due to overreduction during drought, has been previously documented by Selmar and Kleinwächter (2013, 2015) and Yahyazadeh et al. (2018). When plants undergo water deficiency, stomatal closure occurs, leading to a decreased absorption of CO₂. Consequently, the demand for reduction equivalents (NADPH⁺H⁺) for CO₂ fixation through the Calvin cycle decreases, resulting in an excess of NADPH⁺H⁺. These surpluses leads metabolic processes toward the synthesis of highly reduced compounds, such as isoprenoids or phenols. Numerous studies have indicated that drought stress can prompt an increase in natural product production by up-regulating genes involved in their biosynthesis. Mandoulakani et al. (2017) discovered that drought stress enhances the content of methyl chavicol and methyl eugenol in sweet basil by elevating the expression levels of chavicol Omethyl transferase and eugenol O-methyl transferase genes. Moreover, drought stress induces the upregulation of monoterpene synthase expression in Salvia officinalis (Radwan et al., 2017). Additionally, drought stress has been demonstrated to significantly induce the expression of genes related to flavonoid biosynthesis in hybrid poplar plants, leading to an accumulation of phenolic and flavonoid compounds (Ahmed et al., 2021).

4.5.5. Seasonal variation

Basil is a highly adaptable plant that can thrive in a wide variety of climatic and geographical conditions. However, variations in seasons and production years can affect its growth and essential oil production. This phenomenon was demonstrated through extensive experiments involving a three-year drought study and a two-year investigation into the morpho-chemical variability of basil genotypes. Consequently, noteworthy alterations in biomass production, EOC and composition, TPC, and AOC were identified across the production years. The differences observed in factors other than the specified treatments were primarily ascribed to the annual variations in weather conditions and the variability in soil properties, as detailed in Tables 2 and 3. Several scholars have also noted the influence of these factors on morpho-chemical attributes of plants (Chang *et al.*, 2005; Figueiredo *et al.*, 2008; Bernhardt *et al.*, 2015; Franz and Novak, 2020).

5. CONCLUSION

Biomass production, and accumulation of secondary compounds in medicinal and aromatic plants are influenced by genetic factors, environmental conditions, and processing methods. Multiple experiments conducted over several years have shown that in basil plants, drought stress, genotypes, and the year of production significantly impact biomass production and the accumulation of secondary compounds. Basil plants exhibit various physiological, morphological, and biochemical changes when subjected to drought stress.

Diversity in Ocimum

An extensive morphological and chemical diversity was observed both within and between fifteen basil genotypes. In addition to the commonly cultivated and high-yielding sweet basil varieties such as 'Genovese' and 'M. Grünes' in Hungary, other comparable species were identified. Consequently, it is recommended to introduce 'Sweet Aroma', 'Cinnamon' and 'Turkish basils' into Hungarian basil cultivation practices. Moreover, various chemotypes, including the methyl cinnamate of Togo, the linalool/citral-rich *O. americanum*, and the 1,8-cineole/camphor of *O.* × *africanum*, could be incorporated into culinary applications. Thai basils also exhibited relatively higher biomass production and essential oil content (EOC). However, caution should be exercised due to the elevated ratios of estragole, which raises safety concerns.

Drought induced physio-morphological changes

Experiments involving different basil taxa, including *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', *O. basilicum* 'Genovese', $O. \times africanum$, *O. americanum*, and *O. sanctum*, in three distinct growth environments (open field, greenhouse, and climatic chamber) demonstrated distinct responses to drought stress. Droughtinduced alterations in plant physiology were evident, with a decrease in key indicators of water status, such as leaf relative water content and water potential, under drought conditions. However, shoot water use efficiency and SPAD chlorophyll content increased. Consequently, basil plants exhibited inhibited growth, characterized by reduced plant height, a narrower canopy, smaller leaves, and a decrease in both fresh and dry biomass production.

Drought induced bio-chemical changes

Water supply also influenced secondary compound accumulations, as lower moisture levels had a positive effect on the density of glandular hairs. Despite an increase in glandular hair density, lower

moisture levels resulted in a significant reduction in the overall EOY. However, the effect of water shortage on EOC, essential oil composition, TPC, and AOC was heterogeneous. Drought stress led to a decrease in the linalool ratio but induced an increase in the ratios of citral. Additionally, it was observed that severe drought stress had a negative effect on the proportions of oxygenated monoterpenes in the examined *Ocimum* species, except in the case of *O. basilicum* 'Genovese'. Conversely, there was a positive influence on the ratios of phenylpropanes. This complexity in secondary compound accumulation shows the impact of various factors including the taxa-specific responses and the growing environment played significant roles, alongside the influence of drought stress.

In conclusion to enhance biomass and essential oil production, it is recommended to maintain a soil water capacity of not less than 70% in protected basil cultivation, with twice-weekly irrigation for open field cultivation, especially in Hungary and regions with similar climates. 'Genovese' and 'M. Grünes' are suggested for herb production along with 'Cinnamon' and Sweet Aroma'. Further research is recommended to investigate the mechanisms underlying changes in EOC and composition in response to drought stress. Future investigations should focus on exploring molecular traits and phenol composition for a deeper understanding of the subject.

6. NEW SCIENTIFIC RESULTS

- The effect of drought stress on basil's secondary compound accumulation is described as "taxa specific." The response to drought can vary among different basil varieties or species. Some types of basil may exhibit a more pronounced change in their secondary compound content when subjected to drought, while others may be less affected.
- ii. Drought stress has been observed to enhance the density of glandular hairs on *Ocimum* species. The increase in glandular hair density can be seen as a physiological response of the plant to drought stress. Consequently, a greater density of glandular hairs may suggest a potentially increased concentration of essential oils. However, it is important to note that EOC can also be influenced by various factors.
- iii. Severe drought stress negatively impacted the ratios of oxygenated monoterpenes while positively affecting the ratios of phenylpropanes in the studied *Ocimum* species, with the exception of *O. basilicum* 'Genovese'.
- Researchers observed significant variation in the chemical composition such as EOC, EOY, essential oil composition, TPC and AOC of basil plants both within the same species (intraspecific) and between different species (interspecific) than the one reported in literature.
- v. The year in which basil plants were grown and harvested had a pronounced effect on the composition of their essential oils than the drought treatment. This suggests that environmental and seasonal factors strongly influenced the chemical makeup of the essential oils in different basil genotypes.
- vi. Various promising Ocimum species, including O. selloi, O. × africanum, as well as O. basilicum and O. americanum of different origins, have been examined in the Hungarian environment. This marks the first reporting of their morphological characteristics, as well as their essential oil production and composition in Hungary.

SUMMARY

Basil encompasses a diverse group of aromatic herbs with over 67 recognized species, including *Ocimum basilicum, Ocimum* \times *africanum, Ocimum americanum, Ocimum gratissimum*, and *Ocimum sanctum*. The remarkable diversity within the basil species is attributed to variations in geographical distribution, climatic preferences, and genetic makeup. Each species exhibits distinct morphological, physiological, and chemical traits, contributing to its adaptability to specific ecological niches. Basil species have been utilized for centuries in traditional medicine, culinary practices, and religious rituals across different cultures. The varied chemical profiles of basil, characterized by essential oils and polyphenols not only confer unique flavors and fragrances but also possess pharmacological properties with antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant effects.

The morphological and biochemical diversities within *Ocimum* species were additionally validated through an evaluation of 15 basil genotypes (belonging to 5 species) preserved in the department's gene bank. Hierarchical cluster analysis showed three distinct morphological groups. Notably, within the sweet basil genotype category, 'Genovese', 'Sweet Aroma,' and 'Cinnamon' exhibited robust morphological growth, leading to a higher fresh biomass yield (>425 g plant⁻¹). Among the genotypes, $O. \times africanum$ demonstrated the maximum EOY (2.6 mL plant⁻¹) and EOC (3.4%), followed by 'Törpe' plants with the second-highest essential oil content (1.9%). The 'Turkish basil' had the highest TPC (218.8 mg GAE g⁻¹ DM) and AOC (290.4 mg AAE g⁻¹ DM). Furthermore, extensive diversity was observed in the composition of essential oils across different basil genotypes. A hierarchical cluster analysis based on essential oil composition identified seven distinct chemical profiles. The primary constituents of essential oils included linalool, estragole, methyl cinnamate, and various mixed ratios such as linalool/estragole/citral, *trans*-β-caryophyllene/eugenol, bisabolene/1,8-cineole/estragole, and 1,8-cineole/camphor. This highlights the extensive intra- and inter-specific diversity present among the studied basil genotypes, both in terms of morphology and essential oil composition.

In addition to the genetic factors, the yield of biomass, essential oil production, and compositions of essential oils in *Ocimum* species are greatly influenced by ecological conditions, agro-techniques, and processing methods. Among the ecological factors, drought stress emerges as a predominant

limiting factor. Numerous studies conducted in both open field and controlled greenhouse environments indicate that water scarcity leads to diminished plant growth and biomass production in medicinal and aromatic plants, including basil. Nevertheless, the impact of drought stress on the accumulation of secondary compounds in medicinal plants is inconsistent and often contradictory. Consequently, to understand the intricate effects of drought stress on the physio-morphological and biochemical traits within selected *Ocimum* species, a three-year experiment (2020 to 2022), was conducted across various growing environments, including open fields, greenhouses, and growth chambers. This experiment aimed not only to unravel the intricate effects of drought stress but also to detect the intra and interspecific morpho-chemical diversity among *Ocimum* species.

In an open-field experiment setting, we utilized four basil species, namely *O. basilicum* 'Ohře', *O. basilicum* 'Genovese', *O. × africanum*, *O. americanum*, and *O. sanctum* (purple type). Two levels of water supply, with irrigation as the control and non-irrigation as a drought stress treatment, were implemented. The irrigated plot received 20 mm m⁻² of water twice a week, while the non-irrigated plot solely relied on natural precipitation, ranging between 180 to 262 mm of RF during the experimental period. In controlled pot experiments, we assessed three *Ocimum* species (*O. basilicum* 'Genovese', *O. × africanum*, *O. americanum*) in a greenhouse, and two *Ocimum* species (*O. basilicum* 'Ohře' and *O. americanum*) in a plant growth chamber. The drought stress treatment included three soil water capacities: 70% (control), 50% (moderate drought stress), and 30% (severe drought stress). Furthermore, morpho-chemical diversity among 15 basil genotypes were evaluated in open field growing condition.

The results of all the experiments across the years demonstrated that drought stress significantly affected the physiological, morphological, and biochemical traits of *Ocimum* species. Physiological parameters such as leaf RWC, WP, shoot WUE, and SPAD were evaluated. As the drought intensity increased, there was a consistent decline in the RWC and WP of basil leaves, observed across multiple production years. This suggests that drought stress has a negative impact on the RWC and WP of basil leaves. However, drought stress had a positive effect on the WUE and SPAD values of these plants. The higher WUE observed in basil plants under drought stress could be a result of their ability to optimize water conservation, reduce transpiration, and adapt their physiological and biochemical processes to cope with limited water resources.

Drought stress significantly reduced the growth of all examined *Ocimum* species. This reduction is evident in shorter plant heights and a narrower canopy. Furthermore, the stems become slender, and the leaves show diminished dimensions. Consequently, the limited availability of water leads to a significant decline in both fresh and dry biomass production. Furthermore, these multiple experiments have consistently shown that the impact of drought stress on the accumulation of secondary compounds is both heterogeneous and unpredictable. Several factors, including the severity of drought, specific plant taxa, the growth conditions, and the production year, are critical in determining the influence on the production of various secondary compounds such as EOC, EOY, essential oil composition, TPC, and AOC. Generally, drought stress has been found to significantly increase the density of glandular hairs in Ocimum species. Moreover, among certain Ocimum taxa and production years, drought stress has a slight inducing effect on EOC and TPC, while no significant changes were observed in others. However, irrespective of drought intensity, Ocimum taxa, and production year, a consistent trend was observed: lower soil water capacity corresponded to lower EOY. Additionally, the impact of drought stress extended to the compositions of essential oils. Notably, the influence of drought stress was found to have a positive correlation with citral ratios, encompassing both neral and geranial, as well as tau-cadinol ratios. Conversely, a negative effect was noted on linalool ratios. However, it is important to highlight that the results for other compounds exhibited variations and lacked a consistent pattern under drought stress conditions. This suggests a nuanced and compound-specific response to drought, emphasizing the complexity of the relationship between drought stress and the composition of essential oils.

REFERENCES

- Abduche Galvão Pimentel, F., Altenhofen da Silva, M., Sartorio de Medeiros, S.D., Queiroz Luz, J.M. and Sala, F.C. (2023). Agronomic, sensory, and essential oil characterization of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) accessions. *Horti.*, 9, 831. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae9070831</u>
- Abid, M., Ali, S., Qi, L.K., Zahoor, R., Tian, Z., Jiang, D., Snider, J.L. and Dai, T. (2018). Physiological and biochemical changes during drought and recovery periods at tillering and jointing stages in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Sci. Rep.*, 8(1): 4615. <u>http://doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21441-7</u>
- 3. Adams, R.P. (2007). Identification of essential oil components by gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry, 4th ed. Allured Publ., Carol Stream, IL.
- 4. Ademiluyi, A.O., Oyeleye, S.I. and Oboh, G. (2016). Biological activities, antioxidant properties and phytoconstituents of essential oil from sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) leaves. *Comp. Clin. Pathol.* 25, 169-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00580-015-2163-3</u>
- 5. Agami, R.A., Medani, R.A., El-mola, I.A.A. and Taha, R.S. (2016). Exogenous application with plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) or proline induces stress tolerance in basil plants (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) exposed to water stress. *Int. J. Environ. Agri. Res.*, 2(5): 78-92.
- Ahmed, A.F., Attia, F. A. K., Liu, Z., Li, C., Wei, J. and Kang, W. (2019). Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of essential oils and extracts of sweet basil (I L.) plants. *Food Sci. Human Wellness*, 8(3) 299-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FSHW.2019.07.004</u>
- Ahmed, U., Rao, M.J., Qi, C., Xie, Q., Noushahi, H.A., Yaseen, M., Shi, X. and Zheng, B. (2021). Expression Profiling of flavonoid biosynthesis genes and secondary metabolites accumulation in *Populus* under drought stress. *Molec.*, 26: 5546. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26185546
- 8. Akinci, S. and Lösel, D.M. (2012). Plant water-stress response mechanisms. *In*: Rahman I.M.M. and Hasegawa H (Eds.). Water Stress. Croatia: In Tec:15-42.
- 9. Alara, O.R., Abdurahman, N.H. and Ukaegbu, C.I. (2021). Extraction of phenolic compounds: A review. *Current Res. Food Sci.*, 4, 200-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRFS.2021.03.011</u>
- Alhaithloul, H.A., Soliman, M.H., Ameta, K. L., El-Esawi M.A. and Elkelish, A. (2020). Changes in ecophysiology, osmolytes, and secondary metabolites of the medicinal plants of *Mentha piperita* and *Catharanthus roseus* subjected to drought and heat stress. *Biomolec.*, 10(1):43. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10010043</u>
- Al-Harbi, N.A., Al Attar, N.M., Hikal, D.M., Mohamed, S.E., Abdel Latef, A.A.H., Ibrahim, A.A. and Abdein, M.A. (2021). Evaluation of insecticidal effects of plants essential oils extracted from basil, black seeds, and lavender against *Sitophilus oryzae*. *Plants*, 10 (5):829. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10050829</u>
- Alhasan, A.S., Kadhem, M.K., Al-Ameri, M. and Al-Ameri, D.T. (2020). Growth and yield response of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) to different rates of Urea fertilizer under field conditions. *IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci.*, 553: 012044 <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/553/1/012044</u>
- Al-Huqail, A., El-Dakak, R.M., Sanad, M.N., Badr, R.H., Ibrahim, M.M., Soliman, D. and Khan, F. (2020). Effects of climate temperature and water stress on plant growth and accumulation of antioxidant compounds in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) leafy vegetable. *Scientifica*, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3808909</u>
- 14. Aliabadi, F.H., Lebaschi, M.H. and Hamidi, A. (2008). Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, phosphorus, and water stress on quantity and quality characteristics of coriander. *J. Adv. Natural Appl. Sci.*, 2(2): 55-59.

- Alishah, H.M., Heidari, R., Hassani, A. and Dizaji, A.A. (2006). Effect of water stress on some morphological and biochemical characteristics of purple basil (*Ocimum basilicum*). J. Bio. Sci., 6(4): 763-767. <u>https://doi:10.3923/jbs.2006.763.767</u>
- Amaki, W., Yamazaki, N., Ichimura, M. and Watanabe, H. (2011). Effects of light quality on the growth and essential oil content in sweet basil. *Acta Horti.*, 907: 91-94. <u>https://doi:10.17660/actahortic.2011.907.9</u>
- Amor, G., Sabbah, M., Caputo, L., Idbella, M., De Feo, V., Porta, R., Fechtali, T. and Mauriello, G. (2021). Basil essential oil: Composition, antimicrobial properties, and microencapsulation to produce active chitosan films for food packaging. *Foods*, 10: 121. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10010121</u>
- Anusmitha, K.M., Aruna, M., Job, J.T., Narayanankutty, A., PB, B., Rajagopal, R., Alfarhan, A. and Barcelo, D. (2022). Phytochemical analysis, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antigenotoxic, and anticancer activities of different *Ocimum* plant extracts prepared by ultrasoundassisted method. *Physio. Molec. Plant Path.*, 117: 101746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PMPP.2021.101746</u>
- 19. Araújo Couto, H.G.S. de, Blank, A.F., Oliveira e Silva, A.M. de, Nogueira, P.C. de L., Arrigoni-Blank, M. de F., Nizio, D.A. de C. and Pinto, J.A. de O. (2019). Essential oils of basil chemotypes: Major compounds, binary mixtures, and antioxidant activity. *Food Chem.*, 293, 446-454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2019.04.078</u>
- Aslani, Z., Hassani, A., Abdollahi Mandoulakani, B., Barin, M. and Maleki, R. (2023). Effect of drought stress and inoculation treatments on nutrient uptake, essential oil and expression of genes related to monoterpenes in sage (*Salvia officinalis*). *Sci. Horti.*, 309, 111610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2022.111610</u>
- Avetisyan, A., Markosian, A., Petrosyan, M., Sahakyan, N., Babayan, A., Aloyan, S. and Trchounian, A. (2017). Chemical composition and some biological activities of the essential oils from basil *Ocimum* different cultivars. *BMC Complem. Alter. Med.*, 17:60 <u>http://DOI.10.1186/s12906-017-1587-5</u>
- Babaee, K., Dehaghi, M.A., Sanavi, S.A.M. and Jabbari, R. (2010). Water deficit effect on morphology, proline content and thymol percentage of Thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.). *Iran J. Medic. Arom. Plants*, 26(2): 239-251. <u>https://doi.org/10.22092/ijmapr.2010.6939</u>
- 23. Baeck H. and Park, K. (2001). Effect of watering on growth and essential oil content of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*). *Horti. Sci. Techno.*, 19(1): 81-86.
- 24. Bajomo, E.M., Aing, M.S., Ford, L.S. and Niemeyer, E.D. (2022). Chemotyping of commercially available basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) varieties: Cultivar and morphotype influence phenolic acid composition and antioxidant properties. *NFS J.*, 26: 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NFS.2022.01.001
- 25. Bakhtiar, Z., Hassandokht, M., Naghavi, M. R. and Mirjalili, M. H. (2024). Phenotypical, genetic structure, and essential oil characteristics of twenty *Ocimum basilicum* L. agro-ecotypic populations from Iran. *Sci. Horti.*, *326*, 112748. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2023.112748
- 26. Bånkestad, D. and Wik, T. (2016). Growth tracking of basil by proximal remote sensing of chlorophyll fluorescence in growth chamber and greenhouse environments. *Comput. Electron. Agric.* 128: 77-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2016.08.004</u>
- 27. Barrs, H.D. (1968). Determination of water deficits in plant tissues. *In*: Koslowski, T.T. (ed.): Water deficits and plant growth. Academic Press, New York, Vol. 1: 235-368.

- Beaman, A.R., Gladon, R.J. and Schrader, J.A. (2009). Sweet basil requires an irradiance of 500 μmol/m²/s for greatest edible biomass production. *Hort. Sci.*, 44 (1): 64-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.44.1.64</u>
- 29. Benzie, I.F. and Strain, J.J. (1996). The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of antioxidant power: the FRAP assay. *Annal. Biochem.*, 239:70-76. https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1996.0292
- Bernhardt, B., Fazekas, G., Ladányi, M., Inotai, K., Zámbori-Németh, É., Bernáth, J. and Szabó, K. (2014). Morphological-, chemical- and RAPD-PCR evaluation of eight different Ocimum basilicum L. gene bank accessions. J. App. Res. Med. Arom. Plants, 1(1), e23–e29. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARMAP.2014.03.002
- Bernhardt, B., Szabó, K. and Bernáth, J. (2015). Sources of variability in essential oil composition of *Ocimum americanum* and *Ocimum tenuiflorum*. *Acta Alimentaria*, 44 (1): 111-118. <u>http://DOI:10.1556/AAlim.44.2015.1.11</u>
- 32. Berry, J.A., Beerling, D.J. and Franks, P.J. (2010). Stomata: key players in the earth system, past and present. Current Opinion in Plant Bio., 13: 233–240.
- 33. Bettaieb, I., Knioua, S., Hamrouni, I., Limam, F. and Marzouk, B. (2011). Water-deficit impact on fatty acid and essential oil composition and antioxidant activities of cumin (*Cuminum cyminum* L.) aerial parts. J. Agri. Food Chem., 59: 328-334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf1037618</u>
- 34. Bhargava, S. and Sawant, K. (2013). Drought stress adaptation: metabolic adjustment and regulation of gene expression. *Plant Breed.*, 132:21-32. <u>http://doi:10.1111/pbr.12004</u>
- Bhavya, M.L., Chandu, A.G.S. and Devi, S.S. (2018). Ocimum tenuiflorum oil, a potential insecticide against rice weevil with anti-acetylcholinesterase activity. Ind. Crops Prod., 126: 434-439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2018.143</u>
- 36. Bistgani, Z.E., Siadat, S.A., Bakhshandeh, A., Ghasemi Pirbalouti, A. and Hashemi, M. (2017). Interactive effects of drought stress and chitosan application on physiological characteristics and essential oil yield of *Thymus daenensis Celak. The Crop J.*, 5(5): 407-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2017.04.003
- Blank, A.F., Carvalho Filho, J.L.S. de, Santos Neto, A.L. dos, Alves, P.B., Arrigoni-Blank, M. de F., Silva-Mann, R. and Mendonça, M. da C. (2004). Morphologic and agronomic characterization of basil accessions. *Horti. Brasileira*, 22(1): 113-116. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-05362004000100024
- Brahmi, F., Lounis, N., Mebarakou, S., Guendouze, N., Madani, K. and Duez, P. (2022). Impact of Growth Sites on the Phenolic Contents and Antioxidant Activities of Three Algerian Mentha Species (*M. Pulegium L., M. Rotundifolia* (L.) Huds., and *M. Spicata* L.). Frontiers in Pharm., 13, 886337. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.886337</u>
- Brodribb, T.J. and McAdam, S.A. (2011). Passive origins of stomatal control in vascular plants. Sci., 331: 582–585. <u>https://doi:10.1126/science.1197985</u>
- 40. Burducea, M., Zheljazkov, V.D., Dincheva, I., Lobiuc, A., Teliban, G.C., Stoleru, V. and Zamfirache, M.M. (2018). Fertilization modifies the essential oil and physiology of basil varieties. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 121: 282-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2018.05.021</u>
- Carović-Stanko, K., Liber, Z., Besendorfer, V., Javornik, B., Bohanec, B., Kolak, I. and Satovic, Z. (2010). Genetic relations among basil taxa (*Ocimum* L.) based on molecular markers, nuclear DNA content, and chromosome number. *Plant Syst. Evol.*, 285: 13-22. http://DOI.10.1007/s00606-009-0251-z
- 42. Carović-Stanko, K., Šalinović, A., Grdiša, M., Liber, Z., Kolak I. and Satovic Z. (2011). Efficiency of morphological trait descriptors in discrimination of *Ocimum basilicum* L.

accessions. Plant Biosys. Int. J. Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Bio., 145(2): 298-305. http://doi.10.1080/11263504.2011.558677

- 43. Casson, S.A. and Hetherington A.M. (2010). Environmental regulation of stomatal development. *Current Opinion Plant Bio.*, 13: 90-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2009.08.005</u>
- Cedric, A.S, Juliani, H.R., Mentreddy, S.R. and Simon, J.E. (2014). Essential oils in holy basil (*Ocimum tenuiflorum* L.) as influenced by planting dates and harvest times in North Alabama. *J. Medic. Active Plants*. 2(3-4):33-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.7275/R5P26W1X</u>
- 45. Chalchat, J.C. and Özcan, M.M. (2008). Comparative essential oil composition of flowers, leavesand stems of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) used as herb. *Food Chem.*, 110(2):501-503. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2008.02.018
- 46. Chang, X., Alderson, P. and Wright, C. (2005). Effect of temperature integration on the growth and volatile oil content of basil (*Ocimum basilicum L.*). J. Horti. Sci. Biotech., 80(5): 593-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.2005.11511983</u>
- 47. Charles, D.J. and Simon, J.E. (1990). Comparison of extraction methods for the rapid determination of essential oil content and composition of basil. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci., 115(3):458-462.
- 48. Chavan S.N., Somasekhar, N. and Rani, B.J. (2019). Nematicidal activity of essential oils against rice root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne graminicola*. *Indian J. Nematology*, 49 (2):139-145
- 49. Chaves, M.M., Maroco, J. and Pereira, J.S. (2002). Understanding plant responses to drought -From genes to the whole plant. *Functional Plant Bio.*, 30(3): 239-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/FP02076</u>
- 50. Chowdhury, T., Mandal, A., Roy, S.C. and Sarker, D.D. (2017). Diversity of the genus *Ocimum* (Lamiaceae) through morpho-molecular (RAPD) and chemical (GC–MS) analysis. *J. Genet. Eng. Biotechnol.*, 15(1): 275-286. <u>http://doi:10.1016/j.jgeb.2016.12.004</u>
- 51. Chutimanukul, P., Jindamol, H., Thongtip, A., Korinsak, S., Romyanon, K., Toojinda, T., Darwell, C. T., Wanichananan, P., Panya, A., Kaewsri, W., Auvuchanon, A., Mosaleeyanon, K. and Chutimanukul, P. (2022). Physiological responses and variation in secondary metabolite content among Thai holy basil cultivars (*Ocimum tenuiflorum* L.) grown under controlled environmental conditions in a plant factory. *Frontiers Plant Sci.*, 13, 1008917. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.1008917
- 52. Ciriello, M., Kyriacou, M. C., de Pascale, S. and Rouphael, Y. (2022). An appraisal of critical factors configuring the composition of basil in minerals, bioactive secondary metabolites, micronutrients, and volatile aromatic compounds. *J. Food Compos. Analy.*, 111: 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFCA.2022.104582
- Clauw, P., Coppens, F., De Beuf, K., Dhondt, S., Van Daele, T., Maleux, K. and Inze, D. (2015) Leaf responses to mild drought stress in natural variants of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Physio.*, 167(3): 800–816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.254284</u>
- 54. Corell, M., Castillo García, M. and Cermeño, P. (2009). Effect of the deficit watering in the production and quality of the essential oil, in the cultivation of *Salvia officinalis* L. *Acta Hortic*. 826, 281 288. <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2009.826.39</u>.
- Corell, M., Garcia, M.C., Contreras, J.I., Segura, M.L. and Cermeño, P. (2012). Effect of water stress on *Salvia officinalis* L. Bioproductivity and its bioelement concentrations. Commun. Soil Sci. *Plant Anal.* 43, 419–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2012.641811</u>
- 56. Cornic, G. (2000). Drought stress inhibits photosynthesis by decreasing stomatal aperture not by affecting ATP synthesis. *Trends in Plant Sci.*, 5(5): 187–188.

- 57. da Silva, W.M.F., Kringel, D.H., de Souza, E.J.D., Zavareze, E.R. and Dias, A.R.G. (2020). Basil essential oil: Methods of extraction, chemical composition, biological activities, and food applications. *Food Bioprocess Technol.*, 15: 1-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-021-02690-3</u>
- 58. Damalas, C.A. (2019). Improving drought tolerance in sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum) with salicylic acid. Sci. Horti., 246: 360-365.
- 59. Darlington, C.D. and Wylie, A.P. (1955). Chromosome atlas of flowering plants, 2nd ed. George Allen and Unwin, London.
- de Castro, J.A.M., Monteiro, O.S., Coutinho, D.F., Rodrigues, A.A.C., da Silva, J.K.R. and Maia, J.G.S. (2019). Seasonal and circadian study of a thymol/γ-terpinene/p-cymene type oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. And it's antioxidant and antifungal effects. *J, Brazilian Chem. Soc.*, 30(5): 930-938. <u>https://doi.org/10.21577/0103-5053.20180237</u>
- 61. Delauney, A.J. and Verma, D.P.S. (1993). Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. *The Plant J.*, 4(2): 215-223. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1993.04020215.x
- 62. Dharsono, H.D.A., Putri, S.A., Kurnia, D., Dudi, D. and Satari, M.H. (2022). *Ocimum* species: A review on chemical constituents and antibacterial activity. *Molec.*, 27: 6350. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27196350</u>
- Di Carro, M., Ianni, C. and Magi, E. (2013) Determination of terpenoids in plant leaves by GC-MS: Development of the method and application to *Ocimum basilicum* and *Nicotiana langsdorffi. Analy. Letters*, 46(4): 630-639. <u>http://DOI:10.1080/00032719.2012.729239</u>
- 64. Do, T.H., Truong, H.B. and Nguyen, H.C. (2020). Optimization of extraction of phenolic compounds from *Ocimum basilicum* leaves and evaluation of their antioxidant activity. *Pharm. Chem. J.*, 54: 162-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11094-020-02181-3</u>
- 65. dos Santos. M.S., Lucin eacute ia, dos S.S., Carlos, A.S.C., Fabio, P.G., Larissa, C. ecirc a do B.C., Rosilene, A. de O. and Delmira, da C.S. (2016). Effects of water deficit on morphophysiology, productivity, and chemical composition of *Ocimum africanum Lour (Lamiaceae)*. *Afri. J. Agri. Res.*, 11(21): 1924-1934. <u>https://doi:10.5897/AJAR2015.10248</u>
- 66. Driesen, E., De Proft, M. and Saeys, W. (2021). Soil moisture levels affect the anatomy and mechanical properties of basil stems (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Plants*, 10, 1320. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10071320
- Driesen, E., Proft, De M. and Saeys, W. (2023). Drought stress triggers alterations of adaxial and abaxial stomatal development in basil leaves increasing water-use efficiency. *Horti. Res.*, 10 (6): uhad075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hr/uhad075</u>
- 68. Ekren, S., Sönmez, Ç., Özçakal, E., Kurttaş, Y.S.K., Bayram, E. and Gürgülü, H. (2012). The effect of different irrigation water levels on yield and quality characteristics of purple basil *(Ocimum basilicum L.). Agri. Water Manag.*, 109: 155-161.
- 69. Farahani, H.A., Valadabadi, S.A., Daneshian, J. and Khalvati, M.A. (2009). Evaluation changing of essential oil of balm (*Melissa officinalis* L.) under water deficit stress conditions. *J. Med. Plants Res.* 3, 329-333.
- 70. Farhang, V., Amini, J., Ebadollahi, A. & Sadeghi, G.R. (2014). Ocimum basilicum L. essential oil cultivated in Iran: chemical composition and antifungal activity against three Phytophthora species. Archives Phytopath. Plant Protec., 47 (14): 1696-1703. https://doi.org/10.1080/03235408.2013.855022
- Farooq, M., Hussain, M., Wahid, A., Siddique, K.H.M. (2012). Drought stress in plants: An Overview. In: Aroca, R. (eds) Plant responses to drought stress. *Springer*, Berlin, Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-32653-0_1</u>

- Figueiredo, A.C., Barroso, J.G., Pedro, L.G., and Scheffer, J.J.C. (2008). Factors affecting secondary metabolite production in plants: Volatile components and essential oils. *Flav. Frag. J.*, 23(4): 213-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.1875</u>
- 73. Filip, S., Pavlić, B., Vidović, S., Vladić, J. and Zeković, Z. (2017). Optimization of microwaveassisted extraction of polyphenolic compounds from *Ocimum basilicum* by response surface methodology. *Food Anal. Methods*, 10: 2270-2280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-017-0792-7</u>
- 74. Foyer, C.H. Descourvieres, P. and Kunert, K.J. (1994). Photo oxidative stress in plants. *Plant Physio.*, 92: 696-717.
- 75. Franz, C. and Novak, J. (2020). Sources of essential oils: In Başer, K.H.C.and Buchbauer, G. eds. Handbook of essential oils science, technology, and applications, 3rd ed. Tylor and Francis group, pp: 41-83.
- 76. Fuller, N.J., Pegg, R.B., Affolter, J. and Berle, D. (2018). Variation in growth and development, and essential oil yield between two *Ocimum* species (*O. tenuiflorum and O. gratissimum*) grown in Georgia. *HortSci.*, 53(9): 1275-1282. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI13156-18
- 77. García-Segovia, P., Andrés-Bello, A. and Martínez-Monzó, J. (2011). Rehydration of air-dried Shiitake mushroom (*Lentinus edodes*) caps: Comparison of conventional and vacuum water immersion processes. *LWT Food Sci. Techno.*, 44(2): 480–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2018.010
- Gharibi, S., Tabatabaei, B.E., Saeidi, G. and Goli, S.A. (2016). Effect of drought stress on total phenolic, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant activity of *Achillea* species. *Appl. Biochem. Biotech.*, 178(4):796-809. <u>http://doi:10.1007/s12010-015-1909-3</u>
- 79. Gossa, A. G., Asfaw, B. T., Kaigongi, M. M. and Yenesew, A. (2023). The chemotypes of Ethiopian Ocimum basilicum L. (sweet basil) germplasms. South Afri. J. Bot., 163, 348–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SAJB.2023.10.062
- Govahi, M., Ghalavand, A., Nadjafi, F. and Sorooshzadeh, A. (2015). Comparing different soil fertility systems in Sage (*Salvia officinalis*) under water deficiency. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 74, 20–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.04.053</u>.
- 81. Grayer, R.J., Kite, G.C., Goldstone, F.J., Bryan S.E., Paton, A. and Putievsky E. (1996). Infraspecific taxonomy and essential oil chemotypes in sweet basil, *Ocimum basilicum*. *Phytochem.*, 43(5):1033-9. <u>https://doi:10.1016/s0031-9422(96)00429-3</u>
- 82. Gupta, S., Srivastava, A., Shasany, A.K. and Gupta, A.K. (2018). Genetics, cytogenetics, and genetic diversity. In: The Genus *Ocimum*. Compendium of Plant Genomes, 73-87.
- 83. Gupta, (1996)Variation in herbage vield, S.C. oil yield and major component of various Ocimum species/varieties (Chemotypes) harvested at of J. different stages maturity. Essen. Oil Res., 8(3): 275-279, https://DOI:10.1080/10412905.1996.9700613
- 84. Gurav, T.P., Dholakia, B.B. and Giri, A.P. (2022). A glance at the chemodiversity of *Ocimum* species: Trends, implications, and strategies for the quality and yield improvement of essential oil. *Phytochem Rev.*, 21: 879-913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-021-09767-z</u>
- 85. Gurav, T.P., Jayaramaiah, R.H., Punekar, S.A., Dholakia, B.B. and Giri, A.P. (2020). Generation of novelties in the genus *Ocimum* as a result of natural hybridization: A morphological, genetical and chemical appraisal. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 156: 112859. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2020.112859
- 86. Hakkim, L., Arivazhagan, G. and Boopathy, R. (2008). Antioxidant property of selected *Ocimum* species and their secondary metabolite content. *J. Medic. Plants Res.*, 2(9): 250-257.
- Hanif, M. A., Nawaz, H., Ayub, M. A., Tabassum, N., Kanwal, N., Rashid, N., Saleem, M. and Ahmad, M. (2017). Evaluation of the effects of Zinc on the chemical composition and biological activity of basil essential oil by using Raman spectroscopy. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 96: 91-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2016.158</u>
- 88. Hasani, A. and Beygi, R.O. (2012). Effects of water stress on some morphological, physiological and metabolical characteristics of basil (Ocimum basilicum). J. Agri. Sci., 12(3): 47-59.
- 89. Hassanpouraghdam, M.B., Hassani, A., Vojodi, L. and Farsad-Akhtar, N. (2010). Drying method affects essential oil content and composition of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) *J. Essen. Oil Bearing Plants*, 13(6):759-766. <u>http://doi:10.1080/0972060X.2010.10643892</u>
- 90. Hazzoumi, Z., Moustakime, Y. and Joutei, K.A. (2017). Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and water stress on ultrastructural change of glandular hairs and essential oil compositions in Ocimum gratissimum. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric., 20(4): 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-017-0102-z</u>
- 91. Hazzoumi, Z., Moustakime, Y., hassan Elharchli, E. and Joutei, K.A. (2015). Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and water stress on growth, phenolic compounds, glandular hairs, and yield of essential oil in basil (*Ocimum gratissimum L*). *Chem. Biologic. Techno. Agri.*, 2:10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-015-0035-3
- 92. He, J. and Giusti, M.M. (2010). Anthocyanins: natural colorants with health-promoting properties. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.*, 1:163-187. https://doi:10.1146/annurev.food.080708.100754
- 93. Hiltunen, R. and Holm, Y. (1999). Essential oil of *Ocimum*. In Basil: The Genus *Ocimum*. Hiltunen, R., and Holm Y (Eds). Harwood Academic Publishers, Amsterdam, 77-111.
- 94. Holm, M. (1999). Bioactivity of basil. In: Hiltunen, R. and Holm, Y. (eds) Basil: The genus Ocimum. Harwood, Amsterdam, pp. 113-135.
- 95. Hossain, M.B., Barry-Ryan, C., Martin-Diana, A.B. and Brunton, N.P. (2010). Effect of drying method on the antioxidant capacity of six Lamiaceae herbs. *Food Chem.*, 123(1): 85-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2014.003
- 96. Howell, T.A. (2001). Enhancing water use efficiency in irrigated agriculture. Agron. J. 93, 281–289. <u>https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2001.932281x</u>
- 97. Inotai, K., Radácsi, P., Czövek, P., Sárosi, S. Z., Ladányi, M. and Németh, É. (2012). Lipid peroxidation and changes in the activity of superoxide dismutase caused by water deficit in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) and savory (*Satureja hortensis* L.). J. Horti. Sci. Biotechno., 87(5): 499–503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.2012.11512901</u>
- 98. Jnanesha A.C., Ashish K. and Vijaya K.M. (2018). Effect of seasonal variation on growth and oil yield in *Ocimum africanum* Lour. J. Pharmacognosy Phytochem., 73-77.
- 99. Kalamartzis, I., Menexes, G., Georgiou, P. and Dordas, C. (2020). Effect of water stress on the physiological characteristics of five basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) cultivars. *Agron.*, *10*, 1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10071029</u>
- 100.Kanwal, N., Hanif, M. A., Khan, M. M., Ansari, T. M. and Khalil-ur-Rehman. (2016). Effect of micronutrients on vegetative growth and essential oil contents of *Ocimum sanctum*. J. Essen. Oil Bearing Plants, 19(4): 980-988. <u>http://doi:10.1080/0972060x.2016.1188735</u>
- 101.Kerekes, B., Antal, T. and Kovács, Z. (2019). Effect of various drying methods on the volatile oil composition of basil leaves. *Hungarian Agri. Engin.*, 35: 39-44. <u>http://doi.org/10.17676/HAE.2019.35.39</u>

- 102.Kew Royal Botanical Gardens. (2022). *Ocimum* L. Plants of the world online. Accessed on December 2022. <u>https://powo.science.kew.org/taxon/urn:lsid:ipni.org:names:21070-1</u>
- 103.Khalid, K.A. (2006). Influence of water stress on growth, essential oil, and chemical composition of herbs (*Ocimum sp.*). *Int. Agrophysics*, 20(4): 289–296.
- 104.Khalil, S.E., Abd El-Aziz, N.G. and Leila, B.H.A. (2010). Effect of water stress, ascorbic acid and spraying time on some morphological and biochemical composition of *Ocimum basilicum* plant. J. Am. Sci., 6(12): 33-44.
- 105.Khazaie, H.R., Nadjafi, F. and Bannayan, M. (2008). Effect of irrigation frequency and planting density on herbage biomass and oil production of thyme (*Thymus vulgaris*) and hyssop (*Hyssopus officinalis*). *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 27, 315–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.11.007</u>
- 106.Khorasaninejad, S., Mousavi, A., Soltanloo, H., Hemmati, K., Khalighi, A. (2011). The effect of drought stress on growth parameters, essential oil yield and constituent of Peppermint (*Mentha piperita* L.). *J. Med. Plants Res.* 5, 5360–5365.
- 107.Kleinwächter, M. and Selmar, D. (2015). New insights explain that drought stress enhances the quality of spice and medicinal plants: potential applications. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 35: 121-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-014-0260-3</u>
- 108.Kordi, S., Saidi, M. and Ghanbari, F. (2013). Induction of drought tolerance in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L) by salicylic acid. *Int. J. Agri. Food Res.*, 2(2):18-26.
- 109.Koroch, A.R., Simon, J.E. and Juliani, H.R. (2017). Essential oil composition of purple basils, their reverted green varieties (*Ocimum basilicum*) and their associated biological activity. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 107, 526–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2017.04.066</u>
- 110.Kumar, A., Mishra, P., Rodrigues, V., Baskaran, K., Verma, R. S., Padalia, R. C. and Sundaresan, V. (2019). Delineation of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. complex combining morphological, molecular and essential oils analysis. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 139, 111536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2019.111536</u>
- 111.Kumar, B., Gupta, E., Yadav, R., Singh, S.C. and Lal, R.K. (2014). Temperature effects on seed germination potential of holy basil (*Ocimum tenuiflorum*). *Seed Technol.*, 36 (1): 75-79.
- 112.Kwee, E.M. and Niemeyer, E.D. (2011). Variations in phenolic composition and antioxidant properties among 15 basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) cultivars. *Food Chem.*, 128(4): 1044-1050. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2011.04.011
- 113.Labra, M., Miele, M., Ledda, B., Grassi, F., Mazzei, M. and Sala, F. (2004). Morphological characterization, essential oil composition and DNA genotyping of *Ocimum basilicum* L. cultivars. *Plant Sci.*, 167(4): 725-731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PLANTSCI.2004.04.026</u>
- 114.Li, Y., He, N., Hou, J., Xu, L., Liu, C., Zhang, J. and Wu, X. (2018). Factors influencing leaf chlorophyll content in natural forests at the biome scale. *Frontiers Eco. Evo.*, 6:1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2018.00064
- 115.Li, Y., Kong, D., Fu, Y., Sussman, M. R. and Wu, H. (2020). The effect of developmental and environmental factors on secondary metabolites in medicinal plants. *Plant Physio. Biochem.*, 148, 80-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PLAPHY.2021.006</u>
- 116.Lichtenthaler, H.K. (1996) Vegetation stress: an introduction to the stress concept in plants. J. *Plant Physio.*, 148 (1-2): 4–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176-1617(96)80287-2</u>
- 117.Lisar, S.Y.S., Motafakkerazad, R., Hossain, M.M. and Rahman, I.M.M. (2012). Water stress in plants: causes, effects and responses, In: Rahman, I.M.M., Hasegawa, H. (Eds.). Water Stress. Croatia: In Tech.:1-15.

- 118.Luna, M.C., Bekhradi, F., Ferreres, F., Jordán, M.J., Delshad, M. and Gil, M.I. (2015). Effect of water stress and storage time on anthocyanins and other phenolics of different genotypes of fresh sweet basil. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 63(42): 9223-9231. <u>https://doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.5b04131</u>
- 119.Maddi, R., Amani, P., Bhavitha, S., Gayathri, T. and Lohitha, T. (2019). A review on Ocimum species: Ocimum americanum L., Ocimum basilicum L., Ocimum gratissimum L. and Ocimum tenuiflorum L. Intern.J. Res. Ayurv. Pharm., 10 (3):41-48.
- 120.Mafakheri, A., Siosemardeh, A., Bahramnejad, B., Struik, P.C. and Sohrabi, E. (2010). Effect of drought stress on yield, proline and chlorophyll contents in three chickpea cultivars. *Aust. J. Crop Sci.*, 4: 580–585.
- 121.Mahajan, M. and Pal, P.K. (2023). Drought and salinity stress in medicinal and aromatic plants: Physiological response, adaptive mechanism, management/amelioration strategies, and an opportunity for production of bioactive compounds. *Advances Agron.*, 182, 221–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.AGRON.2023.06.005
- 122.Mahajan, M., Kuiry, R. and Pal, P.K. (2020). Understanding the consequence of environmental stress for accumulation of secondary metabolites in medicinal and aromatic plants. *J. Appl. Res. Medic. Arom. Plants*, 18:100255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARMAP.2020.100255</u>
- 123.Mandoulakani, A.B., Eyvazpour, E. and Ghadimzadeh, M. (2017). The effect of drought stress on the expression of key genes involved in the biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids and essential oil components in basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Phytochem.*, 139: 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYTOCHEM.2017.03.006
- 124.Manzoor, F., Beena, W., Malik, S., Naz, N., Naz, S. and Syed, W.H. (2011). Preliminary evaluation of *Ocimum sanctum* as toxicant and repellent against termite, *Heterotermes indicola* (wasmann) (Isoptera: Rhinotermitidae). *Pak. J. Sci.*, 63: 59-62.
- 125.Marotti, M., Piccaglia, R. and Giovanelli, E. (1996). Differences in essential oil composition of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) Italian cultivars related to morphological characteristics. J. Agric. Food Chem., 44(12): 3926-3929 <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9601067</u>
- 126.Martínez-Gordillo, M., Martínez-Ambriz, E., M.R. García-Peña, M.R., Cantú-Morón, E.A. and Fragoso-Martínez, E.L. (2019). Lamiaceae, flora of the Tehuacán-Cuicatlán Valley. National Autonomous University of Mexico. <u>http://doi:10.22201/ib.9786073017909e.2019</u>
- 127.Martínez-Natarén, D.A., Villalobos-Perera, P.A. and Munguía-Rosas, M.A. (2018). Morphology and density of glandular trichomes of *Ocimum campechianum* and *Ruellia nudiflora* in contrasting light environments: A scanning electron microscopy study. *Flora*, 248: 28-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FLORA.2018.08.011</u>
- 128.Matysiak, B. and Kowalski, A. (2019). White, blue, and red LED lighting on growth, morphology and accumulation of flavonoid compounds in leafy greens. *Zemdirbyste Agric*. 106 (3): 281-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.13080/z-a.2019.106.036</u>
- 129.Maurya, S., Chandra, M., Yadav, R.K., Narnoliya, L.K., Sangwan, R.S., Bansal, S., Sandhu, P., Singh, U., Kumar, D. and Sangwan, N.S. (2019). Interspecies comparative features of trichomes in *Ocimum* reveal insights for biosynthesis of specialized essential oil metabolites. *Protoplasma*, 256 (4): 893-907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-018-01338-y
- 130.Mediratta, P.K., Sharma, K.K. and Singh, S. (2002). Evaluation of the immunomodulatory potential of *Ocimum sanctum* seed oil and its possible mechanism of action. *J. Ethnopharmacology*, 80(1): 15-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-8741(01)00373-7</u>
- 131.Miguel, M.G. (2011). Anthocyanins: Antioxidant and/or anti-inflammatory activities. J. Appl. Pharm. Sci., 1:7-15.

- 132.Morales, F., Ancín, M., Fakhet, D., González-Torralba, J., Gámez, A. L., Seminario, A. and Aranjuelo, I. (2020). Photosynthetic metabolism under stressful growth conditions as a bases for crop breeding and yield improvement. *Plants*, 9(1): 88. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9010088
- 133.Morton, J.K. (1962). Cytotaxonomic studies on the West African Labiatae. *Botanic. J. Linnean Soc.*, 58(372): 231-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1962.tb00896.x</u>
- 134.Mota, I., Sánchez-Sánchez, J., Pedro, L.G. and Sousa, M.J. (2020). Composition variation of the essential oil from *Ocimum basilicum* L. cv. Genovese Gigante in response to *Glomus intraradices* and mild water stress at different stages of growth. *Biochem. Syst. Eco.*, 90: 104021. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BSE.2020.104021
- 135.Mousavi, L., Salleh, R.M. and Murugaiyah, V. (2018) Phytochemical and bioactive compounds identification of *Ocimum tenuiflorum* leaves of methanol extract and its fraction with an antidiabetic potential. *International J. Food Properties*, 21(1): 2390-2399. http://DOI:10.1080/10942912.2018.1508161
- 136.Müller, J. and Heindl, A. (2006). Drying of Medicinal Plants. *In*: J. Bogers, L.E. Craker and D. Lange (eds.). Medicinal and aromatic plants agricultural, commercial, ecological, legal, pharmacological and social aspects. *Springer*, 237-252. <u>http://DOI:10.1007/1-4020-5449-1_17</u>
- 137.Mulugeta, S. M., Pluhár, Z. & Radácsi, P. (2024). Phenotypic variations and bioactive constituents among selected *Ocimum* species. *Plants*, 13(1), 64. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants13010064</u>
- 138.Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2022). Influence of drought stress on growth and essential oil yield of *Ocimum* species. *Horti.*, 8 (175): 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae8020175</u>
- 139.Mulugeta, S.M., Radácsi, P. and Gosztola, B. (2022). Morphological and biochemical responses of selected *Ocimum* species under drought. *Herba polon.*, 68(4):1-10. https://doi.org/10.2478/hepo-2022-0019
- 140.Mulugeta, S.M., Sárosi, S., and Radácsi, P. (2023). Physio-morphological trait and bioactive constituents of *Ocimum* species under drought stress. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 205: 117545. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2023.117545
- 141.Najafian, S. (2014). Storage conditions affect the essential oil composition of cultivated Balm Mint Herb (Lamiaceae) in Iran. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 52: 575-581. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2013.11.015
- 142.Naveen, M.; Jayaraj, J.; Chinniah, C.; Mini, M.L.; Vellaikumar, S.; Shanthi, M. Insecticidal property of methanolic leaf extract of sweet basil, *Ocimum basilicum* (L.) against cigarette beetle, *Lasioderma serricorne* (Fab.) (Coleoptera: Anobiidae). J. *Ento. Zool. Stud.* 2021, 9(1): 259-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.22271/j.ento.2021.v9.i1d.8155</u>
- 143.Nemeskeri, E., Molnar, K., Vigh, R., Nagy, J. and Dobos, A. (2015). Relationships between stomatal behaviour, spectral traits and water use and productivity of green peas (*Pisum sativum* L.) in dry seasons. *Acta Physio. Plantarum*, 37: 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-015-1776-0</u>
- 144.Németh, É. (2005). Changes in essential oil quantity and quality influenced by ontogenetic factors. *Acta Hortic.*, 675: 159-165. <u>http://doi.10.17660/ActaHortic.2005.675.23</u>
- 145.Németh, É.Z., Szabó, K., Pluhár, Z., Radácsi, P. and Inotai, K. (2016). Changes in biomass and essential oil profile of four Lamiaceae species due to different soil water levels. J. Essen. Oil Res., 28 (5):391-399. <u>http://doi.10.1080/10412905.2016.1176606</u>

- 146.Nurzyńska-Wierdak R., Anna Bogucka-Kocka, A., Kowalski, R. and Borowski, B. (2012). Changes in the chemical composition of the essential oil of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) depending on the plant growth stage. *Chemija.*, 23 (3):216-222.
- 147.Nurzyńska-Wierdak, R. (2007). Comparing the growth and flowering of selected basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) varieties. *Acta Agrobot.*, 60:127-131. https://doi.org/10.5586/aa.2007.040
- 148.Nurzyńska-Wierdak, R. (2013). Morphological and Chemical variability of *Ocimum basilicum* L. (Lamiaceae). *Modern Phytomorph.*, 3, 115–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.161999</u>
- 149.Occhipinti, A., Capuzzo, A., Bossi, S., Milanesi, C. and Maffei, M.E. (2013). Comparative analysis of supercritical CO₂ extracts and essential oils from an *Ocimum basilicum* chemotype particularly rich in T-cadinol. *J. Essen. Oil Res.*, 25(4): 272-277. https://DOI:10.1080/10412905.2013.75083
- 150.Oguz, M.C., Aycan, M., Oguz, E., Poyraz, I. and Yildiz, M. (2022). Drought Stress Tolerance in Plants: Interplay of Molecular, Biochemical and Physiological Responses in Important Development Stages. *Physiologia*, 2: 180-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/physiologia2040015</u>
- 151.Omidbaigi, R., Hassani, A. and Sefidkon, F. (2003). Essential oil content and composition of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum) at different irrigation regimes. J. Essent. Oil Bearing Plants, 6(2): 104-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0972-060X.2003.10643335</u>
- 152.Omobolanle, A.E., Obi, H.o. and Craker, L.E. (2013). Growth and essential oil yield of African basil, *Ocimum gratissimum*, under light and water stress. *J. Med. Active Plants*, 1 (4): 143-149.
- 153.Onofrei, V., Benchennouf, A., Jancheva, M., Loupassaki, S., Ouaret, W., Burducea, M., Lobiuc, A., Teliban, G.C. and Robu, T. (2018). Ecological foliar fertilization effects on essential oil composition of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) cultivated in a field system. *Sci. Horti.*, 239: 104-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2018.05.021</u>
- 154.Osakabe, Y., Osakabe, K., Shinozaki, K. and Tran, L-SP. (2014). Response of plants to water stress. *Front. Plant Sci.*, 5:86. <u>http://doi:10.3389/fpls.2014.00086</u>
- 155.Ozdemir, N., Ozgen, Y., Kiralan, M., Bayrak, A., Arslan, N. and Ramadan, M.F. (2018). Effect of different drying methods on the essential oil yield, composition, and antioxidant activity of *Origanum vulgare* L. and *Origanum onites* L. *Food Measure*, 12, 820-825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11694-017-9696-x
- 156.Padalia, R.C., Verma R.S. & Chauhan, A. (2017). Diurnal variations in aroma profile of Ocimum basilicum L., O. gratissimum L., O. americanum L., and O. kilimandscharicum Guerke. J. Essen. Oil Res., 29:3, 248-261. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2016.1216898
- 157.Pandey, A.K., Singh, P. and Tripathi, N.N. (2014). Chemistry and bioactivities of essential oils of some *Ocimum species*: an overview. *Asian Pacific J. Trop. Biomed.*, 4(9): 682-694. https://doi.org/10.12980/APJTB.4.2014C77
- 158.Patel, R.P., Kumar, R.R., Singh, R., Singh, R.R., Rao, B.R.R., Singh, V.R. and Lal, R.K. (2015b). Study of genetic variability patterns and their possibility of exploitation in *Ocimum* germplasm. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 66, 119-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.12.043
- 159.Patel, R.P., Singh, R., Saikia, S.K., Rajeswara Rao, B.R., Sastry, K.P., Zaim, M. and Lal, R.K. (2015a). Phenotypic characterization and stability analysis for biomass and essential oil yields of fifteen genotypes of five *Ocimum* species. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 77, 21-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2015.08.043</u>

- 160.Paton, A. and Putievsky E. (1996). Taxonomic problems and cytotaxonomic relationships between and within varieties of *Ocimum basilicum* and related species (Labiatae). *Kew Bulletin*, 51 (3): 509 524. <u>https://DOI.10.2307/4117026</u>
- 161.Paton, A., Harley, M.R. and Harley, M.M. (1999) *Ocimum*: an overview of classification and relationships. In: Hiltunen, R., Holm, Y. (Eds) Basil: the genus *Ocimum*. Harwood, Amsterdam, pp 1-38.
- 162.Pavithra Kumari H.G., Narase Gowda, P.N. and Prasad, M.P. (2019). Studies on antimicrobial activity of *Ocimum* species of Karnataka against clinical isolates. *Ind. J. Pure App. Biosci.*, 7(4): 245-254. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18782/2320-7051.7732</u>
- 163.Pennisi, G., Pistillo, A., Orsini, F., Cellini, A., Spinelli, F., Nicola, S., Fernandez, J.A., Crepaldi, A., Gianquinto, G. and Marcelis, L.F.M. (2020). Optimal light intensity for sustainable water and energy use in indoor cultivation of lettuce and basil under red and blue LEDs. *Sci. Horti.*, 272: 109508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2020.109508</u>
- 164.Pharmacopoeia Hugarica. (1986). Pharmacopoeia Hungarica 7th ed., vol.1, Budapest, 395-398.
- 165.Phippen, W.B. and Simon J.E. (1998). Anthocyanins in basil (Ocimum basilicum L.). J. Agric. Food Chem., 46:1734-1738. https://doi:10.1021/jf970887r
- 166.Pino, J.A., Rosado, A. and Fuentes, V. (1996) Composition of the essential oil from the leaves and flowers of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. grown in Cuba. J. Essen. Oil Res., 8(2): 139-141. <u>http://DOI:10.1080/10412905.1996.9700581</u>
- 167.Piras, A., Gonçalves, M. J., Alves, J., Falconieri, D., Porcedda, S., Maxia, A. and Salgueiro, L. (2018). Ocimum tenuiflorum L. and Ocimum basilicum L., two spices of Lamiaceae family with bioactive essential oils. Ind. Crops Prod., 113, 89-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2018.01.024
- 168.Pirbalouti, A.G., Malekpoor, F., Salimi, A. and Golparvar, A. (2017b). Exogenous application of chitosan on biochemical and physiological characteristics, phenolic content and antioxidant activity of two species of basil (*Ocimum ciliatum* and *Ocimum basilicum*) under reduced irrigation. *Sci. Horti.*, 217: 114-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2017.01.031</u>
- 169.Pirbalouti, A.G., Malekpoor, F., Salimi, A., Golparvar, A. and Hamedi, B. (2017a). Effects of foliar of the application chitosan and reduced irrigation on essential oil yield, total phenol content, and antioxidant activity of extracts from green and purple basil. *Acta scientiarum Polonorum Hortorumcultus*, 16(6): 177-186.
- 170.Pirbalouti, A.G., Samani, M.R., Hashemi, M. and Zeinali, H. (2014). Salicylic acid affects growth, essential oil, and chemical compositions of thyme (*Thymus daenensis* Celak.) under reduced irrigation. *Plant Growth Regul.* 72, 289–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-013-9860-1</u>
- 171.Pirzad, A., Shakiba, M.R. and Zehtab-Salmasi, S. (2011). Effect of water stress on leaf relative water content, chlorophyll, proline, and soluble carbohydrates in *Matricaria chamomilla* L. J. *Med. Plants Res.*, 5:2483-2488.
- 172.Pour-Aboughadareh, A., Omidi, M., Naghavi, M.R., Etminan, A., Mehrabi, A.A., Poczai, P. and Bayat, H. (2019). Effect of water deficit stress on seedling biomass and physio-chemical characteristics in different species of wheat possessing the D genome. *Agron.*, 9(9): 522.
- 173.Prinsi, B., Morgutti S., Negrini, N., Faoro, F.and Espen, L. (2020). Insight into composition of bioactive phenolic compounds in leaves and flowers of green and purple basil. *Plants*, 9(1):22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9010022</u>

- 174.Puangbut, D., Jogloy, S. and Vorasoot, N. (2017). Association of photosynthetic traits with water use efficiency and SPAD chlorophyll meter reading of *Jerusalem* artichoke under drought conditions. *Agri. Water Manag.*, 188:29-35.
- 175.Putievsky, E. and Galambosi, B. (1999). Production systems of sweet basil. In: In: Hiltunen, R., Holm, Y. (Eds) Basil: The genus *Ocimum*. Harwood Academic Publishers, Amsterdam, pp PP: 39-65.
- 176.Putievsky, E., Paton, A., Lewinsohn, E., Ravid, U., Haimovich, D., Katzir, I., Saadi, D. and Dudai, N. (1999). Crossability and relationship between morphological and chemical Varieties of *Ocimum basilicum L. J. Herbs, Spices Medic. Plants,* 6(3):11-24. <u>http://doi:10.1300/J044v06n03_02</u>
- 177.Pyne, R. M., Honig, J.A., Vaiciunas, J., Wyenandt, C.A. and Simon, J.E. (2018). Population structure, genetic diversity, and downy mildew resistance among *Ocimum species* germplasm. *BMC Plant Bio.*, 18(1):1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-018-1284-7
- 178.Quideau, S., Deffieux, D., Douat-Casassus, C. and Pouysegu, L. (2011). Plant polyphenols: Chemical properties, biological activities, and synthesis. Angew. *Chem. Int. Ed.*, 50: 586-621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201000044</u>
- 179.Radácsi, P. Inotai, K., Sárosi, S. and Németh, É. (2016). Effect of soil water content on the physiological parameters, production, and active substances of summer savory (*Satureja hortensis* L.). Acta scientiarum Polonorum. Hortorumcultus, 15(2):3-12.
- 180.Radácsi, P., Inotai, K., Sárosi, S., Czövek, P., Bernáth, J. and Németh, É. (2010). Effect of water supply on the physiological characteristic and production of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Euro. J. Horti. Sci.*, 75(5): 193–197.
- 181.Radácsi, P., Inotai, K., Sárosi, S., Hári, K., Seidler-Łożykowska, K., Musie, S. and Zámboriné, É.N. (2020). Effect of irrigation on the production and volatile compounds of sweet basil cultivars (L.). *Herba Polon.*, 66:14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/hepo-2020-0021</u>.
- 182.Radwan, A., Kleinwächter, M. and Selmar, D. (2017). Impact of drought stress on specialised metabolism: Biosynthesis and the expression of monoterpene synthases in sage (*Salvia officinalis*). *Phytochemistry*, 141, 20–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYTOCHEM.2017.05.005</u>
- 183.Raina, A. and Kumar, A. (2017) Chemical characterization of basil germplasm for essential oil Composition and chemotypes. J. Essen. Oil Bear. Plants, 20(6), 1579-1586, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2017.1421105</u>
- 184.Raina, A.P. and Misra, R. (2018). Chemo-divergence in essential oil composition among germplasm collection of five *Ocimum* species from eastern coastal plains of India. J. Essen. Oil Res., 30:47-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2017.1371087</u>
- 185.Raina, A.P. and Gupta, V. (2018) Chemotypic characterization of diversity in essential oil composition of *Ocimum* species and varieties from India. J. Essen. Oil Res., 30 (6): 444-456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2018.1495109</u>
- 186.Raina, A.P., Kumar, A. and Dutta, M. (2013). Chemical characterization of aroma compounds in essential oil isolated from "Holy Basil" (*Ocimum tenuiflorum* L.) grown in India. *Genet. Resour. Crop Evol.*, 60, 1727–1735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-013-9981-4</u>
- 187.Rakic, Z. and Johnson, C.B. (2002). Influence of environmental factors (Including UV-B radiation) on the composition of the essential Oil of *Ocimum basilicum* sweet basil. *J. Herbs, Spices and Medic. Plants,* 9 (2-3):157-162. <u>http://doi:10.1300/J044v09n02_22</u>
- 188.Rana, V.S. and Blazquez, M.A. (2015) Essential Oil Composition of the Aerial Parts of Five Ocimum species from Western India. J. Essen. Oil Bear. Plants, 18(5): 1234-1241, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2014.931255</u>

- 189.Rao, B.R.R., Kothari, S.K., Rajput, D.K., Patel, R.P. and Darokar, M.P. (2011). Chemical and biological diversity in fourteen selections of four *Ocimum* species. *Natural Prod. Commun.*, 6(11):1705-1710. <u>https://doi:10.1177/1934578X11006011354</u>
- 190.Rasouli, D. and Fakheri, B. (2016). Effects of drought stress on quantitative and qualitative yield, physiological characteristics and essential oil of *Ocimum basilicum* L. and *Ocimum americanum* L. *Iranian J. Med. Arom. Plants*, 32(5): 914. https://doi.org/10.22092/ijmapr.2016.108094
- 191.Rauf, S., Al-Khayri, J.M., Zaharieva, M., Monneveux, P. and Khalil, F. (2015). Breeding strategies to enhance drought tolerance in crops. In: *Advances in Plant Breeding Strategies; Agronomic, Abiotic and Biotic Stress Traits*, Al-Khayri J.M., et al. (Eds). *Springer*, Berlin:1–70.
- 192.Rawat, R., Tiwari, V., Singh, R. and Bisht, I.S. (2017) Assessment of the essential oil composition in Ocimum species of Uttarakhand. J. Essen. Oil Bear. Plants, 20 (5): 1331-1341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0972060X.2017.1383190</u>
- 193.Razmjoo, K., Heydarizadeh, P. and Sabzalian, M.R. (2008). Effect of salinity and drought stresses on growth parameters and essential oil content of Matricaria chamomile. *Int. J. Agric. Biol.* 10, 451-454.
- 194.Reynolds, S.G. (1970). The gravimetric method of soil moisture determination Part I A study of equipment, and methodological problems. J. Hydro., 11(3):258-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(70)90066-1</u>
- 195.Romano, R., De Luca, L., Aiello, A., Pagano, R., Di Pierro, P., Pizzolongo, F. and Masi, P. (2022). Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) leaves as a source of bioactive compounds. *Foods*, 11: 3212. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11203212</u>
- 196.Rowshan, V., Bahmanzadegan, A. and Saharkhiz, M. J. (2013). Influence of storage conditions on the essential oil composition of *Thymus daenensis* Celak. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 49: 97-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2013.04.029
- 197.Sakalauskaitė, J., Viskelis, P., Dambrauskienė, E., Sakalauskienė, S., Samuolienė, G., Brazaitytė, A. and Urbonavičienė, D. (2012). The effects of different UV-B radiation intensities on morphological and biochemical characteristics in *Ocimum basilicum* L. J. Sci. Food Agri., 93(6): 1266-1271. <u>https://doi:10.1002/jsfa.5879</u>
- 198.Saran, P.L., Damor, H. I., Lal, M., Sarkar, R., Kalariya, K. A. and Suthar, M. K. (2023). Identification of suitable chemotype of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. for cost effective eugenol production. *Ind.Crops Prod.*, 191, 115890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2022.115890</u>
- 199.Saran, P.L., Tripathy, V., Saha, A., Kalariya, K.A., Suthar, M.K. and Kumar, J. (2017). Selection of superior *Ocimum sanctum* L. accessions for industrial application. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 108, 700-707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2017.07.028</u>
- 200.Scholander, P.F., Bradstreet, E.D., Hemmingsen, E.A. and Hammel, H.T. (1965). Sap pressure in vascular plants: Negative hydrostatic pressure can be measured in plants. *Sci.* 148 (3668): 339-346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.148.3668.339</u>
- 201.Seleiman, M.F., Al-Suhaibani, N., Ali, N., Akmal, M., Alotaibi, M., Refay, Y., Dindaroglu, T., Abdul-Wajid, H.H. and Battaglia, M.L. (2021). Drought stress impacts on plants and different approaches to alleviate its adverse effects. *Plants*, 10(2):259. https://doi:10.3390/plants10020259.
- 202.Selmar, D. and Kleinwächter, M. (2013). Influencing the product quality by deliberately applying drought stress during the cultivation of medicinal plants. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 42 (1): 558-566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2012.06.020</u>

- 203.Shahrajabian, M.H., Sun, W. and Cheng, Q. (2020) Chemical components and pharmacological benefits of Basil (*Ocimum basilicum*): a review. *Intern. J. Food Properties*, 23(1): 1961-1970. https://DOI:10.1080/10942912.2020.1828456
- 204.Shao, H.B., Chu, L.Y., Jaleel, C.A. and Zhao, C.X. (2008). Water-deficit stress-induced anatomical changes in higher plants. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 331(3): 215-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRVI.2008.01.002</u>
- 205.Shasany, A.K. and Kole, C. (*Eds.*). (2018). The *Ocimum* genome, compendium of plant genomes, Springer Nature Switzerland.
- 206.Shiwakoti, S., Saleh, O., Poudyal, S., Barka, A., Qian, Y. and Zheljazkov, V.D. (2017). Yield, composition and antioxidant capacity of the essential oil of sweet basil and holy basil as influenced by distillation methods. *Chem. Biodiver.*, 14(4): e1600417– http://doi:10.1002/cbdv.201600417
- 207.Sigaye, M.H., Lulie, B., Yakob, A., Nigussei, A., Mekuria, R. and Kebede, K. (2021). Fresh herbage and essential oil yield of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) as affected by mineral fertilizers. *Med. Aromat Plants*, 10 (6): 389. https://DOI:10.35248/2167-0412.21.10.389
- 208.Simon, J.E., Phippen, W.B. and Vieira, R. (1999). *Basil:* A Source of Aroma Compounds and a Popular Culinary and Ornamental Herb. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/245581551</u>
- 209.Simon, J.E., Quinn, J. and Murray, R.G. (1990) Basil: A Source of Essential Oils. In: J. Janick and J.E.Simon, (eds), Advances in New Crops_(Proceedings of the First National Symposium NEW CROPS: Research, Development, Economics, Indianapolis, Indiana, October 1988), Timber Press, Portland, Oregon, pp. 484-489.
- 210.Simon, J.E., Reiss-Bubenheim, D., Joly, R.J. and Charles, D.J. (1992). Water stress-induced alterations in essential oil content and composition of sweet basil. *J. Essen. Oil Res.*, 4, 71-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.1992.9698013
- 211.Simoons, F.J. (1998). Plants of Life, Plants of Death. University of Wisconsins Press, PP: 7-40.
- 212.Singh, S., Lal, R.K., Maurya, R. and Chanotiya, C.S. (2018). Genetic diversity and chemotype selection in genus Ocimum. J. Appl. Res. Medic. Arom. Plants, 9: 19-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARMAP.2017.11.004</u>
- 213.Singh, S., Majumdar, D.K., and Rehan, H.M.S. (1996). Evaluation of anti-inflammatory potential of fixed oil of *Ocimum sanctum* (Holy basil) and its possible mechanism of action. *J. Ethnopharm.*, 54(1): 19-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(96)83992-4</u>
- 214.Singleton, V.L. and Rossi, J.A. Jr. (1965). Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdic-phospho-tungstic acid reagents. *Am. J. Enol. Viticult.*, 16: 144-58.
- 215.Sipos, L., Balázs, L., Székely, G., Jung, A., Sárosi, S., Radácsi, P. and Csambalik, L. (2021). Optimization of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) production in LED light environments – a review. *Sci. Horti.*, 289: 110486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2021.110486</u>
- 216.Smitha, G.R. and Tripathy, V. (2016). Seasonal variation in the essential oils extracted from leaves and inflorescence of different Ocimum species grown in Western plains of India. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 94: 52-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2016.07.041</u>
- 217.Strasser, R.J., Srivastava, A. and Govindjee. (1995). Polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence transient in plants and cyanobacteria. *Photochem. Photobio.*, 61: 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.1995.tb09240.x
- 218.Sunita, B., Geeta, T., Chitra, P. and Lata, R. (2018). Impact of Drying Methods on Essential Oil Composition of Ocimum americanum L. From Kumaun Himalayas, J. Essent. Oil Bearing Plants, 21(5): 1385-1396. <u>http://DOI:10.1080/0972060X.2018.1543031</u>

- 219.Szabó, K., Zubay, P. and Zámboriné, N. (2020). What shapes our knowledge of the relationship between water deficiency stress and plant volatiles? *Acta Physiol. Plant*, 42:130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-020-03120-1
- 220.Taha, R.S., Alharby, H.F., Bamagoos, A.A., Medani, R.A. and Rady, M.M. (2020). Elevating tolerance of drought stress in *Ocimum basilicum* using pollen grains extract; a natural biostimulant by regulation of plant performance and antioxidant defense system. *South Afri. J. Bot.*, 128, 42-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SAJB.2019.09.014</u>
- 221.Tangpao, T., Chung, H.H. and Sommano, S.R. (2018). Aromatic profiles of essential oils from five commonly used Thai basils. *Foods*, 7(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods7110175</u>
- 222.Tátrai, Z.A., Sanoubar, R., Pluhár, Z., Mancarella, S., Orsini, F. and Gianquinto, G. (2016). Morphological and physiological plant responses to drought stress in *Thymus citriodorus*. *Int. J. Agron.*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4165750</u>
- 223.Telci, I., Bayram, E., Yilmaz, G. & Avci, B. (2006). Variability in essential oil composition of Turkish basils (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Biochem. Syst. Eco.*, 34(6): 489–497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BSE.2006.01.009</u>
- 224.Teofilović, B., Tomas, A., Martić, N., Stilinović, N., Popović, M., Čapo, I., Grujić, N., Ilinčić, B. and Rašković, A. (2021). Antioxidant and hepatoprotective potential of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) extract in acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *J. Functional Foods*, 87: 104783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFF.2021.104783</u>
- 225.The Herb Society of America. (2003). Basil: An Herb Society of America Guide. <u>https://www.herbsociety.org/file_download/inline/c2cd2efa-f150-4aac-9c7b-f10a0ccaf889</u>. Accessed in December 2023.
- 226.Thounaojam, A.S., Sakure, A.A., Dhaduk H.L., Kumar S. and Mistry, J.G. (2020). Impact evaluation of growth stage and species on morpho-physiological traits and bioactive constituent of essential oil in *Ocimum* through multi-year experiment. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 158:113052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.113052
- 227.Torres-Ruiz, J.M., Diaz-Espejo, A, Morales-Sillero, A., Martín- Palomo, M.J., Mayr, S., Beikircher, B. and Fernandez, J.E. (2013). Shoot hydraulic characteristics, plant water status and stomatal response in olive trees under different soil water conditions. *Plant Soil*, 373: 77-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1774-1</u>
- 228. Tsasi, G., Mailis, T., Daskalaki, A., Sakadani, E., Razis, P., Samaras, Y. and Skaltsa, H. (2017). The effect of harvesting on the composition of essential oils from five varieties of *Ocimum basilicum* L. cultivated in the Island of Kefalonia, Greece. *Plants*, 6:41. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants6030041</u>
- 229.Turek, C. and Stintzing, F.C. (2012). Impact of different storage conditions on the quality of selected essential oils. *Food Res. Intern.*, 46(1): 341-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2011.12.028
- 230.Turek, C. and Stintzing, F.C. (2013). Stability of essential oils: A Review. *Comprehensive Rev. Food Sci. Food Safety*, 12(1):40-53. <u>https://doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12006</u>
- 231.Tursun, A.O. and Telci, I. (2020) The effects of carbon dioxide and temperature on essential oil composition of purple basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). J. Essen. Oil Bear. Plants, 23(2):255-265. http://DOI:10.1080/0972060X.2020.1741452
- 232.Ullah, S., Rauf, N., Hussain, A., Sheikh, I.A. and Farooq, M. (2022). HPLC profile of phenolic acids and flavonoids of *Ocimum sanctum* and *Ocimum basilicum*. *Int. J. Plant Based Pharmaceut.*, 2(2): 205-209.

- 233.UPOV. (2003). Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.): Guidelines for the conduct of tests for distinctness, uniformity, and stability. International Union of New Varieties of Plant (UPOV), Geneva.
- 234.van Den Dool, H. and Kratz, P. (1963). A generalization of the retention index system including linear temperature programmed gas-liquid partition chromatography. J. Chromatography A 11: 463–471. http://doi:10.1016/s0021-9673(01)80947-x
- 235.Varga, F., Carović-Stanko, K., Ristić, M., Grdiša, M., Liber, Z. and Šatović, Z. (2017). Morphological and biochemical intraspecific characterization of *Ocimum basilicum* L. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 109, 611-618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.09.018</u>
- 236.Verma, R.S., Padalia, R.C., Chauhan, A. and Thul, S.T. (2013). Exploring compositional diversity in the essential oils of 34 *Ocimum* taxa from Indian flora. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 45, 7-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2012.12.005
- 237.Vidhya, E., Vijayakumar, S., Rajalakshmi, S., Kalaiselvi, S. and Pandiyan, P. (2020). Antimicrobial activity and phytochemical screening of *Ocimum americanum* L extracts against pathogenic microorganisms. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, 40(3): 214-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHNAES.2019.09.001</u>
- 238. Vieira, P.R.N., de Morais, S.M., Bezerra, F.H.Q., Travassos, P.A., Oliveira, Í.R. and Silva, M.G.V. (2014). Chemical composition and antifungal activity of essential oils from *Ocimum* species. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 55: 267-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2014.02.032
- 239.Vieira, R.F. and Simon, J.E. (2006). Chemical characterization of basil (*Ocimum* spp.) based on volatile oils. *Flav. Fragr. J.*, 21 (2): 214-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.1513</u>
- 240. Vilanova, C.M., Coelho, K. P., Silva Araújo Luz, T.R., Brandão Silveira, D.P., Coutinho, D. F. and de Moura, E.G. (2018). Effect of different water application rates and nitrogen fertilization on growth and essential oil of clove basil (*Ocimum gratissimum L.*). Ind. Crops Prod., 125:186-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.08.047
- 241.Weatherley, P.E. (1950). Studies in the water relations of the cotton plant. I. The field measurement of water deficits in leaves. *New Phytologist*, 49(1):81-97.
- 242.Weng, M., Cui, L., Liu, F., Zhang, M., Shan, L., Yang, S. and Deng, X. (2015). Effects of drought stress on antioxidant enzymes in seedlings of different wheat genotypes. *Pak. J. Bot.*, 47(1): 49–56.
- 243.Werker, E., Putievsky, E., Ravid, U., Dudai, N. and Katzir, I. (1993). Glandular hairs and essential oil in developing leaves of *Ocimum basilicum* L. (Lamiaceae). *Annals Bot.*, 71(1): 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/anbo.1993.1005</u>
- 244.Wongpraneekul, A., Havananda, T. and Luengwilai, K. (2022). Variation in aroma level of holy basil (*Ocimum tenuiflorum* L.) leaves is related to volatile composition, but not trichome characteristics. *J. Appl. Res. Medic. Aroma. Plants*, 27, 100347. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARMAP.2021.100347
- 245.World Flora Online (2023). *Ocimum* L. <u>https://wfoplantlist.org/taxon/wfo-4000026511-2023-12?page=1</u> Accessed in December 2023.
- 246.Wu, J., Wang, J., Hui, W., Zhao, F., Wang, P., Su, C. and Gong, W. (2022). Physiology of plant responses to water stress and related genes: A Review. *Forests*, 13(2):324. https://doi.org/10.3390/f13020324
- 247.Xiao, Xu, X. and Yang, F. (2008). Adaptive responses to progressive drought stress in two *Populus cathayana* Populations Xiangwen. *Silva Fennica*, 42(5): 705-719. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.224</u>

- 248.Yahyazadeh, M., Jerz, G., Winterhalter, P. and Selmar, D. (2021). The complexity of sound quantification of specialized metabolite biosynthesis: The stress related impact on the alkaloid content of *Catharanthus roseus*. *Phytochem.*, 187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2021.112774
- 249.Yahyazadeh, M., Meinen, R., Hänsch, R., Abouzeid, S. and Selmar, D. (2018). Impact of drought and salt stress on the biosynthesis of alkaloids in *Chelidonium majus* L. *Phytochem*. 152: 204-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYTOCHEM.2018.05.007</u>
- 250.Yaldiz, G. and Camlica, M. (2022). Essential oils content, composition and antioxidant activity of selected basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) genotypes. *South Afri. J. Bot.*, 151, 675-694. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SAJB.2022.10.045
- 251.Yang, X., Lu, M., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Liu, Z. and Chen, S. (2021). Response mechanism of plants to drought stress. *Horticulturae*, 7, 50. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7030050</u>
- 252.Zahran, E.M., Abdelmohsen, U.R., Khalil H.E., Desoukey, S.Y., Fouad, M.A. and Kamel, M.S. (2020). Diversity, phytochemical, and medicinal potential of the genus *Ocimum* L. (*Lamiaceae*). *Phytochem. Rev.*, 19: 907-953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-020-09690-9</u>
- 253.Zámboriné, N.É., Radácsi, P., Gosztola, B., Rajhárt, P. and Szabó, K. (2017). Influence of water supply and fluctuations on yield and quality of lemon balm (*Melissa officinalis* L.). Aust. J. Crop Sci. 11 (12), 1539–1546. <u>https://doi:10.21475/ajcs.17.11.12.pne665</u>
- 254.Zeljković, S., Komzáková, K., Šišková, J., Karalija, E., Smékalová, K. and Tarkowski, P. (2020). Phytochemical variability of selected basil genotypes. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 157: 112910. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2020.112910
- 255.Zhan, Y., An, X., Wang, S., Sun, M. and Zhou, H. (2020). Basil polysaccharides: A review on extraction, bioactivities, and pharmacological applications. *Bioorganic Med. Chem.*, 28(1): 115179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BMC.2019.115179</u>
- 256.Zheljazkov, V.D., Cantrell, C.L., Ebelhar, M.W., Rowe D.E. and Coker, C. (2008). Productivity, oil content, and oil composition of sweet basil as a function of nitrogen and sulfur fertilization. *Hortsci.*, 43(5): 1415-1422.
- 257.Złotek, U., Mikulska, S., Nagajek, M. and Świeca, M. (2016). The effect of different solvents and number of extraction steps on the polyphenol content and antioxidant capacity of basil leaves (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) extracts. *Saudi J. Biol. Sci.*, 23(5): 628-633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SJBS.2015.08.002</u>

Publication

- Radácsi, P., Inotai, K., Sárosi, S., Hári, K., Seidler-Łożykowska, K., Musie, S. and Zámboriné, É.N. (2020). Effect of irrigation on the production and volatile compounds of sweet basil cultivars (L.). *Herba Polon.*, 66:14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/hepo-2020-0021</u>.
- Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2022). Influence of drought stress on growth and essential oil yield of *Ocimum* species. *Horticulturae*, 8 (175): 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae8020175</u>
- 3. **Mulugeta, S.M.**, Radácsi, P. and Gosztola, B. (2022). Morphological and biochemical responses of selected *Ocimum* species under drought. *Herba polon.*, 68(4):1-10. https://doi.org/10.2478/hepo-2022-0019
- Mulugeta, S.M., Sárosi, S., and Radácsi, P. (2023). Physio-morphological trait and bioactive constituents of *Ocimum* species under drought stress. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, 205, 117545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INDCROP.2023.117545</u>

 Mulugeta, S.M., Pluhár, Z. and Radácsi, P. (2024). Phenotypic variations and bioactive constituents among selected *Ocimum* species. *Plants*, 13(1):64. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants13010064

Conference full paper

 Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2023). Can drought stress enhance secondary compound accumulations in *Ocimum americanum* L.? Lippay János – Ormos Imre – Vas Károly (LOV) Tudományos Ülésszak, November 16, 2023, Budapest. Proceeding, pp

Conference abstracts

- Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2021). Influence of drought stress on growth and essential oil yield of *Ocimum species*. 51st International Symposium on Essential Oils (ISEO), November 12-14, 2021 (Online). Book of Abstract, Pp.20.
- 3. **Mulugeta**, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2021). Morpho-chemical variability among selected *Ocimum species*. Lippay János Ormos Imre Vas Károly (LOV) Tudományos Ülésszak, November 29, 2021, Budapest. Book of Abstract, Pp.92.
- 4. **Mulugeta**, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2022). Does drought stress enhance secondary compound accumulation in *Ocimum species*? EOHUB students' mobility conference, April 27, 2022, Madrid.
- Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2023). Physio-morphological and biochemical changes among *Ocimum* species under drought. 6th International Symposium on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants (SIPAM-6), March 17-21, 2023, Djerba – Tunisia. Book of Abstract, Pp. 24
- 6. **Mulugeta**, S.M., Gosztola, B. and Radácsi, P. (2023). Variation in morphology and bioactive constituents among selected *Ocimum* species. Fiatal Gyógynövénykutatók Fóruma, October 6, 2023, Budapest. Book of Abstract, Pp. 12
- Mulugeta, S.M. and Radácsi, P. (2023). Can drought stress enhance secondary compound accumulations in *Ocimum americanum* L.? Lippay János – Ormos Imre – Vas Károly (LOV) Tudományos Ülésszak, November 16, 2023, Budapest. Book of Abstract, Pp..

APPENDICIES

Appendix tables Appendix table 1. The mean square and significance levels of the measured plant characteristics in open field experiments

	Source of variation						
Parameters	Species	TRT	Year	Species x	Species x	TRT x	Species x
				TRT	Year	Year	TRT x
							Year
PH	2649.57**	2692.80**	4773.83**	66.79**	862.16**	74*	27.45ns
CD	510.62	3776.10	4663.92	45.85	1139.32	49.98	69.57
	**	**	**	ns	**	ns	ns
FHY	26651.70	389472.82	875167.33*	14204.27	113403.65	32055.78	5220.64
	**	**	*	*	**	**	ns
DHY	5436.04	15023.77	12675.94	517.22	5814.81	863.75	402.05
	**	**	**	*	**	*	*
EOC	23.24**	0.60**	1.9**	0.80**	1.32**	0.38*	0.51**
EOY	5.95**	0.82**	0.31*	0.21*	0.70**	1ns	0.10ns
TPC	21205.2	1525.6	455073.9	4514.7	32059.2	91.9	2573.9
	**	ns	**	**	**	ns	*
AOC	3522.5	10525.3	111585.0	1605.1	7851.4	8577.2	`628.1
	**	**	**	ns	**	**	*

TRT: Treatment; Ns: non-significant (p>0.05); *: significant (P<0.05); **: significant (P<0.01); highly significant (P<0.001); PH: plant height; CD: Canopy diameter; FHY: Fresh herb yield; DHY: Dry herb yield, EOC: Essential oil content; EOY: Essential oil yield; TPC: Total polyphenol content; AOC: Antioxidant capacity

Appendix table 2. The mean square and significance levels of the measured physio-morpho chemical characteristics of *Ocimum* species under greenhouse condition

			Source of variation				
Traits	Species	SWC	Year	Species x	Species x	SWC x	Species x
				SWC	Year	Year	SWC x
							Year
RWC	611.8**	7498.5**	3424.7**	161.7**	369.7**	203.1**	28.6ns
SPAD	941.8**	1235.3**	130.4**	26.5ns	181.4**	42.5**	53.7**
PH	2279.9**	3484.9**	3563.9**	83.6**	686.7**	382.5**	81.5**
CD	796.3**	7206.0**	2658.4**	193.3**	228.9**	422.0**	103.1**
LA	6844.3**	1676.5**	1277.4**	236.6**	1016.3**	35.7ns	45.5*
FHY	47301.8**	398258.4*	247213.9**	3228.4**	36254.8**	6977.5**	5301.6**
		*					
DHY	2259.0**	41083.4**	8630.4**	443.3**	593.0**	3643.6**	107.8**
GHD	24272615.1	7369310.4	14605581.9	984394.7	161144.2*	1272590.4	272288.9
	**	**	**	**		**	**
EOC	77.8**	0.1ns	1.0**	0.6**	1.6**	0.4**	0.2*
EOY	5.3**	4.4**	0.6**	0.5**	0.3**	0.3**	0.3**
TPC	23775.1**	2044.6**	109881.9**	5254.4**	14717.1**	2381.9**	2266.7**
AOC	143.5ns	226.2ns	174843.3**	1234.4*	44084.1**	5554.1**	4525.9**

Ns: non-significant (p>0.05); *: significant (P<0.05); **: significant (P<0.01); RWC: Relative water content; PH: plant height; CD: Canopy diameter; LA: Leaf area, FHY: Fresh herb yield; DHY: Dry herb yield, GHD: Glandular hair density; EOC: Essential oil content; EOY: Essential oil yield; TPC: Total polyphenol content; AOC: Antioxidant capacity

	Source of variation						
Traits	Species	SWC	Year	Species x	Species x	SWC x	Species x
				SWC	Year	Year	SwC x year
WP	1.1**	1.9**	3**		0ns	2**	0.34**
WUE	14.9**	7.7**	5.1**	0.41ns	0.48ns	0.61*	1ns
RWC	146.5**	1695.5**	131**	0.12ns	28.61ns	134.39**	36.73*
SPAD	6208.3**	1798.5**	1076.4**	15.0 ns	193.2**	47.73**	8.3ns
PH	7707.75**	863.18**	45.10ns	117.21**	10.53ns	1.31ns	20.27ns
CD	867.00**	389.22**	2228.19**	66.25*	539.13**	30.53ns	24.19ns
FHY	3317.02	1840.20	84.41	4.54	1585.19*	0.13	14.50
	**	**	**	ns	*	ns	ns
DHY	74.29**	41.22**	28.33**	5.10**	37.66**	2.47**	0.49ns
GHD	555253.4*	862021.1* *	1444070.7 **	40756.0*	71570.4* *		
EOC	3.19**	1ns	20.71**	0ns	2.60**	3ns	1ns
EOY	1.19**	2*	11.24**	0ns	0.84**	4**	0ns
TPC	102392.1 **	7880.2 **	3751.3*	8651.7**	7.02ns	6783.9**	2707.2*
AOC	75754.5**	5360.9**	89453.4**	836.7ns	96.50ns	9246.1**	5789.1**

Appendix table 3. The mean square and significance levels of the measured physio-morpho chemical characteristics of *Ocimum* species under plant growth chamber

Ns: non-significant (p>0.05); *: significant (P<0.05); **: significant (P<0.01); SWC: Soil water capacity; WP: Water potential; WUE: Water use efficiency; RWC: Relative water content; PH: plant height; CD: Canopy diameter; LA: Leaf area, FHY: Fresh herb yield; DHY: Dry herb yield, GHD: Glandular hair density; EOC: Essential oil content; EOY: Essential oil yield; TPC: Total polyphenol content; AOC: Antioxidant capacity

Appendix table 4. The mean square and significance levels of the measured morpho-chemical variability among 15 *Ocimum* genotypes

		Ocimum genotypes			
	Source of variations				
Traits	Species	Years	Species x Years		
Plant height	1113.99**	529.63**	223.98**		
Canopy diameter	397.35**	184.34**	346.65**		
Leaf length	65.69**	1.45*	2.71**		
Leaf width	17.19**	0.67*	1.03**		
Leaf length: width	0.96**	0ns	0.17**		
Leaf area	832.1**	46.6ns	106.9ns		
Hundred leaf weight	18939.33**	1098.14**	496.98**		
Inflorenscence length	391.25**	238.93**	111.68**		
No. of inflorencence	39303.29**	38970.91**	14119.53**		
Thousand seed weight	1.87**	ns	ns		
Fresh herb yield	118516.12**	1024070.92**	81067.23**		
Dry herb yield	4386.07	14998.75**	3667.82**		
Eessential oil content	6.33**	2.99**	0.32**		
Essential oil yield	3.96**	3.71**	0.87**		
Total polyphenol content	10566.4**	2169.7**	1954.9**		
Antioxidant capacity	3905.8**	187273.1**	21971.2**		

Ns: non-significant at p>0.05 *: significant at p<0.05; **: significant at p<0.01

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to Dr. Péter Radácsi, my supervisor, for his unwavering support and guidance throughout my thesis work and academic journey. His friendly mentorship significantly contributed to making my study and stay in Hungary both smooth and memorable.

I also want to extend my gratitude to the members of the Department of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants, including Prof. Éva Zámbori-Németh, Prof. Zsuzsanna Pluhár, Dr. Tavaszi-Sárosi Szilvia, and Dr. Gosztola Beáta, for their valuable guidance and supervision. Special thanks go to Ruttner Klára for her technical support and guidance during the laboratory work. Additionally, I am thankful for the support of my fellow PhD students.

The realization of this study would not have been possible without the financial support provided by the Tempus Public Foundation through the Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship. I also extend my acknowledgment to Debre Markos University for granting me study leave and the staff members of the horticulture department for their encouragement and support.

I am deeply appreciative of the constant and unconditional love, encouragement, and support from my mother, Amarech Teklu, siblings, and friends, without which none of this would have been achievable. Further, I extend my deep gratitude to my fiancée, Hiwot Getachew, for her unwavering support and patience.

Finally, I express my gratitude to the omnipotent Creator for all the blessings and guidance bestowed upon me.